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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS AND FRIENDS,

We have just completed one of the most dynamic years in the history of our organization. After the disappointments
of 2001, a new page was turned in 2002, and it quickly filled with significant accomplishments. All of these were the

result of careful study, aimed at preparing Humboldt Bancorp for the future.

With the hiring of several new key executives, including a President and Chief Executive Officer, consolidating our four
affiliate banks under one common charter, moving the administrative offices to Roseville, selling or closing unprofitable
branches, and deciding to exit all non-core community banking activities, including the merchant bankcard business,
not a single initiative undertaken in 2002 could be classified as “change for the sake of change”. The changes were
focused on the basic tenet of building long-term shareholder value through consistent financial performance from our
core community banking franchise. Our company operates in the extremely competitive financial services arena,
where a view toward the future and willingness to change are prerequisites for success.

Financial Performance
Net income for 2002 reached $12.3 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, resulting in a return on average assets of
1.27% and a return on average shareholders’ equity of 17.6%. One of the key drivers in the financial results was
net interest income, which increased by 23%, to $46.7 million. Despite an interest rate environment that has not
been seen in over 40 years, active balance sheet management provided for net interest margin expansion by over
50 basis points to 5.23%.

Non-interest income for 2002 was $26.1 million, down 12% from 2001. This decrease is principally due to certain one-
time gains recognized in 2001 in connection with a merchant bankcard processing agreement and the sale of a branch
facility. Non-interest expense in 2002 was $52.6 million, an increase of 4% over 2001. Holding non-interest expense
growth to mid-single digits was a key factor in the improvement of our efficiency ratio by 155 basis points in 2002.

As expected, the final wind-down of Bancorp Financial Services was completed in June, resuiting in an additional
loss on discontinued operations of $276,000 in connection with the disposition of these assets. No further losses are
expected. We also completed the exit from the ATM funding business and are continuing to pursue recovery of the
balance of funds stolen in December 2001 through various insurance policies.

Asset Growth and Quality

We are especially proud of our asset quality, which remained very high throughout 2002. Non-performing assets at
the end of the year totaled $3.7 million, or 0.36% of total assets, compared to $4.6 million, or 0.49% of total assets
at year-end 2001. Net charge-offs for 2002 were $1.5 million, or 0.21% of average loans. The ratio of allowance
for loan losses to total loans was 1.53% at December 31, 2002, an increase of six basis points over the prior
year. Although our excellent credit quality metrics are a reflection of our underwriting discipline and the continued
economic strength in our market area, we maintained conservatism in providing for additional reserve coverage given
the general level of uncertainty about the real estate market in California.

Overall loan growth was very strong in 2002, with total l6ans growing 14% to $761 million. This growth was primarily
due to continued strong economic conditions in our general market areas, especially in the commercial arena. Total
deposits increased by 4% from the end of 2001.

Capital Management ‘

We continued to actively manage capital in 2002, one of the key reasons our return on average shareholders’
equity was nearly 18%. In February, a stock repurchase program was initiated that, as of year-end, resulited in the
repurchase of 434,000 shares at an average cost of $9.88, We expect to continue to repurchase shares from time
to time as conditions permit. In June, the first quarterly cash dividend was initiated. Although current payout level
is modest, improved future profitability will hopefully permit future dividend growth. Of course, the payment of
cash dividends is subject to certain regulatory restrictions that are described more fully in the Annual Report on




Form 10-K. Our leverage ratio, which is a key measure of capital adequacy, stood at 8.76% at year-end. This is
substantially above the regulatory requirements for an institution to be classified as “well capitalized”.

Sale of Merchant Bankcard

The decision to exit the merchant bankcard business, which was announced in July, was made after a comprehensive
strategic review. This review concluded that, although merchant bankcard provided a significant bottom-line
contribution, its national-scale business risk profile was inconsistent with community banking. The financial
contribution from merchant bankcard also “masked” the underperformance of our community bank.

In March 2003, we completed the sale of our proprietary merchant bankcard business to an affiliate of First National
Bank of Nevada for $32 million in cash. We plan to use the net proceeds from this sale for the repurchase of shares
or, if opportunity permits, to provide capital to expand our community bank franchise through acquisitions. Key
initiatives to replace the lost revenue have been developed and are in the process of implementation.

Moving Forward

Noteworthy highlights include the establishment of Bancorp Mortgage, a division of Humboldt Bank that will handle
all residential lending activities. We believe that residential lending is a key part of community banking and that
there is tremendous opportunity for growth in our current markets, which include some of the highest growth areas
in the state. With a newly-defined brand identity, strong management, qualified staff, and cutting-edge technology,
we expect to make significant strides in growing both loan production and revenue. Please see related Bancorp
Mortgage article on page 7.

During 2002, significant steps were taken to complete the process of refocusing our retail branch network within a
defined footprint that encompasses all of Northern California, exclusive of the Bay Area. We closed four branches and
sold two, resulting in annual expense savings of over $500,000. A plan was developed to identify areas for future
expansion, and the high-growth cities of Roseville, Chico, and Redding were targeted as locations for new branches
within the next 18 months. More information on our Retail Banking division can be found on page 9.

In late 2002, we completed the process of selecting a new core computer system able to carry our company well into

the future. The final selection was a system provided by ITI and Unisys, considered among the most popular and
reliable systems used by community banks throughout the country. During the first six months of 2003, our staff is
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effectively on double-duty - preparing for conversion to a new system, slated for completion in June, while continuing
to serve customer needs on a daily basis. Despite the arduous process that accompanies any conversion, the entire
staff is excited about this change, as it provides us with cutting-edge technology to ensure that all customer banking
needs are met quickly and consistently.

A Tribute

In April 2002, Theodore S. Mason retired as President and Chief Executive Officer, culminating a banking career that
spanned over four decades. Ted's vision and leadership were key to enabling Humboldt Bancorp to accomplish what
few de novo banks ever do - become a $1 billion organization. On behalf of all shareholders, we offer our sincere
appreciation to Ted.

Recognition should also be given to Humboldt's employees, who continue to accept and adapt to our ever-changing
environment, while maintaining their commitment to deliver “top-drawer” customer service, a reputation upon which
we plan to continue to build our franchise.

In closing, we at Humboldt Bancorp begin 2003 poised for future success. With a renewed focus on community
banking and operating efficiency, we look forward with confidence to achieving our strategic objectives. Outstanding
service, throughout our entire franchise, coupled with innovative methods of delivery and presence in high growth
markets, will'ensure our connection to the customer and enable us to continue building value for our shareholders.
We sincerely thank you for your support and invite you to join us for a very exciting ride - in our communities.

(- , %Lw.)é/

Robert M. Daugherty John W. Koeberer
President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman of the Board

March 7, 2003
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The wind chill factor is 15 below zero in Valdez, Alaska. In 34-degree water, the “Fighting Otters” Coast Guard team
is tasked with protecting the Valdez Marine Terminal from terrorist attack. Paramount to accomplishing their mission
in these extreme conditions is the right gear. The Kokatat drysuit is the primary lifesaving layer for the men and

women who courageously protect our country, and Humboldt Bank is proud to be a part of their effort.

For 10 years and counting, Kokatat has relied on Humboldt Bank to support its admirable endeavors. A 31-year old
organization established in the small Northern California coastal town of Arcata, Kokatat is the one of the world’s
leaders in water sports clothing. Selling to dealers throughout the United States, as well as Canada, Japan, Hong

Kong, and Europe, Kokatat also has contracts with the U.S. Coast Guard, U.S. Navy, Navy Seals, and U.S. Marines.

Kokatat owners Steve O'Meara and Kit Mann moved all of their company’s accounts to Humboldt Bank as soon as they
experienced the Bank’s unwavering support for their business and the local community. “Commercial Loan Officers
John Field and Martha Traphagen are more like our business partners than bankers,” states O’'Meara. “Throughout
our company's rapid expansion, John, Martha, and Humboldt Bank have been there for us, taking risks and believing

in us every step of the way.”

Whether for a $10,000 line of credit to purchase inventory or a $1 million Small Business Administration (SBA)
foan for commercial real estate, Humboldt Bank and its divisions offer a unique, personalized approach to helping
businesses succeed, improving the local economy in the process. Now ranked in the top 12 in California and top 50
in the nation, Humboldt Bank’'s Government Guaranteed Loan Department continues to increase its funding support

to businesses, keeping pace with their growing needs.

Commercial bankers work closely with branch personnel to ensure each and every commercial customer receives
service that consistently exceeds expectations. “It’s all about developing relationships,” says Mark Francis, Executive
Vice President/Commercial Banking. “We’d be just like every other bank if we treated customers as numbers.
Instead, we become a business owner’s personal banker, striving to make running their business easier.” In addition
to banking relationships, commercial bankers work with their customers side by side on worthwhile community
projects including Rotary, Kiwanis, and Big Brothers Big Sisters. “Our employees make a tremendous impact in the

cammunities we serve,” states Francis.

So while the men and women of the Coast Guard brave the freezing waters in their Kokatat drysuits thousands of
miles away, they can be assured that John Field, Martha Traphagen, Steve O'Meara, and Kit Mann will continue to
have a common goal: to work together to improve their quality of life. Because at Humboldt Bank, it's all about

building relationships.

commercial banking
IN OUR COMMUNITIES
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Judy Fraga was devastated. Her landlord in tiny Los Molinos, California had notified her that the wonderful home she
had grown to love would soon be sold. If she couldn’t find a sclution to help her buy the house herself, she would
have to uproot her bevy of animals, including several horses, and search for a place that would accommodate her

uncenventional “family”,

When Judy approached Bancorp Mortgage Loan Officer Pamela Del Monte, Pamela quickly assessed Judy’s situation
and identified her strengths, including the ability to consolidate some of her debts and contribute a sizable

downpayment. Working together, they developed a plan to finance the purchase of Judy’s home.

As a deposit customer of Tehama Bank, a division of Humboldt Bank, for 10 years, Judy knew she could rely on
Pamela and Bancorp Mortgage to take a unique approach to her unique situation. “Our loan officers are experienced,
professional, and dedicated to providing a level of service that is simply extraordi_nary," states David Shotwell, Senior
Vice President/Bancorp Mortgage. “As a community bank division, our focus, now more than ever, is on reviewing
each individual loan request as just that-individual. We are committed to searching for and discovering solutions to

problems that will help people purchase or build the house of their dreams.”

According to Shotwell, a renewed focus on construction financing will highlight 2003 for his newly re-organized division.
In addition, the company offers a comprehensive array of mortgage programs to meet its customers’ diverse needs,
inciuding lot loans, refinance, and first-time homebuyer loans. With a recent significant investment in technology, all
loan officers are equipped with state-of-the-art laptop computers, enabling them to accept applications, obtain quick
approvals, and initiate delivery of automated documents from wherever their customer may be. The end result is

very personalized service, convenience for the customer, and lower costs for the Bank.

“The future looks very bright for Bancorp Mortgage,” adds Shotwell. “We have been accustomed to ranking as the
leading mortgage lender in the Humboldt region for many years. Now, with a full staff of loan officers throughout
all of our market areas and a highly efficient processing team, we are positioned to significantly increase production

volume, even if market rates increase.”

And how does Judy Fraga’s future appear? She became a homeowner in the very same home she already adored,
started a new job with an established local doctor’s office, and recently ceiebrated the birth of two babies (horses)
to add to her brood. According to Judy, with the help of Pamela Del Monte and Bancorp Mortgage, her future looks

very positive indeed.

bancorp mortgage
IN OUR COMMUNITIES
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What makes for good neighbors? Geographic proximity is a must. Having common concerns doesn’t hurt. And

perhaps most important is the ability to share a great cup of coffee.

When mom-of-five Barbara On dreamed of opening a new coffeehouse in Paradise, California, she came back to her
good friend down the street, Tehama Bank’s Chico Branch Manager Jolene Francis. Barbara and Jolene had shared
numerous cups of coffee since Barbara and her husband Q.Jay became customers in 1997. So when the Ons needed
a loan to purchase land and get their new business off the ground, they looked no further than their bank. With
the holidays fast approaching, the Ons were anxious for their loan to go through so they could be ready to serve
the tired, busy shoppers on their way home. With the quick approval and streamlined process of a Small Business

Administration (SBA) loan, “"Coffee’s On!” was just that - to rave reviews.

As a Certified Physicians Assistant with North Valley Dermatology in Chico, O.Jay initially brought his business deposit
and loan accounts to Tehama Bank because he had heard about the Bank’s community focus and personalized
approach to service. Soon after, he brought all of his personal accounts as well. And what did a growing family
with five kids need most? A very BIG house! So, once again, the Ons traveled the few blocks to their neighbors at
Tehama Bank for a mortgage loan to buy the family home they had dreamed of for years. Ask Amber (16), Steve
(14), Danielle (13), Michael (10), and Mikayla (4) what they think of the Bank, and their response is a simple, vet

meaningful, “They have nice people there!”

Within all of our divisions, having “nice” people doing “nice” things for their neighbors is exactly what we strive to do.
According to Gene Bell, Executive Vice President/Retail Banking, “our single most important focus is on remaining close
to our customers and helping them fulfill their financial goals. The secret ingredient is simple: rather than defining

what customers need, it’s identifying individual needs and meeting them in the most friendly, efficient way possible.”

In 2003, obtaining and retaining strong, stable core deposits is more important than ever. Bell adds, "Throughout
our branches, there exists a very strong commitment to serve. As a result, we hear positive feedback time and time
again: ‘there just isn’t another bank around that treats me the way I expect to be treated - or better. They know me

by name, [ don't wait in line, and they take the time to get to know my needs and how best to fill them"”

So on a daily basis, we'll continue to fulfill a mom’s long-anticipated dream of opening her own coffeehouse or make
the loan that ensures a large family has a safe place to lay their heads (all seven of them!). It just makes good sense

for the neighborhood.

retail banking
IN OUR COMMUNITIES




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors
Humboldt Bancorp:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the consolidated balance sheets of Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for the two years ended December 31, 2002 (not presented herein); and in our report dated January
24, 2003, except for note 25, which is as of March 13, 2003, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December
31, 2000, and for the year then ended, prior to their restatement for the 2001 pooling-of-interests transaction
described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report
dated January 12, 2001, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. Separate financial
statements of Tehama Bancorp, as of December 31, 2000 and for the year then ended, also included in the
2000 restated consolidated financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report dated January

26, 2001, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in

relation to the consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived.

KPMe LIP

Sacramento, California

January 24, 2003
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Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2001, and 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2001 2002
ASSETS
Cash and due from banks $54,567 $35,156
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks 920 202
Investiment securities available-for-sale 172,473 181,471
Loans 664,332 760,648
Less: allowance for loan losses 9,765 11,614
Net loans 654,567 749,034
Premises and equipment, net 19,270 16,593
Net assets of discontinued operations 6,669 -
Accrued interest receivable and other assets 50,451 49,094
Total Assets $958,917 $1,031,550
LIABILITIES
Deposits
Non-interest-bearing $213,092 $227,406
Interest-bearing 593,994 613,021
Total deposits 807,086 840,427
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 21,539 23,268
Borrowed funds 45,560 69,857
Guaranteed Preferred Beneficial Interests in Company’s Junior
Subordinated Debentures (Trust Preferred Securities) 20,150 20,150
Total Liabilities 894,335 953,702
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, no par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
and outstanding in 2001 and 2002 - -
Common stock, no par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 12,552,955 shares
in 2001 and 12,604,157 shares in 2002 issued and outstanding 67,459 66,345
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (3,265) 8,103
Accumulated other comprehensive income 388 3,400
Total Stockholders’ Equity 64,582 77,848
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $958,917 $1,031,550

Refer to Humboldt Bancorp's Report on Form 10-K for
a complete set of Consolidated Financial Statements
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Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2000 2001 2002
Interest Income
Interest and fees on loans $48,562 $55,971 $56,010
Interest and dividends on investment securities
Taxable 7,440 6,989 6,652
Exempt from Federal income tax 1,557 1,571 1,425
Dividends 224 136 219
Interest on federal funds soid 1,684 1,468 -
Interest on deposits in other banks 49 30 39
Total Interest Income 59,516 66,165 64,345
Interest Expense
Interest on deposits 23,154 25,203 13,632
Interest on borrowed funds 1,728 3,138 4,005
Total Interest Expense 24,882 28,341 17,637
Net interest income 34,634 37,824 46,708
Provision for ican losses 2,535 2,903 3,321
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 32,099 34,921 43,387
Other Income
Fees and other income 19,054 24,731 20,058
Service charges on deposit accounts 3,236 3,521 3,030
Net gain on sale of loans 691 1,269 2,172
Net investment securities (loss) gain (117) 206 887
Total Other Income 22,864 29,727 26,147
Other Expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 21,662 25,612 25,247
Net occupancy and equipment expense 5,039 5,875 6,492
Merger related expenses - 3,531 -
Other expenses 14,782 18,856 20,819
Total Other Expenses 41,483 53,874 52,558
Income Before Income Taxes 13,480 10,774 16,976
Provision for income taxes 4,453 3,789 4,437
Net income continuing operations 9,027 6,985 12,539
Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (7) - -
Loss on wind down of discontinued operations, net of tax - (13,994) (276)
Net income (loss) $9,020 ($7,009) $12,263
Earning (Loss) Per Share - Basic
Continuing Operations $0.75 $0.56 $1.00
Discontinued Operations $0.00 ($1.12) ($0.02)
Net Income (loss) $0.75 ($0.56) $0.98
Earning (Loss) Per Share - Diluted
Continuing Operations $0.71 $0.54 $0.96
Discontinued Operations $0.00 ($1.08) ($0.02)
Net Income (loss) $0.71 ($0.54) $0.94

Refer to Humboldt Bancorp's Report on Form 10-K for
a complete set of Consolidated Financial Statements
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Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002

(dollars in thousands)

2000 2001 2002
Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $9,020 $(7,009) $12,263
Adjustments to recancile net income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Discontinued operations 7 13,994 276

Provision for loan losses 2,535 2,903 3,321

Depreciation and Amortization 2,642 4,087 5,456

Loss (gain) on sale of investments 117 (206) (887)

(Gain) on sale of foreclosed real estate (17) - -

Decrease in loans held for sale 1,822 373 -

Increase in interest receivable and other assets (10,810) (13.382) (210)

Increase in interest payable and other liabilities 2,368 5,785 2,762
Net cash provided by operating activities 7,684 6,545 22,981
Investing Activities
Net (increase) decrease in interest-bearing deposits with banks (151) (749) 718
Net decrease in federal funds sold 14,875 13,000 -
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investment securities available-for-sale 38,247 63,645 106,173
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities held-to-maturity 1,617 14,707 -
Purchases of investment securities available-for-sale (18,771) (111,318) (112,325)
Purchases of investment securities held-to-maturity (4,776) (465) -
Net increase in loans (105,287) (82,701) (95,616)
Purchases of premises and equipment (8,367) (3,999) (1,804)
Investing activities related to discontinued operations (2,000) (13,145) 3,795
Purchase of other real estate (15) - -
Proceeds from the sale of foreclosed real estate and other assets 1,051 995 2,071
Net cash paid in acquisition of subsidiary (10,923) - .
Net cash used by investing activities (94,500) (120,030) (96,988)
Financing Activities
Net increase in deposits 47,730 94,279 33,341
Net increase (decrease) in borrowed funds 37,115 (1,790) 24,297
Cash dividends on common stock - - (886)
Repurchase of common stock - - (4,289)
Proceeds from issuance of Trust Preferred Securities 5,150 15,000 -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 8,459 665 -
Dissenters payments - (220)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options - - 2,142
Fractional shares purchased (7) (9) (9)
Net cash provided by financing activities 98,447 107,825 54,596
Net increase (decrease) in cash due from banks 11,631 (5,560) (19,411)
Cash and due from banks at beginning of year 48,496 60,127 54,567

Cash and due from banks at end of year $60,127 $54,567 $35,156
Supplementai Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash and due from banks at beginning of year

Interest expense $24,470 $28,596 $17,679

Income taxes 7,586 4,541 2,500
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Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002

Comprehensive Common Stock Retained Accumulated Other
(dollars in thousands) Income Shares Amount Earnings  Comprehensive Income Amount
Balance, December 31, 1999 8,706,524 $43,818 $9,532 $(1,207) $52,143
10%. stock dividend 472,879 6,018 (6,018) -
Fractional shares purchased (7) (7)
Sale of stock, net of issuance costs 640,000 7,309 7,309
Directors fee, stock options
exercised and reiated tax benefit 115,934 582 582
Stock issuance in connection with acquisition 46,974 568 (55) 513
Comprehensive income:
Net income 9,020 9,020 . 9,026
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Unrealized holding gains on securities
available-for-sale arising during the
year, net of taxes of $1,491 and
reclassification adjustments 2,279 2,279 2,279
Tota! Comprehensive income $11,299
Bzlance, December 31, 2000 9,532,311 $58,295 $12,472 $1,072 $71,839
10% stock dividend . 938,374 8,719 (8,719)
Dissenters Payments (18,133) (220) (220)
Fractional shares purchased (9) (9)
Restricted stock awards 1,385 13 13
Directors fee, stock options exercised
and related tax benefit 186,859 652 652
Comprehensive income:
Net (loss) (7,009) (7,009) (7,009)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Unrealized holding (loss) on
securities available-for-sale arising
during the year net of taxes of $36%9
and reclassifications adjustments (684) (684) (684)
Total Comprehensive (loss) $(7,693)
Balance, December 31, 2001 10,460,796 $67,459 $(3,265) $388 $64,582
6 for 5 Stock Split 2,092,159
Fractional shares purchased (9) (2)
Shares Repurchased (434,160) (4,289) ' (4,289)
Shares issued in connection with various employee
and director plans including tax benefits 485,362 3,175 3,175
Cash Dividend Declared (888) (886)
Comprehensive income:
Net income 12,263 12,263 12,263
Cther comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Unrealized holding gain on securities
available-for-sale arising during the
year net of taxes of $1108 and
reclassifications adjustments 3,012 3,012 3,012
Tota! Comprehensive income $15,275
Balance, December 31, 2002 12,604,157 $66,345. $8,103. $3,400 $77,848

Refer to Humboldt Bancorp's Report on Form 10-K for
a complete set of Consclidated Financial Statements
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Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries

ANNUAL FINANCIAL TRENDS

5-Year Compound

(In thousands, except per share data) 1988 1999 2000 2001 2002 Growth Rate
Interest income $37,354 $39,251 $59,516 $66,165 $64,345 14.5%
Interest expense 13,357 13,455 24,882 28,341 17,637 7.6%
Net interest income 23,997 25,796 34,634 37,824 46,708 18.0%
Provision for loan losses 3,237 2,371 2,535 2,903 3,321 6.0%
Non-interest income 14,713 18,661 22,864 29,727 26,147 20.6%
Non-interest expense 26,640 34,007 41,483 50,343 52,558 19.6%
Merger-related expense - - - 3,531 - nm
Income before income taxes 8,833 8,079 13,480 10,774 16,976 20.3%
Income taxes 3,369 2,753 4,453 3,789 4,437 14.8%
Net income from continuing operations 5,464 5,326 9,027 6,985 12,539 22.7%
Income (loss) on discontinuted operations, net of tax 561 894 (7) (13,994) (276) nm
Net income (loss) $6,025 $6,220 $9,020 $(7,009) $12,263 21.9%
Year End

Assets $519,757 $635,770 $852,900 $958,917 $1,031,550 17.8%
Earning assets 454,747 548,919 738,466 842,514 942,321 18.5%
Loans, net of allowance for losses 305,048 368,148 575,142 654,567 749,034 22.1%
Deposits 464,208 567,097 712,807 807,086 840,427 15.6%
Stockholders' equity $45,559 $52,143 $71,839 $64,582 $77,848 $14.6%
Shares outstanding 10,209 10,661 12,346 12,530 12,604 4.9%
Average .

Assets $487,060 $565,228 $768,229 $916,067 $983,510 18.9%
Earning assets 435,483 495,498 672,737 801,462 893,263 19.0%
Loans 296,384 331,551 503,877 616,159 711,842 22.2%
Deposits 401,961 507,894 673,012 778,220 805,958 16.8%
Stockholders' equity 42,308 48,150 62,551 68,040 71,081 14.1%
Basic shares outstanding 10,725 11,049 12,037 12,464 12,503 3.7%
Diluted shares outstanding 11,520 11,736 12,689 12,996 13,049 2.8%
Per Share Data

Basic earnings $0.56 $0.56 $0.75 $(0.56) $0.98 17.6%
Diluted earnings 0.52 0.53 0.71 (0.54) 0.94 18.6%
Basic earnings - continuing operations 0.51 0.48 0.75 0.56 1.00 18.3%
Diluted earnings - continuing operations 047 0.45 0.71 0.54 0.96 19.3%
Book value 4.46 4.89 5.82 5.15 6.18 9.2%
Cash dividend $ - $ - $ - $ - $.07 nm
Performance Ratios

Return on average assets* 1.12% 0.94% 1,18% 1.06% 1.27%

Return on average shareholders' equity* 12.91% 11.06% 14.43% 14.33% 17.64%

Average equity to average assets 8.69% 8.52% 8.14% 7.43% 7.23%

Efficiency ratio* 68.87% 76.11% 72.00% 73.11% 71.56%

Leverage ratio 8.58% 8.02% 8.83% 8.38% 8.73%

Net interest margin 5.51% 5.21% 5.15% 4.71% 5.23%

Non-interest revenue to total revenue 38.01% 41.98% 39.76% 44.01% 35.89%

Asset Quality

Non-performing assets $1,708 $2,573 $4,657 $4,641 $3,703

Allowance for loan losses $5,136 $5,502 $8,367 $9,765 $11,614

Net charge-offs $2,177 $2,005 $1,670 $1,505 $1,472

Non-performing assets to total assets 0.33% 0.40% 0.55% 0.49% 0.36%

Allowance for joan losses to loans 1.66% 1.47% 1.43% 1.47% 1.53%

Net charge-offs to average loans 0.73% 0.60% 0.25% 0.24% 0.21%

* Excludes the impact of discontinued operations and merger-related charges.

Refer to Humboldt Bancorp's Report on Form 10-K for a complete set of
Consolidated Financial Statements

nm - not meaningful
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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements, which are made
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Act of 1995. Statements that
expressly or implicitly predict furure results, performance or events are forward-looking. In addition, the words
“expect,” “believe,” “‘anticipate” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expected. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not
limited to, the following:

« The ability to attract new deposits and loans

» Competitive pricing factors

* Deterioration in economic factors that result in increased loan losses

o Market interest rate fluctuations

 Operational difficulties related to execution of Humboldt’s strategic plan
s Changes in the legal or regulatory requirements

« New technological developments

o The ability to recruit and retain top-level management and staff

Readers are advised not 1o place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained in this
report, which speak only as of the date hereof. Humboldt Bancorp undertakes no obligation to revise any
Sforward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

Item 1. Business

We file our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly report on Form 10-Q, current report on Form 8-K,
proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may obtain these
filings from the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov. You may also obtain, free of charge, copies of our
annual report, quarterly reports, current reports, and amendments to these reports, through our website at
http:/ /www.humboldtbancorp.com. These reports are available through our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC. In addition, all of our SEC filings since
November 14, 2002 were made available on our website within two days of filing with the SEC.

General

Humboldt Bancorp (“Humboldt”) is a California corporation incorporated in January 1995. Humboldt is
registered as a bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended. As of
December 31, 2002, Humboldt had total assets of $1.0 billion, total net loans of $749 million, total deposits of
$840 million and total shareholders’ equity of $78 million. For the year ended December 31, 2002, Humboldt
reported net income of $12.3 million, or $0.94 per diluted share. Humboldt’s principal operating subsidiary is
Humboldt Bank (“Bank’), which was founded in 1989 and operates under a charter issued by the State of
California. During 2002, Humboldt merged its subsidiaries, Tehama Bank, Capitol Valley Bank and Capitol
Thrift & Loan, into the Bank.

Bancorp Financial Services, Inc. (“BFS”) is a subsidiary of Humboldt that was founded jointly by
Humboldt and Tehama Bancorp in 1996. Upon the completion of the merger with Tehama Bancorp in March
2001, BFS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Humboldt. BFS was classified as a discontinued operation
during 2001 and the final wind-down of its operations was completed during the second quarter of 2002.
Additional information regarding BFS is contained under the heading “Bancorp Financial Services —
Discontinued Operations” later in this Report.

Humboldt also has three subsidiaries formed for the sole purposed of issuing Trust Preferred Securities.
Further information regarding Trust Preferred Securities is included in Note 10 to the Financial Statements.
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Humboldt Bank has one subsidiary, HB Investment Trust, which was formed in December 2001 as a
Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) organized under the laws of the State of Maryland. Humboldt Bank
owns all of the outstanding common stock of HB Investment Trust and is the sole contributor of real estate
assets. HB Investment Trust is included in the consolidated financial statements.

All of Humboldt’s subsidiaries are listed in Exhibit 21 of this Report.

Recent Developments

On March 13, 2003, the Bank completed the sale of its proprietary merchant bankcard operations to an
affiliate of First National Bank Holding Company (“FNB”) for $32 million in cash. Humboldt expects to
recognize an after-tax gain of approximately $18 million in connection with this sale during the first quarter of
2003. Under the terms of the agreement, FNB has entered into a five-year lease for approximately 18,000
square feet of office space in a building owned by the Bank. In addition, the Bank will continue to provide
FNB with sponsorship to VISA and Mastercard for a period of up to six months after closing, with FNB
providing full indemnification for any losses incurred. At the point FNB no longer requires sponsorship by the
Bank, approximately $12 million of deposits associated with merchant loss reserves will be transferred to a
financial institution selected by FNB.

On January 2, 2003, the Bank completed the sale of the deposits, assets and certain other liabilities of its
branches in Lancaster and Riverside, California to Silvergate Bank. There was no premium received on the
deposits sold and no material gain or loss was recorded in connection with the transfer of the other assets and
liabilities. '

Mergers & Acquisitions

On March 9, 2001, Humboldt acquired, for approximately 4.4 million shares of common stock and
$220,000 in cash, all of the outstanding common stock of Tehama Bancorp (“Tehama™), a one-bank holding
company, based in Red Bluff, California. Each share of Tehama common stock was converted into and
exchanged for 1.775 shares of Humboldt common stock. The cash consideration represented payment to
Tehama shareholders who exercised their dissenters’ rights. This merger was accounted for as a pooling of
interests and, accordingly, all financial information contained in this Report is has been restated to reflect the
combination of Humboldt and Tehama for all periods presented.

On April 7, 2000, Humboldt acquired Capitol Thrift & Loan for approximately $11.9 million in cash and
a contingent obligation agreement totaling $4.6 million due January 30, 2002. Under the terms of the
agreement, the repayment of principal was contingent upon performance of the Capitol Thrift & Loan loan
portfolio. The contingent liability holders were paid $4.6 million in cash in full satisfaction of the contingency
lability on January 30, 2002. This final payment resulted in the elimination of negative goodwill in the amount
of approximately $1.2 million and the creation of a goodwill asset in the amount of $3.4 million.

Market Area and Competition

The market for banking and bank-related services is highly competitive. The Bank actively competes in
its various market areas, which are principally in non-metropolitan areas of Northern California, with other
providers of deposit and credit services. These competitors include other commercial banks, savings banks,
savings and loan associations, credit unions, mortgage companies, and brokerage firms. The following table
displays the market share percentage and rank for total deposits in each county where the Bank has operations.
The table also indicates the ranking by deposit size in each of the local markets. All information in the table
was obtained from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) Summary of Deposits as of June 30,




2002 (the most recent available information). Markets where the Bank has ceased operations since June 30,
2002 are not shown.

County Market Share Market Rank
Butte ............... e 1.9% 10
Fresno .. .. 0.2% 21
Glenn. ... 20.0% 3
Humboldt .. ... ... . . 35.1% 1
Mendocino ........... ... .. e 3.0% 8
Napa . e 0.8% 14
Placer ... . e 1.7% 13
Shasta .. ... e 2.2%

Tehama .............. ..., P 1 22.0% 2
TNty .o e 23.8% 2

In California, major banks and large regional banks generally dominate the commercial banking industry.
By virtue of their larger capital bases, such institutions have substantially greater lending limits than those of
Humboldt, as well as more locations, more products and services, greater economies of scale and greater
ability to make investments in technology for the delivery of financial services.

Lending and Credit Functions

The Bank makes both secured and unsecured loans to individuals, firms, and corporations. Secured loans
include first and second real estate mortgage loans. The Bank also makes direct installment loans to consumers
on both a secured and unsecured basis. At December 31, 2002, consumer, real estate construction, real estate
mortgage, and commercial & industrial loans represented approximately 10%, 17%, 57%, and 16% respec-
tively, of the total loan portfolio. Specific risk elements associated with each of the lending categories include,
but are not limited to:

Commercial & Industrial — Industry concentrations; inability to monitor the condition of collateral
(inventory, accounts receivable and vehicles); lack of borrower management expertise, increased
competition; use of specialized or obsolete equipment as collateral; insufficient cash flow from operations
to service debt payment.

Real estate-construction — Inadequate collateral and long-term financing agreements.

Real estate morigage — Changes in local economy affecting borrower’s employment; insufficient
collateral value due to decline in property value.

Consumer — Loss of borrower’s employment; changes in local economy; the inability to monitor
collateral (vehicles, boats, and mobile homes).

Inter-agency guidelines adopted by federal bank regulators mandate that financial institutions establish
real estate lending policies with maximum allowable real estate loan-to-value limits, subject to an allowable
amount of non-conforming loans as a percentage of capital. The Bank has adopted the federal guidelines as
the maximum allowable limits; however, policy exceptions are permitted for real estate loan customers with
strong financial credentials.

Credit Policy

The current lending policy of the Bank is to make loans primarily to persons who reside, work, or own
property in their primary market areas. Unsecured loans are generally made only to persons who maintain
depository relationships with the Bank. Secured loans are made to persons who are well established and have
net worth, collateral, and cash flow to support the loan. Exceptions to the policy are permitted on a case-by-
case basis and require the approving officer to document in writing the reason for the exception. Policy

3




exceptions made for borrowers whose total aggregate loans exceed the approving officer’s credit limit must be
submitted to the Chief Credit Officer or the Bank Board of Directors for approval, depending upon the size of -
the loan. The Bank provides each lending officer with written guidelines for lending activities. Lending
authority is delegated by the Board of Directors of the Bank to Chief Credit Officer and other loan officers,
each of whom is limited in the amount of secured and unsecured loans which he or she can make to a single
borrower or related group of borrowers. Loans in excess of individual officer credit authority must either be
approved by a senior officer with sufficient approval authority or be approved by the Loan Committee of the
Bank’s Board of Directors.

Loan Review and Allowance for Loan Loss Methodology

The Credit Administration Department of the Bank reviews, or engages an independent third party to
review, the Bank’s loan portfolio on a periodic basis to determine any weaknesses in the portfolio and to assess
the general quality of credit underwriting. The results of the reviews are presented to the Chief Credit Officer
and the Audit Committee. If an individual loan or credit relationship has a weakness identified during the
review process, the risk rating of the loan, or all loans comprising a credit relationship, will be downgraded to a
classification that most closely matches the current risk level. The review process also provides for the upgrade
of loans that show improvement since the last review. Since each loan in a credit relationship may have a
different credit structure, collateral, and other secondary source of repayment, different loans in a relationship
can be assigned different risk ratings.

During 2002, the Bank’s risk rating system was expanded from § grades to 9 grades in order to provide for
a more efficient detection of deterioration in borrower financial condition. Grades 1 through 5 are considered
“pass,” or very acceptable credit quality that does not require special monitoring. Grades 6 through 9 are
indicative of higher risk loans that require a greater level of management’s attention. The entire 9-grade rating
scale provides for a higher numeric rating for increased risk. For example, a risk rating of 1 is the least risky of
all credits and would be typical of a loan that is 100% secured by a deposit account(s) at the Bank. The four
credit ratings that require special management attention are:

6 (Special Mention) — A loan that exhibits potential credit weaknesses or adverse trends in
borrower financial condition that requires additional close monitoring by management. Operational cash
flow insufficient to service the debt and collateral values with narrow, but sufficient, liquidation margins.

7 (Substandard) — A loan that is inadequately protected by borrower net worth, cash flow capacity
or collateral value. Substandard loans typically have one or more well-defined weaknesses.

8 (Doubtful) — A specific. weaknesses characterized by Substandard where there is no strong
secondary source of repayment and collection or liquidation in full is unlikely. Insufficient information -
exists to determine the amount of potential loss.

9 (Loss) — Same characteristics as Doubtful; however, probability of either partial or full loss is
certain and can be reasonably estimated. Loans classified as such are generally recommended for charge-
off immediately even though there is some potential for future recovery.

The Bank performs a quarterly analysis to determine the adequacy of the Allowance for Loan Losses
(“ALL”). The ALL analysis segregates the loan portfolio into 19 different categories based on type of loan.
These categories include commercial construction, agricultural, government guaranteed, commercial real
estate and consumer loans. First, all loans in each category are assigned a reserve factor of between 0% and
4.0% based on the inherent risk level of the category and the Bank’s loss experience. Next, Ioans graded 8 or
higher in each category are assigned reserve factors based on the inherent risk level of the category and the
Bank’s loan loss experience:

Loan Grade Range of Reserve Factors
7 11% to 15%
8 44% to 49%

O 96% to 100%




All loans graded 5 or 6 are assigned an additional reserve factor of 0.125% and loans past due 30 days or
more are assigned an additional reserve factor of 0.25%. The aggregation of each of the components above
provides for the analytical required reserve for each category. Combining the results of the analytical required
reserve calculation for all 19 loan categories provides the total required ALL.

" Humboldt’s ALL methodology provides for the establishment of specific reserves, based upon the present
value of future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective rate, the loan’s observable market price, or the fair
value of collateral if the loan is collateral dependent.

There is no current process used to measure or adjust for differences between the loss factors for
adversely classified loans used in the ALL analysis and actual losses charged to the ALL. The difference
between the actual ALL (as presented in the consolidated financial statements) and the allocated ALL
represents the unallocated ALL. The unallocated ALL provides for coverage of credit losses inherent in the
loan portfolio but not provided for in the ALL analysis. The unallocated ALL as of December 31, 2002 was
approximately $1.2 million, or 11% of the total ALL.

The ALL represents Humboldt’s estimate of the probable losses that have occurred as of the date of the
financial statements, as further described in Note 1 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
Management believes that the ALL was adequate as of December 31, 2002. There is, however, no assurance
that future loan losses will not exceed the levels provided for in the ALL which could result in additional
charges to the provision for loan losses. In addition, bank regulatory authorities, as part of their periodic
examination of the Bank, may require additional charges to the provision for loan losses in future periods if the
results of their review warrant.

The Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 102 “Selected Loan Loss
Altowance Methodology and Documentation Issues” (“SAB No. 102”) was released on July 10, 2001. It
expresses the staff’s views on the development, documentation, and application of a systematic methodology as
required by Financial Reporting Release No. 28, “Accounting for Loan Losses by Registrants Engaged in
Lending Activities,” for determining the ALL in accordance with general accepted accounting principles. In
particular, SAB No. 102 focuses on the documentation the Securities and Exchange Commission staff would
normally expect registrants to prepare and maintain in support of the ALL. Management believes that
Humboldt’s process for determining the adequacy of the ALL is consistently followed and supported by
written documentation, policies and procedures. -

Merchant Bankcard Services

In 1993, Humboldt established a merchant credit and debit card processing operation (“Merchant
Bankcard Services”). Since that time, the operation has grown steadily both in volume and scope of activities.
In general, Merchant Bankcard Services operations involve collecting funds for, and crediting the accounts of,
merchants for sales of merchandise and services to credit and debit card customers. Merchant Bankcard
Services specializes in providing processing for first time merchants and small-to medium-sized merchants in
the retail, telephone, mail order and Internet commerce industries.

While these merchants vary in size, Humboldt’s average typical merchant generates approximately
$60,000 in annual processing transaction volume. For the year ended December 31, 2002, no single merchant
accounted for more than .5% of total gross processing volume. At December 31, 2002, Merchant Bankcard
Services provided processing services to approximately 103,000 merchants.

During the second quarter of 2002, Humboldt conducted a strategic review of its Merchant Bankcard
Services and the risks and rewards associated with the business in general. The review concluded that
Humboldt’s long-term shareholder value would be maximized by reducing the Company’s overall risk profile
through the strategic sale its Merchant Bankcard Services and refocusing efforts on community banking. In
July 2002, Humboldt entered into a definitive agreement for the sale of its proprietary Merchant Bankcard
Services to iPayment Holdings, Inc. This agreement was subsequently terminated by iPayment Holdings. On
February 3, 2003, the Bank entered into a definitive agreement with a recently formed affiliate of First
National Bank Holding Company called Humboldt Merchant Services, LP, for the sale of the proprietary
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Merchant Bankcard Services. This transaction was completed on March 13, 2003, and the Bank received cash
consideration of $32 million. As of the closing date, Humboldt Merchant Services, LP assumed all liability for
transactions processed on or before the closing date. Accordingly, the Bank no longer has an exposure to losses
related to the proprietary portfolio.

Independent Service Organization Processing

Humboldt markets its Merchant Bankcard Services through independent service organizations
(“ISOs”). Since the VISA and Mastercard association rules only provide membership to financial institu-
tions, ISOs must be affiliated with a sponsor financial institution in order to be involved in the processing of
credit and debit card transactions. In most cases, ISOs solicit merchant accounts and perform the customer
service and collection function, while Humboldt provides the accounting and credit underwriting function. For
these functions, Humboldt receives an average processing fee of approximately 0.10%. Under the terms of the
ISO agreements, Humboldt is indemnified against loss by the 1SO.

As of December 31, 2002, Humboldt provided ISO processing for three organizations. The aggregate
number of merchants covered under these agreements was approximately 90,000 at December 31, 2002. For
the year ended December 31, 2002, Humboldt processed approximately $5 billion of ISO merchant
transactions. As part of the decision to sell the Proprietary business, Humboldt also decided to exit the ISO
processing upon expiration of the existing contracts. Subsequent to December 31, 2002, one of the ISO
agreements was terminated and approximately 41,000 merchant accounts were transferred to another sponsor
financial institution. Although the two remaining ISO sponsorships expire in September 2003 and March
2004, respectively, Humboldt expects that these ISOs will transfer their merchant accounts to another sponsor
institution prior to the termination date.

In connection with the sale of the Proprietary portfolio, Humboldt will provide ISO sponsorship for a
period not to exceed six months in order to provide sufficient time for Humboldt Merchant Services, LP to
arrange for an orderly transfer of the merchant accounts. Under the terms of the agreement, Humboldt
Merchant Services, LP indemnifies Humboldt for any losses incurred in connection with merchant accounts
acquired from Humboldt or added subsequent to closing. )

Merchant Bankcard Services Risks

There are unique risks associated with processing merchant credit and debit card transactions. Many of
the merchants accept consumers’ credit card numbers over the telephone and Internet. There are no signed
drafts and the entire process is handled electronically. Since consumers find these transactions easier to
dispute than transactions involving signed drafts, the charge-back rates for services provided over the
telephone and through the Internet are generally higher. Humboldt views its risk management and fraud
avoidance practices as integral to its operations and overall success because of potential liability for merchant
fraud, charge backs and other losses. While the first time and small to medium sized merchants may be
potentially profitable accounts, they are by definition high risk because of the lack of business experience and
consequently require close monitoring. In connection with the sale of Humboldt’s proprietary portfolio, the
buyer assumed responsibility for all charge-backs received after the closing date.

For ISO merchants, risk is mitigated by requiring merchant reserves and by ISO reserves and guarantees.
Reserves are demand deposit or time deposit account balances with minimum required balances established
by withholding a percentage of processing volume.

In the event a consumer is dissatisfied with the merchandise or service, in general, a merchant must
accept a charge-back for a period of 120 days. The merchant’s checking account is debited with the charge-
back if sufficient funds exist; otherwise, the merchant’s reserve funds are debited. If a merchant’s reserves are
insufficient to fund the charge-back and an ISO is involved, Humboldt looks to the applicable and available
guarantee, if any, of the 1SO. If the merchant’s reserve is exhausted and either (i) an ISO is involved but no
guarantee is applicable or available, or (ii) no ISO is involved, Humboldt uses its internal reserves to fund the
charge-back. Humboldt had $68 million of deposit accounts related to merchant reserves as of December 31,
2002. Substantially all of the merchant deposits account balances were in demand deposit accounts.
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An allowance for losses is maintained in connection with Humboldt’'s merchant bankcard processing
activities. An analysis of the adequacy of the allowance is performed on a quarterly basis. The analysis assigns
risk factors to processing volumes for each ISO and the Proprietary portfolio, based on the financial strength of
the ISO, loss experience, merchant charge-back experience and other factors. At December 31, 2002, the total
allowance for merchant losses was $2.7 million.

Association Risks

Mérchant bankcard processing services are highly regulated by credit card associations such as VISA and
Mastercard. In order to participate in the credit card programs, Humboldt must comply with the credit card
association’s rules and regulations, which may change from time to time. There is no guarantee that the credit
card associations will not, at some future point, adopt more restrictive rules that could adversely impact
Humboldt. :

The association membership rules also provide the right for the association to levy a charge to all member
banks in the event there is a major loss within the association network. The loss would be allocated to all
member banks based on the percentage of transaction processing performed by each member bank. The
ability to mitigate this risk is beyond Humboldt’s control.

ATM Funding

In 1996, Humboldt began its automated teller machine (“ATM”) funding operation by sponsoring ISOs
that place and service ATMs in various public places such as restaurants, convenience stores, and gas stations.
ATM networks require each ATM ISO to be sponsored by a chartered financial institution. Humboldt
sponsors these companies and provides cash for their ATMs under a contractual agreement in exchange for a
fee. Tehama Bank, prior to its acquisition by Humboldt, also was active in ATM Funding and after completion
of the merger continued to provide ATM funding. During the fourth quarter of 2001, Humboldt determined
that an ATM ISO had stolen approximately $5.0 million that was provided for funding ATMs, Subsequently,
law enforcement authorities recovered approximately $3.6 million of the cash. A loss of $1.4 million before tax
was recorded in connection with the theft in 2001. Humboldt is pursuing insurance claims against bond
coverage provided by the ATM ISO and also under the Bank’s financial institution bond and other insurance
policies provided by the ATM ISO.

In light of the cash theft and related loss, management reevaluated the financial risks and rewards
associated with ATM Funding and determined that alternative uses of the ATM funding cash, such as funding
loans, would provide a more acceptable risk-adjusted return to Humboldt. Accordingly, a decision was made
during the first quarter of 2002 to begin the process of exiting the ATM Funding business. This process was
completed during the third quarter of 2002.

In December 2002, Humboldt agreed to pay an ATM ISO $250,000 in order to settle a legal claim in
connection with termination of the ATM ISO agreement. Humboldt received a full and unconditional release
from the ATM ISO. There were no other pending or threatened legal disputes related to the ATM funding
operation as of December 31, 2002.

Asset/Liability Management

Humboldt’s Asset/Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”) is composed of the Chief Financial
Officer, Treasurer, Chief Credit Officer, President and one board member. The ALCO meets periodically and
is charged with managing the assets and liabilities of the Banks. The committees attempt to manage asset
growth, liquidity, and capital to maximize income and manage interest rate risk. The ALCO directs
Humboldt’s acquisition- and allocation of funds. A more comprehensive discussion of Humboldt’s Asset/
Liability Management and interest rate risk is contained in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Part
II, Item 7) section of this report under the heading “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk.”




Investment Policy

Humboldt’s investment policy is to maximize income consistent with liquidity, asset quality and
regulatory constraints and is reviewed annually by the Board of Directors. Individual transactions, portfolio
composition, and performance are also reviewed and on a regular basis by the Board of Directors. Humboldt’s
Chief Financial Officer administers the policy and reports information to the Board of Directors on a quarterly
basis concerning sales, purchases, maturities and calls, resultant gains or losses, average maturity, and market
appreciation or depreciation by major investment type.

Bancorp Financial Services — Discontinued Operations

Bancorp Financial Services, Inc. (“BFS”) was originally capitalized in 1996 with $2,000,000 contribu-
tions from both Humboldt Bancorp and Tehama Bancorp. Upon the completion of the Tehama Bancorp
merger in March 2001, Humboldt became the sole shareholder of BFS. During the first quarter of 2001,
Humboldt’s Board of Directors completed a strategic review of BFS, which principally acquired and serviced
small ticket leases on a nationwide basis. This review was initiated in response to a number of factors,
including the increased regulatory burden associated with BFS being a wholly owned subsidiary after
completion of the Tehama Bancorp merger, future capital needs of BFS to support its growth and reliance
upon the lease-backed securities market for liquidity. As a result of this review, Humboldt adopted a plan to
discontinue the operations of BFS by sale and engaged an investment banking firm to facilitate the sale during
the first quarter of 2001. A valuation reserve of $700,000, net of tax, was recorded during the first quarter of
2001 based on an estimate of the value of BFS as a going concern.

During the second quarter of 2001, Humboldt was notified by the investment banker that the prospects
for the sale of BFS as a going concern were unlikely. In response, Humboldt adopted a plan to wind-down the
operations of BFS in an orderly manner. This plan included the immediate termination of all lease and loan
acquisition activities. In connection with the wind-down plan, Humboldt recognized a loss on discontinued
operations, net of tax, of $13.5 million during the second quarter of 2001. For the year ended December 31,
2001, Humboldt recognized a total net loss on discontinued operations of $14.0 million.

During the first and second quarters of 2002, the wind-down of the BFS operations was completed,
including the sale of all remaining financial assets. A loss on discontinued operations of $276 000 was
recognized during the second quarter of 2002,

The operating results of BFS are included, net of tax, in the income statement as income (loss) from
discontinued operations. Additional information on BFS is contained in Note 3 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Economic Conditions, Government Policies and Legislation

Humboldt’s profitability is primarily dependent on interest rate differentials. In general, the difference
between the interest rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and other borrowings, and the
interest rates received on interest-earning assets, such as loans and investment securities, comprise the major
portion of Humboldt’s earnings. These rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are beyond the control of
Humboldt, such as inflation, recession and unemployment. The impact which future changes in domestic and
foreign economic conditions might have on Humboldt cannot be predicted.

The results of operations of Humboldt are affected by credit policies of monetary authorities, particularly
the Federal Reserve. The instruments of monetary policy employed by the Federal Reserve to control inflation
and combat economic recession include open market operations in U.S. government securities, changes in the
discount rate on bank borrowings and changes in reserve requirements against bank deposits. In view of
changing conditions in the national economy and in the money markets, as well as the effect of actions by
monetary and fiscal authorities, including the Federal Reserve, no prediction can be made as to possible future
changes in interest rates, deposit levels, loan demand, or the business and income of Humboldt. Changes in
monetary policy could have an adverse effect on loan demand, the ability of borrowers to repay outstanding
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loans, the value of real estate and other collateral securing loans, and Humboldt’s condition and results of
operations in general and, as a result, on the market value of the Humboldt’s common stock.

In late 2000 and continuing into 2001, the State of California was subject to a deterioration in the ability
of major utilities to provide energy for the State’s needs. These shortages resulted in increased costs and,
during the summer of 2001, “rolling blackouts” during which electric service was interrupted in some areas for
short periods. Although conservation efforts and increased generation capacity have alleviated electricity
shortages, there is no assurance that future energy shortages will not have a significant adverse impact on the
California economy. In early 2003, the State of California also announced a budget deficit of approximately
$35 billion and plans to curtail spending in order to close the budget gap. Although Humboldt is not directly
dependent upon funding from the State of California, a further deterioration in the State’s financial condition
could have an adverse impact on the prospects for continued economic growth and development.

From time to time, legislative acts, as well as regulations, are enacted which have the effect of increasing
the cost of doing business, limiting or expanding permissible activities, or affecting the competitive balance
between banks and other financial services providers. Proposals to change the laws and regulations governing
the operations and taxation of banks, bank holding companies, and other financial institutions and financial
services providers are frequently made in the U.S. Congress, in the state legislatures, and before various
regulatory agencies.

On November 12, 1999, President Clinton signed into law the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, also
referred to as Financial Services Modernization Act. The Financial Services Modernization Act repeals the
two affiliation provisions of the Glass-Steagall Act: Section 20, which restricted the affiliation of Federal
Reserve member banks with firms “engaged principally” in specified securities activities; and Section 32,
which restricts officer, director or employee interlocks between a member bank and any company or person
“primarily engaged” in specified securities activities. In addition, the Financial Services Modernization Act
also contains provisions that expressly preempt any state law restricting the establishment of financial
affiliations, primarily related to insurance. The general effect of the law is to establish a comprehensive
framework to permit affiliations among commercial banks, insurance companies, securities firms, and other
financial services providers by revising and expanding the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (“BHCA”)
framework to permit a holding company system to engage in a full range of financial activities through a new
entity known as a Financial Holding Company. “Financial activities” is broadly defined to include not only
banking, insurance and securities activities, but also merchant banking and additional activities that the
Federal Reserve Board, in consultation with the Secretary of the Treasury, determines to be financial in
nature, incidental to such financial activities or complementary activities that do not pose a substantial risk to
the safety and soundness of depository institutions or the financial system generally. Generally, the Financial
Services Modernization Act:

« Repeals historical restrictions on, and eliminates many federal and state law barriers to, affiliations
among banks, securities firms, insurance companies, and other financial services providers,;

+ Provides a uniform framework for the functional regulation of the activities of banks, savings
institutions and their holding companies;

+ Broadens the activities that may be conducted by national banks, banking subsidiaries of bank holding
companies and their financial subsidiaries;

« Provides an enhanced framework for protecting the privacy of consumer information;

* Adopts a number of provisions related to the capitalization, membership, corporate governance, and
other measures designed to modernize the Federal Home Loan Bank system;

 Modifies the laws governing the implementation of the Community Reinvestment Act, sometimes
referred to as CRA; and '

+ Addresses a variety of other legal and regulatory issues affecting both day-to-day operations and long-
term activities of financial institutions.




In order for a company to take advantage of the ability to affiliate with other financial services providers,
it must become a “Financial Holding Company” as permitted under an amendment to the BHCA. To become
a Financial Holding Company, a company would file a declaration with the Federal Reserve Board, electing to
engage in activities permissible for Financial Holding Companies and certifying that the company is eligible to
do so because all of its insured depository institution subsidiaries are well-capitalized and well-managed. In
addition, the Federal Reserve Board must also determine that each of a holding company’s insured depository
institution subsidiaries has at least a “satisfactory” CRA rating. Humboldt does not have any current plans to
apply for Financial Holding Company status.

Under the Financial Services Modernization Act, federal banking regulators adopted rules that limit the
ability of financial institutions to disclose non-public information about customers to third parties not affiliated
with the financial institution. Under the privacy rules, which became effective in July 2001, financial
institutions must provide notices to customers about their privacy policy (describing the conditions under
which nonpublic personal information is disclosed), annual notices of their privacy policy to current customers
and a reasonable means for customers to “opt out” of having their personal information disclosed to third
parties. These privacy provisions will affect how consumer. information is transmitted through financial
institutions and conveyed to outside vendors. Management does not believe that compliance with privacy rules
will have a material impact on Humboldt’s results of operations.

President Bush signed the USA Patriot Act of 2001 (*“Patriot Act”) on October 26, 2001. This legislation
was enacted in response to the terrorist attacks in New York, Pennsylvania and Washingion, D.C. on
September 11, 2001. The Patriot Act is intended to strengthen U.S: law enforcement and the intelligence
communities’ ability to work together to combat terrorism on a variety of levels. The potential impact of the
Patriot Act on financial institutions is significant and wide ranging. The Patriot Act contains sweeping anti-
money laundering and financial transparency laws and requires various regulations, including:

(1) Due diligence requirements for financial institutions that administer, maintain, or manage
private bank accounts or correspondent accounts for non-U.S. persons.

(2) Standards for verifying customer identification at account opening.

(3) Rules to promote cooperation among financial institutions, regulators, and law enforcement
entities to assist in the identification of parties that may be involved in terrorism or money laundering.

(4) Reports to be filed by nonfinancial trades and business with the Treasury Department’s
Financial Crimes Enforcement Network for transactions exceeding $10,000.

(5) The filing of suspicious activities reports by securities brokers and dealers if they believe a
customer may be violating U.S. laws and regulations.

Until all new regulations, rules or standards have been developed; Humboldt is not able to predict the
impact of such law on its financial condition or results of operations at this time.

Supervision and Regulation of Humboldt

Humboldt and the Bank are extensively regulated under both federal and state laws and regulations.
These laws and regulations are primarily intended to protect depositors, not shareholders. The following
information describes statutory or regulatory provisions affecting Humboldt and the Banks.

The regulations of the Federal Reserve Board, the FDIC, and the California Department of Financial
Institutions govern most aspects of Humboldt’s and the Banks’ businesses and operations, including, but not
limited to, the scope of its business, investments, reserves against deposits, the nature and amount of any
collateral for loans, the time of availability of deposited funds, the issuance of securities, the payment of
dividends, bank expansion and bank activities, including real estate development and insurance activities, and
the making of periodic reports. Various consumer laws and regulations also apply to the Banks. The Federal
Reserve, the FDIC, and the California Department of Financial Institutions have broad enforcement powers
over depository institutions, including the power to prohibit a bank from engaging in business practices which
are considered to be unsafe or unsound, to impose substantial fines and other civil and criminal penalties, to
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terminate deposit insurance, and to appoint a conservator or receiver under a variety of circumstances. The
Federal Reserve Board also has broad enforcement powers over bank holding companies, including the power
to impose substantial fines and other civil and criminal penalties.

Regulation of Bank Holding Companies

Humboldt is a registered bank holding company subject to regulation by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System under the BHCA. Humboldt is required to file financial information with the Federal
Reserve periodically and is subject to periodic examination by the Federal Reserve. The BHCA requires every
bank holding company to obtain the Federal Reserve’s prior approval before (1) it may acquire direct or
indirect ownership or control of more than 5% of the voting shares of any bank that it does not already control;
(2) it or any of its non-bank subsidiaries may acquire all or substantially all of the assets of a bank; and (3) it
may merge or consolidate with any other bank holding company. In addition, a bank holding company is
generally prohibited from engaging in, or acquiring, direct or indirect control of the voting shares of any
company engaged in non-banking activities. This prohibition does not apply to activities listed in the BHCA or
found by the Federal Reserve, by order or regulation, to be closely related to banking or managing or
controlling banks such as data processing, loan servicing, and brokerage services.

Federal Deposit Insurance

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insures deposits of federally insured banks, savings banks,
savings associations and thrifts and safeguards the safety and soundness of the banking industry. Two separate
insurance funds are maintained and administered by the FDIC. In general, bank deposits are insured through
the Bank Insurance Fund (“BIF”). Deposits in savings associations are insured through the Savings
Association Insurance Fund (“SAIF”). A SAIF member may merge with a bank as long as the acquiring
bank continues to pay the SAIF insurance assessments on the deposits acquired. Humboldt Bank pays SAIF
insurance assessments on deposits acquired in branch acquisitions.

The amount of FDIC assessments paid by each member institution is based on its relative risk of default
as measured by regulatory capital ratios and other factors. The assessment rate currently ranges from $0.00 to
$0.27 per $100.00 of deposits. At December 31, 2002, the Bank was classified in a manner that the assessment
rate was zero. ‘

The FDIC may increase or decrease the assessment rate schedule on a semi-annual basis in order to
manage the BIF and SAIF to prescribed statutory target levels. During the fourth quarter of 2001 and first
quarter of 2002, published reports indicated that the BIF was likely to fall below the statutory target of 1.25%
of insured deposits during 2002 because of a recent increase in the number of bank failures and growth in bank
deposits. This would require the FDIC to increase the assessment rate for BIF member banks. Although the
amount of any increase is not currently known, if the BIF remains under the prescribed statutory target for one
year all member banks will be charged $0.23 per $100.00 of deposits. For Humboldt, this would represent an
additional pre-tax expense of approximately $2 million annually. An increase in the assessment rate could
have a material adverse effect Humboldt’s earnings, depending on the amount of the increase.

All FDIC-insured depository institutions must pay an annual assessment to provide funds for the
payment of interest on bonds issued by the Financing Corporation, a federal corporation chartered under the
authority of the Federal Housing Finance Board. The bonds, commonly referred to as FICO bonds, were
issued to capitalize the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. The FDIC established the FICO
assessment rates effective for the fourth quarter of 2001 at approximately $.0184 per $100 annually for
assessable deposits. The FICO assessments are adjusted quarterly to reflect changes in the assessment bases of
the FDIC’s insurance funds and do not vary depending on a depository institution’s capitalization or
supervisory evaluations.

The FDIC may terminate the deposit insurance of any insured depository institution if it determines that
the institution has engaged or is engaging in unsafe or unsound practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition
to continue operations or has violated any applicable law, regulation, order or any condition imposed in writing
by, or pursuant to written agreement with, the FDIC. The FDIC may also suspend deposit insurance
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temporarily during the hearing process for a permanent termination of insurance if the institution has no
tangible capital. The termination of deposit insurance for any or all of the Banks could have a material adverse
effect on Humboldt’s results of operations and liquidity due to the likelihood that substantial deposit
withdrawal activity would occur. :

Capital Adequacy Guidelines

The FDIC has adopted regulations implementing the prompt corrective action provisions of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991, which place financial institutions in the following
five categories based upon capitalization ratios: (1) a “well capitalized” institution has a total risk-based
capital ratio of at least 10%, a Tier One risk-based ratio of at least 6% and a leverage ratio of at least 5%;
(2) an “adequately capitalized” institution has a total risk- based capital ratio of at least 8%, a Tier One risk-
based ratio of at least 4% and a leverage ratio of at least 4%; (3) an “undercapitalized” institution has a total
risk-based capital ratio of under 8%, a Tier One risk-based ratio of under 4% or a leverage ratio of under 4%;
(4) a “significantly undercapitalized” institution has a total risk-based capital ratio of under 6%, a Tier One
risk-based ratio of under 3% or a leverage ratio of under 3%; and (5) a “critically undercapitalized” institution
has a leverage ratio of 2% or less. Institutions in any of the three undercapitalized categories would be
prohibited from declaring dividends or making capital distributions. The FDIC regulations also establish
procedures for “‘downgrading” an institution to a lower capital category based on supervisory factors other than
capital.

Undercapitalized depository institutions are subject to restrictions on borrowing from the Federal Reserve
System. In addition, undercapitalized depository institutions are subject to growth limitations and are required
to submit capital restoration plans. An insured depository institution’s holding company must guarantee the
capital plan, up to an amount equal to the lesser of 5% of the depository institution’s assets at the time it
becomes undercapitalized or the amount of the capital deficiency when the institution fails to comply with the
plan, for the plan to be accepted by the applicable federal regulatory authority. The federal banking agencies
may not accept a capital plan without determining, among other things, that the plan is based on realistic
assumptions and is likely to succeed in restoring the depository institution’s capital. If a depository institution
fails to submit an acceptable plan, it is treated as if it is significantly undercapitalized. Significantly
undercapitalized depository institutions may be subject to a number of requirements and restrictions, including
orders to sell sufficient voting stock to become adequately capitalized and requirements to reduce total assets.
Critically undercapitalized depository institutions are subject to appointment of a receiver or comservator,
generally within 90 days of the date on which they become critically undercapitalized.

Humboldt believes that at December 31, 2002, the Bank had sufficient capital to qualify as “well
capitalized” under the regulatory requirements. Further detail on regulatory capital ratios is included in Note
20 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Limits on Dividends and Other Payments

Humboldt initiated the payment of a quarterly cash dividend during the second quarter of 2002, and paid
total cash dividends of $0.07 per share. Humboldt’s ability to obtain funds for the payment of cash dividends,
if any, and for other cash requirements is dependent on the amount of dividends that may be declared by the
Bank. California bank law provides that dividends may be paid from the lesser of retained earnings or net
income of the bank for its last three years. Further, a California-chartered bank may not declare a dividend
without the approval of the California Department of Financial Institutions if the total of dividends and
distributions declared in a calendar year exceeds the greater of the bank’s retained earnings or net income for
its last fiscal year or its current fiscal year. The Bank’s ability to pay dividends may also be limited by capital
adequacy guidelines of the FDIC. Moreover, regulatory authorities are authorized to prohibit banks and bank
holding companies from paying dividends if payment of dividends would constitute an unsafe and unsound
banking practice.

The Federal Reserve Board’s policy statement governing payment of cash dividends provides that
Humboldt should not pay cash dividends on common stock unless (i) net income for the past year is sufficient

12




to fully fund the proposed dividends and (ii) the prospective rate of earnings retention is consistent with
capital needs, asset quality and overall financial condition.

Community Reinvestment Act

Under the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 (“CRA”) and implementing regulations of the
banking agencies, a financial institution has a continuing and affirmative obligation (consistent with safe and
sound operation) to meet the credit needs of its entire community, including low- and moderate-income
neighborhoods. The CRA does not establish specific lending requirements or programs for financial
institutions, nor does it limit an institution’s discretion to develop the types of products and services that the
institution believes are best suited to its particular community. The CRA requires that bank regulatory
agencies conduct regular CRA examinations and provide written evaluations of institutions’” CRA perform-
ance. ' The CRA also requires that an institution’s CRA performance rating be made public.

Although CRA examinations occur on a regular basis, CRA performance evaluations are used principally
in the evaluation of regulatory applications submitted by an institution. CRA performance evaluations are
considered in evaluating applications for such things as mergers, acquisitions and applications to open new
branches. As of the last CRA exam in October 2000, the Bank had a rating of “outstanding.”

State Regulation

As California-chartered institutions, the Bank is subject to regular examination by the California
Department of Financial Institutions. State regulation affects the operation of the Bank with regard to
deposits, mortgage lending, investments and other activities. State regulation may contain limitations on an
institution’s activities that are in addition to limitations imposed under federal law. State regulation also
contains many provisions that are consistent with federal law.

The California Department of Financial Institutions may initiate supervisory measures or formal
enforcement actions, and if the grounds provided by law exist, may place a California-chartered financial
institution in conservatorship or receivership. Whenever the Commissioner of Financial Institutions considers
it necessary or appropriate, he may also examine the affairs of any holding company or any affiliate of a
California-chartered financial institution.

Employees

At December 31, 2002, Humboldt employed a total of 443 full-time equivalent employees. None of
Humboldt’s employees are represented by a collective bargaining group, and management considers its
relations with its employees to be good. Information regarding employment contracts for Humboldt’s
executive officers is contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting.




Item 2. Properties

The executive offices of Humboldt are located at 2998 Douglas Boulevard, Suite 330, Roseville,
California. Humboldt leases this office space. The Bank conducts business from 19 facilities, all of which are
in a good state of repair and appropriately designed for use as banking facilities. The Bank provides services.
conducts operational functions at 22 locations, of which 12 locations are owned and 10 are leased.

Note 19 to Humboldt’s Consolidated Financial Statements contains additional information about
properties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, various claims and lawsuits are brought by and against Humboldt. In
the opinion of management, there is no pending or threatened proceeding in which an adverse decision could
result in a material adverse change in the consolidated financial condition or results of operations of
Humboldt.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

There were no submissions of matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal
year covered by this Report.

PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

Humboldt’s common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market System (“NASDAQ”) under the
symbol “HBEK.” The table below reflects the high and low closing sales prices for Humboldt’s common stock
as reported by NASDAQ. As of December 31, 2002, there were 100,000,000 and 20,000,000 shares,
respectively, of Humboldt common stock and preferred stock authorized for issuance, of which 12,604,157
shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock were outstanding. '

The stock prices below have been adjusted to reflect the 6-for-5 stock split issued in August 2002 and the
10% stock dividend issued in June 2001.

Cash
Quarter Ended High Low Dividend
December 31, 2001 .. ...t $ 618 $ 4.8  $0.000
September 30, 2001 . ... ... e $ 642 § 3521 $0.000
June 30, 20001 ... .. . e $ 663 $ 55  $0.000
March 31, 2001 ... e $ 7890 $ 584  $0.000
December 31, 2002 .. ..o e $12.22  §$ 923  $0.025
September 30, 2002 . . ...\t $15.24  $1042  $0.025
June 30, 2002 ... o e $11.81  $ 694  $0.021
March 31, 2002 .. e $ 736§ 5.45 $0.000

As of December 31, 2002 there were approximately 1,443 shareholders, not including those held in street
name by brokerage firms. As of December 31, 2002, a total 1,598,948 options and warrants for Humboldt
Bancorp common stock were outstanding.

The payment of future dividends is at the discretion of the board of directors and subject to a number of
factors, including results of operations, general business conditions, capital requirements, general financial
condition, and other factors deemed relevant by the board of directors. Further, our ability to issue cash
dividends is subject to meeting certain regulatory requirements. See “Supervision and Regulation of
Humboldt Bancorp.”
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

Humboldt Bancorp

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
In thousands, except per share data
IRtErest IMCOMIE . . .o oottt et vt eas $ 37,354 § 3925t § 59,516 $ 66,165 $§ 64,345
Interest expense ........ ... i 13,357 13,455 24,882 28.341 17,637
Net interest inCOME . ... ..o vt ens 23,997 25,796 34,634 37,824 46,708
Provision for loan 1osses. .. ... ..ot i 3,237 2,371 2,535 2.903 3,321
Non-interest INCOME ...ttt et ie e ie e 14,713 18,661 22,864 29,727 26,147
NOR-INterest eXPense . . ..o vuvvrtit e et iieiaa e 26,640 34,007 41,4383 50,343 52,558
Merger-related expense . ........ .. o i — — — 3,531 —
Income before income taxes . . ... i 8,833 8,079 13,480 10,774 16,976
INCOME 1aXES. ..ot - 3,369 2,753 4,453 3,789 4,437
Net income from continuing operations .................... 5,464 5,326 9,027 6,985 12,539
Income (loss) on discontinued operations, net of tax ......... 561 894 (7)  (13,994) (276)
Net income (10SS) ..o vt $ 6025 § 6220 $ 9020 § (7,009 §$ 12,263
Year End
ASSEES e $519,757  $635,770  $852,900  $958,917  $1,031,550
Earning assets . .. ... 454,747 548,919 738,466 842,514 942,321
Loans, net of allowance forlosses ....................... 305,048 368,148 575,142 654,567 749,034
DEPOSIES . ot e 464,208 567,097 712,807 807.086 840,427
Stockholders’ equity . . ... i $ 45559 § 52,143  $ 71,839 §$ 64,582 § 77,848
Shares outstanding . . ........ oo 10,209 10,661 12,346 12,530 12,604
Average
ASSEES v it $487,060  $565,228  $768.229  $916,067 $ 983,510
Earming assets . . ..ottt 435,483 465,498 672,737 801,462 893,263
Loans . .. 296,384 331,551 503,877 616,159 711,842
DIEPOSIES . . o 401,961 507,894 673,012 778,220 805,958
Stockholders’ equity .. .............. [P $ 42,308 $ 48,150 $ 62,551 $ 68,040 $ 71,081
Basic shares outstanding ......... ... ... i 10,725 11,049 12,037 12,464 12,503
Diluted shares outstanding .. ...........c...cooiviainn... 11,520 11,736 12,689 12,996 13,049
Per Share Data
Basic earnings ... ... i $ 0356 $ 036 S 075 § (036) § 0.98
Diluted €arnings .. ... covein i e 0.52 0.53 0.71 (0.54) 0.94
Basic earnings — continuing operations . .................. 0.51 0.48 0.75 0.56 1.00
Diluted earnings — continuing operations . ................ 0.47 0.45 0.71 0.54 0.96
Bookvalue ...... ... ... ... ... 4.46 4.89 5.82 5.15 6.18
Cashdividends ........... ..o i PR - 3 — 5 — 3 — 3§ 0.07
Performance Ratios
Return on average assets™ ....... ... ... ... i 1.12% 0.94% 1.18% 1.06% 1.27%
Return on average shareholders’ equity®* .. ................ 12.91% 11.06% 14.43% 14.33% 17.64%
Average equity to average assets ..................... ... 8.69% 8.52% 8.14% 7.43% 7.23%
Efficiency ratio® ... ... . 68.87% 76.11% 72.00% 73.11% 71.56%
Leverage ratlo. .. ...t 8.58% 8.02% 8.83% 8.38% 8.73%
Net interest margin ..., 5.51% 5.21% 5.15% 4.71% 5.23%
Non-interest revenue to total revenue .................... 38.01% 41.98% 39.76%  44.01% 35.89%
Asset Quality
Non-performing assets .. .......vviiieineenn .. $ 1,708 § 2,573 $§ 4657 § 4641 $ 3,703
Allowance for loan losses .......... ... .. ... .. ... $ 5,136 § 5502 $ 8367 $ 9,765 § 11,614
Net charge-offs. . ... ..o i $ 2,177 $§ 2005 $ 1,670 $§ 1,505 § 1,472
Non-performing assets to total assets..................... 0.33% 0.40% 0.55% 0.49% 0.36%
Allowance for loan losses to loans ....................... 1.66% 1.47% 1.43% 1.47% 1.53%
Net charge-offs to average loans ....................0... 0.73% 0.60% 0.25% 0.24% 0.21%

* Excluding impact of discontinued operations and merger-related expenses.




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

At December 31, 2002, Humboldt had total consolidated assets of $1.0 billion, total net loans of
$749 million, total deposits of $840 million and stockholders’ equity of $78 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, Humboldt reported net income of $12.3 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, and net
income from continuing operations of $12.5 million, or $0.96 per diluted share. The loss on discentinued
operations of $276,000 after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, resulted from the final wind-down of Humboldt’s
leasing subsidiary, discussed in detail below under the heading “Discontinued Operations™ and in Note 3 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

All outstanding and weighted average share amounts presented in this report have been restated to reflect
the six-for-five stock split in 2002, the 10% stock dividends in 1998, 2000 and 2001, and a five-for-two stock
split in 1999.

Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations

The sale of our proprietary merchant bankcard operation will reduce net income in the short-term and
strategic initiatives to replace the lost income may be inadequate ‘

The sale of the proprietary merchant bankcard business, which was completed on March 13, 2003, will
result in a decrease in net income of approximately $4 million annually on a pre-tax basis. Humboldt has
identified several key initiatives, including residential mortgage iending and new service charge structures that
are expected to provide for a replacement of the lost revenue over a period of 12 to 24 months. There is no
assurance that these initiatives will, individually or collectively, provide for the replacement of the lost revenue
within the expected time horizon.

We may be unable to deploy the excess capital resulting from the sale of the proprietary merchant
bankcard business in a timely manner

In order to offset the reduction in earnings per share resulting from the sale of the proprietary merchant
bankcard business, Humboldt’s Board of Directors approved a 1.2 million share repurchase program. There is
no guarantee that sufficient shares will be available for repurchase at price levels that are acceptable or that
Humbeoldt will be able obtain an adequate return on excess cap1tal through other 1mt1at1ves related to
community banking.

The decision to exit the ISO sponsorship business will adversely impact the Bank’s liquidity and net
income if core deposit growth is insufficient

In connection with the decision to sell the proprietary merchant bankcard business, Humboldt also
decided to cease its sponsorship processing for merchant bankcard ISOs as its remaining agreements expire.
The principal benefit derived from the ISO sponsorship business is the use of impounded deposits held as
reserves for merchant losses. As of December 31, 2002, the Bank held approximately $56 million of ISO
deposits. As the ISO agreements expire between April 2003 and March 2004, the Bank will lose the related
deposits and, in the short-term, need to replace them with wholesale funding to the extent that core deposit
growth is not sufficient to cover the outflow. Although current market rates for wholesale borrowings are at
historic lows, the cost of replacing the merchant deposits will result in increased interest expense.

Potential deterioration of local economic conditions could hurt our profitability

The Bank’s operations are located in California, and substantially all of the outstanding loans and
commitments are to businesses and individuals located in Northern California. As a result of this geographic
concentration, the Bank’s financial results depend largely upon economic conditions in these areas. Adverse
local economic conditions in California, and, in particular, Northern California, may have a greater adverse
effect on our financial condition through reduced growth prospects and potentially higher credit losses than if
the Bank’s operations were more geographically diverse.
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Plans to_convert to a new core bank processing system will increase operating expenses and may strain
human resources and possibly result in service disruptions

In November 2002, the Bank entered into an agreement with Information Technology, Inc. for the
purchase of hardware and software that will replace the Bank’s current core processing system, to upgrade the
Bank’s computer network architecture and to install new equipment for imaging and processing checks. The
total cost of this upgrade is approximately $4.5 million, which will be amortized over useful lives of between
three and five years. The conversion is expected to be completed by July 2003.

Although significant preparation and planning are being conducted, including the engagement of
experienced consultants and the performance of “mock” conversions, the possibility exists that the conversion
will not go as planned. This could result in degraded customer service levels. A significant or prolonged
disruption in service levels resulting from core processing conversion problems could result in the loss of
customers and have an adverse impact on the Bank’s results of operations and liquidity.

Our effective tax rate may increase if the California Tax Code is changed

In December 2001, the Bank formed a Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) subsidiary, HB
Investment Trust (“HBIT"). The Bank owns 100% of the voting stock of HBIT and is the sole contributor of
assets, which consist entirely of real estate secured loans originated and serviced by the Bank. Aithough HBIT
was formed to provide flexibility in raising capital through the issuance of preferred stock, no issuance of
preferred stock was made as of December 31, 2002 for the purposes of raising capital. The Bank also benefits
from a reduction in state income tax expense, since any consent dividends paid by HBIT to the Bank are not
subject to state income tax. For 2002, this resulted in a tax expense reduction of approximately $1 million. In
the event the California State Tax Code is amended to eliminate the exemption for consent dividends paid by
a REIT, the Bank would have a higher effective tax rate and increased state tax expense.

Changes in the method of accounting for stock options will reduce our net income and earnings per
share

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, an Amendment of SFAS No. 123 in an effort to encourage the
recognition of compensation expense for the issuance of stock options. Humboldt adopted SFAS No. 148
effective January 1, 2003 using the prospective application method. Under this method, the compensation
expense and related tax benefit associated with stock option grants issued on or after January 1, 2003 will be
recognized in the income statement. The unvested portion of stock option grants issued before January 1, 2003
will continue to be accounted for under APB No. 25. SFAS No. 148 also requires new pro forma disclosures
regarding the cost of stock options not accounted for under APB No. 25,

The adoption of SFAS No. 148 will reduce Humboldt’s net income and earnings per share. The future
amount of this reduction is dependent upon a number of factors, including the number of options granted and
certain variables used in determining the “fair value” of each option granted under the “Black-Scholes”
model. These variables include the volatility of Humboldt’s stock price, Humboldt’s dividend yield, market
interest rates and the expected life of the options. The actual compensation ultimately realized by option
holders is determined at the time of exercise based on the differential between the option exercise price and
the current market value of Humboldt stock.

The historical cost of options granted, although not recognized in the income statement, is presented in
Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and is calculated in the same manner as if such
expense were recognized in the income statement in accordance with SFAS No. 148.
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The Bank faces strong competition

In recent years, competition for bank customers, the source of deposits and loans, has greatly intensified.
This competition includes:

» Large national and super-regional banks, which have well-established branches and significant market
share in many of the communities we serve;

« Finance companies, investment banking and brokerage firms, and insurance companies that offer bank-
like products;

» Credit unions, which can offer highly competitive rates on loans and deposits because they receive tax
advantages not available to commercial banks;

» Government-assisted farm credit programs that offer competitive agricultural loans;

» Other community banks, including start-up banks, which can compete with us for customers who
desire a high degree of personal service;

+ Technology-oriented financial institutions including large national and super-regional banks offering
on-line deposit, bill payment, and mortgage loan application services.

Other existing single or multi-branch community banks, or new community bank start-ups, have
marketing strategies similar to Humboldt’s. These other community banks can open new branches in the
communities in which we serve and compete directly for customers who want the high level of service
community banks offer. Other community banks also compete for the same management personnel and the
same potential acquisition and merger candidates in Northern California.

Historically, insurance companies, brokerage firms, credit unions and other non-bank competitors have
less regulation than banks and can be more flexible in the products and services they offer. Under the
Financial Services Modernization Act of 1999, most separations between banks, brokerage firms and
insurance companies were eliminated, which has increased competition.

Sumimnary of Critical Accounting Policies

The SEC recently issued disclosure guidance for “critical accounting policies.” The SEC defines “critical
accounting policies” as those that require application of management’s most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain and may change in future periods. Humboldt’s significant accounting policies are described in Note
1 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Not all of these critical accounting policies require
management to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments or estimates. However, management believes
that the following policies could be considered critical within the SEC’s definition.

Reserves and Contingencies

Humboldt must manage and control certain inherent risks in the normal course of its business. These
include, credit risk, fraud risk, operations and settlement risk, and interest rate risk. Humboldt has established
reserves for risk of losses, including loan losses, tax contingencies and merchant bankcard losses. The
allowance for loan losses represents Humboldt’s estimate of the probable losses that have occurred as of the
date of the financial statements, as further described in Note I in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Management believes that Humboldt has appropriately accrued for tax exposures. The allowance
for merchant bankcard losses represents Humboldt’s estimate of probable losses that have occurred as of the
date of the financial statements

If Humboldt prevails in a matter for which an accrual has been established or is required to pay an
amount exceeding recorded reserves, the financial impact will be reflected in the period in which the matter is
resolved.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

Humboldt has a policy that provides for the use of derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate
risk. This policy permits the use of interest rate swap, cap and floor contracts to hedge specific interest rate risk
exposures as part of Humboldt’s asset/liability management process. This policy limits the notional amount of
total derivative financial instruments to 15% of total assets. Notes | and 11 in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements contains additional information on accounting policies related to derivative financial
instruments.

Discontinued Operations/OffBalance Sheet Financing

During the first quarter of 2001, Humboldt classified its leasing subsidiary, BFS, as a discontinued
operation upon adoption of a plan to sell the subsidiary. During the second quarter of 2001, it was determined
that a sale of BFS was unlikely and the plan was modified to wind-down the operations of BFS. Management
believes that the wind-down of BFS meets the requirements for classification as a discontinued operation.
Note 3 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contains additional information about
Discontinued Operations.

Prior to its classification as a discontinued operation, BFS formed three subsidiaries that were not
consolidated on the financial statements of BFS or Humboldt. These subsidiaries are commonly referred to as
special purpose entities, or SPEs. As of December 31, 2002, only two subsidiaries were not consolidated. Both
of the remaining unconsolidated subsidiaries are considered “qualifying” SPEs that were formed for the sole
purpose of issuing lease-backed notes to institutional investors. Additional information on these SPEs is
provided in Note 3 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue recognition

Humboldt’s primary sources of revenue are interest income from loans and investment securities and fees
received in connection with providing merchant bankcard processing services. Interest income is recorded on
an accrual basis. Note 1 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contains an explanation of the
process for determining when the accrual of interest income is discontinued on impaired loans and under what
circumstances loans are returned to an accruing status. Merchant bankcard revenue is recorded on a cash
basis.

An additional source of revenue for Humboldt is related to the gains recorded in connection with the sale
of the guaranteed portion of certain SBA loans for which Humboldt retains the right to service the loans.
Recording of such gains involves the use of estimates and assumptions related to the expected life of the loans
and future cash flows. Notes | and 7 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contains
additional information regarding Humboldt’s accounting policy for revenue recorded in connection with the
sale of loans. SBA loan servicing rights are based upon estimates and are subject to the risk of prepayments
and market value fluctuation.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

For all years presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements, Humboldt accounted for stock options
under the provisions APB No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation expense related to the issuance of stock
options is reflected in the income statements. Pro forma disclosures of the impact of compensation expense
(and related tax benefit) associated with stock options are included in Note 1 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Finarcial Statements.

Business Segments

SFAS No. 131 requires disclosure of key financial information as measured by management in assessing
performance of Humboldt’s key business segments, Commercial Banking and Merchant Bankcard Services.
The disclosures related to the results for these lines of business are included in Note 23 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.




Summary of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, which replaces SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of. The primary objectives of this
Statement are to develop one accounting model, based upon the framework established in SFAS No. 121, for
long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and to address significant implementation issues. This Statement
requires that long-lived assets being disposed of be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less
cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations. Therefore, discontinued
operations will no longer be measured at net realizable value or include amounts for operating losses that have
not yet occurred. The provisions of this Statement were effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001 and, generally, are to be applied prospectively. The effect of this
Statement on Humboldt’s financial condition and results of operations, and with respect to the accounting for
Humboldt’s discontinued leasing operations, was not material.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, which rescinds SFAS No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses
from Extinguishment of Debt, SFAS 44, Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers, and SFAS
No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements. These rescissions eliminate the
requirement to report gains and losses from the extinguishment of debt as an extraordinary item, net of related
income tax effect, and are effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. This Statement also amends
SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and requires that capital leases that are modified so that the resulting
lease agreement is classified as an operating lease be accounted for as a sale-leaseback. This amendment is
effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. Finally, this Statement amends several pronounce-
ments to make technical corrections to existing authoritative pronouncements. The effect of this Statement on
Humboldt’s financial condition and results of operations was not material

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, which requires companies to recognize costs associated
with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or
disposal plan. This Statement is effective prospectively for exit or disposal activities initiated after Decem-
ber 31, 2002. Management does not expect this Statement to have a material impact on Humboldt’s financial
condition or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, which provides three alternative methods of
transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation.
In addition, this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require more prominent
disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and the impact on reported financial results. Finally, this Statement amends APB
Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, 10 require disclosure about those effects in interim financial
information. This Statement is effective for fiscal and interim periods ending after December 15, 2002.
Humboldt has elected to adopt the prospective transition method effective January 1, 2003 and, accordingly,
compensation expense will be recognized for any stock options granted on or after that date. The unvested
portion of stock aptions granted prior te January 1, 2003 will continue to be accounted for under the provisions
of APB Opinion No. 25. Management does not expect this Statement to have a material impact on
Humboldt’s financial condition or results of operations in 2003. Since the method of determining the value of
stock options prescribed under SFAS No. 123 is based on a valuation model that relies upon factors that are
beyond Humboldt’s control, such as stock price volatility and market interest rates, Management is not able to
accurately predict the cost of options that may be granted in the future and the resulting impact on
Humboldt’s financial condition and results of operations. Additional information regarding stock options is
contained in Notes 1 and 17 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in Humboldt’s 2003
Proxy Statement.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN 45, which elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a
guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it
has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of the guarantee, a
liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and
initial measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applied prospectively to guarantees issued or modified
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after December 31, 2002. The adoption of these recognition provisions will result in recording liabilities
associated with certain guarantees provided by the Bank, including standby letters of credit. The disclosure
requirements of this Interpretation are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending
after December 15, 2002. Management does not expect this Interpretation to have a material impact on
Humboldt’s financial condition or results of operations.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarifies the application of Accounting Research
Bulletin (“ARB”) 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, to certain entities (called variable interest entities)
in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support
from other parties. The disclosure requirements of this Interpretation are effective for all financial statements
issued after January 31, 2003. The consolidation requirements apply to all variable interest entities created
after January 31, 2003. In addition, public companies must apply the consolidation requirements to variable
interest entities that existed prior to February 1, 2003 and remain in existence as of the beginning of annual or
interim periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Management is currently assessing the impact of FIN 46, and
does not expect this Interpretation to have a material impact on Humboldt’s financial condition or results of
operations, The Bank has investments in two limited partnerships that operate qualified multi-family
affordable housing projects and generate tax credits. The Bank’s interest in these partnerships was approxi-
mately $945,000 at December 31, 2002. The assets and liabilities of these partnerships consist primarily of
apartment complexes and related debt. The Bank accounts for the investments under the equity method, and
therefore the carrying value approximates its underlying equity in the net assets of the partnerships.
Management believes that these two limited partnerships could be defined as variable interest entities and,
therefore, be required to consolidate for all reporting periods after June 15, 2003. Additional information
regarding investments in limited partnerships is provided in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. '

Income Statement Summary

For the year ended December 31, 2002, net income was $12.3 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, and net
income from continuing operations was $12.5 million, or $0.96 per diluted share. The results of continuing
operations produced a return on average assets of 1.27% and a return on average shareholders’ equity of 17.6%.
For 2001, Humboldt recognized a net loss of $7.0 million, or $0.54 per diluted share, and net income from
continuing operations of $7.0 million, or $0.54 per diluted share. The loss from discontinued operations for
2001 was related to the wind-down of Humboldt’s leasing subsidiary, and totaled $14.0 million, or $1.08 per
diluted share. The results of continuing operations for 2001 reflect the impact of certain expenses associated
with Humboldt’s merger with Tehama Bancorp. Excluding these costs on an after-tax basis, the net income
from continuing operations for 2001 was $9.7 million. Net income and net income from continuing operations
for 2000 were both $9.0 million, or $0.71 per diluted share.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the most significant source of Humboldt’s operating income. Net interest income
for 2002 totaled $46.7 million, an increase of $8.9 million, or 23%, over 2001. Net interest income for 2001
totaled $37.8 million, an increase of $3.2 million, or 9% over 2000.

The banking industry uses two key ratios to measure relative profitability of net interest revenue. The net
interest rate spread measures the difference between the average yield on earning assets and the average rate
paid on interest bearing liabilities. The interest rate spread ignores the beneficial impact of non-interest
bearing deposits and capital, and provides a direct perspective on the effect of market interest rate movements.
The net interest margin is defined as net interest income as a percent of total average earning assets, which
includes the positive impact of obtaining a portion of the funding for earning assets with non-interest bearing
deposits and capital.
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Table 1 presents, for the years indicated, condensed average balance sheet information for Humboldt,
together with interest income and vields earned on average interest-earning assets and interest expense and
rates paid on average interest-bearing liabilities.

Table 1 — Average Rates and Balances
Year ended December 31, 2000 Year ended December 31, 2001 Year ended December 31, 2002

Interest Average Interest Average Interest Average
Average  Income or Yields or  Average Income or Yields or  Average  Income or Yields or
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

(Dollars in thousands)
Interest-earning assets: -
Loans........... ... ... .. $503,877 48,562 9.64% $616,139 $55,971 9.08% $711,842 $56,010 7.87%

Investment securities:
Taxable securities........... 110,809 7,664 6.92% 111,825 7,125 6.37% 153,025 6,871 4.49%
Nontaxable securities(1) ... .. 31,529 1,557 4.94% 30,131 1,571 5.21% 27,293 1,425 5.22%
Interest on deposit in other banks 738 49 6.64% 1,270 30 2.36% 1,103 39 3.54%
Federal funds sold ............ 25,784 1,684 6.53% 42,077 1,468 % - - -
Total interest-earning
assets(2) ... 672,737  $59,516 8.85% 801,462 $66,165 8.26% 893,263 $64,345 7.20%
Cash and due from banks ........ 46,737 59,658 51,787
Premises and equipment, net .. ... 13,976 19,043 17,086
Loan loss allowance ,............ (7,721) (9,371) (10,569)
Other assets .........covvvvnn.s 42,500 45,275 31,943
Total assets ..ot $768,229 $916,067 $983,510

Interest-bearing liabilities;

Interest-bearing checking & :
savings accounts ............ $182,240 $ 4,596 2.52% $251,780 $ 6,513 2.59% $306,147 $ 3,362 1.10%

Time deposit and Ira accounts .. 318,750 18,558 3.82% 341,677 18,690 5.47% 277,847 10,270 3.70%
Borrowed funds............... 22,642 1,728 7.63% 49,104 3,138 6.39% 81,218 4,005 4.93%
Total interest-bearing liabilities 523,632 $24,882 475% 642,561  $28,341 441% 665,212 $17,637 2.65%
Noninterest-bearing deposits. ... 172,022 184,762 221,964
Other liabilities. .............. 10,024 20,704 26,005
Total liabilities ............. 705,678 848,027 913,181
Stockholders’ equity . .......... 62,551 68,040 70,329
Total liabilities & stockholders
equity . .. ... $768,229 $916,067 $983,510
Net interest income .. ......... $34,634 $37.824 $46,708
Net Interest Spread ............. . 4.10% 3.85% 4.55%
Average yield on average earning
assets{1) ... ... i, 8.85% 8.25% 7.20%
Interest expense to average earning
ASSEES ...t 3.70% 3.54% 1.97%
Net interest margin(3) .......... 5.15% 1% 5.23%

I
H
|

. (1) Tax-exempt income has not been adjusted to its tax-equivalent basis. Net interest margin on a fully
taxable basis, for 2000, 2001 and 2002 was 5.26%, 4.81%, and 5.31% respectively.

(2) Nonaccrual loans are included in the average balance.
(3) Net interest margin is computed by dividing net interest income by total average earning assets.

Humboldt’s net interest margin for 2002 was 5.23%, an increase of 52 basis points over 2001. This was a
result of a combination of factors that allowed the cost of interest bearing liabilities to be reduced by 176 basis
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points, while the yield on average earning assets declined by only 106 basis points. After an evaluation was
conducted during the fourth quarter of 2001, management decided to stop offering premium rate certificates of
deposit at certain branches that had historically obtained most of their funding by that method. As a result of
this change, a substantial portion of the premium rate certificates of deposit did not remain with the Bank after
maturity and average certificates of deposit outstanding for 2002 decreased by approximately $64 million, or
19%, from the prior period. This outflow was funded principally by a reduction in federal funds sold from an
average outstanding balance of $42 million in 2001 to zero in 2002, and a combination of long and short-term
FHLB borrowings. Management also aggressively lowered rates on interest bearing transaction accounts
during 2002, resulting in a reduction in the average rate paid by 149 basis points from the prior year, while
short-term market rates remained relatively flat until November 2002.

The reduction in the average yield on earning assets for 2002 was partially mitigated by the initiation of a
hedging strategy during the first quarter of 2002, proactive management of the Bank’s investment securities
portfolio and disciplined loan pricing. The hedging strategy involved utilizing interest rate swap contracts to
synthetically convert $50 million of the Bank’s loan portfolio from floating to fixed rates. For 2002, the interest
income on loans reflects $695,000 related to the loan portfolio hedging contracts, resulting in an increase in the
average yield on loans of approximately 10 basis points. During the second quarter of 2002, management
conducted a comprehensive review of the Bank’s securities portfolio, of which over one-third of the
investments are mortgage-related (see Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information). This review resulted in the sale of approximately $41 million of securities which
management believed would not perform well under the expected market rate environment. A like amount of
similar securities was purchased to replace those sold, with an increased duration of approximately 3 years,
allowing for an improvement in the overall yield on investment securities. The loan pricing discipline utilized
by Humboldt includes negotiating for a risk-appropriate rate on all loans, including caps and floors on
adjustable rate loans when possible, and using market-based tools to establish target rates on fixed rate loans of
three years or more,

During 2001, the Federal Reserve lowered short-term market interest rates a record 11 times, reducing
the target federal funds rate by 475 basis points over the course of the year. Humboldt’s margin for 2001 was
4.71%, a decrease of 44 basis points from 2000. The average yield on earning assets declined by 59 basis points
during 2001, principally due the downward repricing of Humboldt’s adjustable rate loans, which lowered the
average yield on loans by 56 basis points, cash flows from investment securities reinvested at lower market
rates, and a 63% increase in the average federal funds sold balance at an average rate of 304 basis points lower
than 2000. During the first three quarters of 2001, management did not aggressively lower the offering rates on
certificates of deposit or rates paid on interest bearing transaction accounts given the level of uncertainty with
respect to potential customer reaction. As a result, the average cost of interest bearing liabilities declined by
only 34 basis points during 2001. As described above, a more aggressive position with respect to deposit rates
was adopted during the fourth quarter of 2001 and full year 2002.

The most significant impact on Humboldt net interest income between periods is derived from the
interaction of changes in the volume of and rate earned or paid on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities. The volume of interest-earning asset dollars in loans and investments, compared to the volume of
interest-bearing liabilities represented by deposits and borrowings, combined with the spread, produces the
changes in the net interest income between periods. Table 2 sets forth, for the years indicated, a summary of
the changes in net interest income due to changes in average asset and liability balances (volume) and
changes in average interest rates (rate). Changes in interest income and expense, which are not attributable
specifically to either volume or rate, are allocated proportionately between both variances.




Table 2 — Rate/Volume Analysis

2001 compared to 2000 2002 compared to 2001
Increase/ (Decrease) Increase/ {Decrease)
in interest income and expense in interest income and expense
due to changes in ' due to changes in
Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total

(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Income Attributable To:

LOans . . cvie e e e $10,199  $(2,790) $7,409 §$ 7,529 $ (7.490) § 39
Investment securities ........ e (24) (501) (525) 1,702 (2,102) $ (400)
Balance due from banks .......... ... ... ... .. 13 (32) (19) (5 14 3 9
Federal fundssold ........ ... ... . ... ..... 568 (784) (216) — (1,468) $ (1,468)
Total increase(decrease) ...t 10,756 (4,107) 6,649 9,226 (11,046) (1,820)
Interest Expense Attributable To:
Interest-bearing checking & savings accts....... 1,799 118 1,917 597 (3,748) (3,151)
Time Deposits & IRA accounts ............... 1,254 (1,122) 132 (2,389) (5,852) (8,241)
Borrowed Funds ............... ... ... ..... 1,691 (281) 1410 1,533 (8453) 688
Total increase(decrease) ................... 4,744 (1,285) 3,459 (259)  (10,443)  {10,704)
Total Change in Net Interest . ............c..... $ 6,012 $(2,822) $3,190 $ 9,485 $ (601) $ 8.884

Provision for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses was $3.3 million in 2002, compared with $2.9 million in 2001 and
$2.5 million in 2000. As a percentage of average outstanding loans, the provision for loan losses recorded for
2002 was 0.47% of average loans, a decrease of three basis points over 2001 and 2000. Net loan charge-offs as
a percentage of average outstanding loans for 2002 were 0.21%, compared with 0.24% for 2001 and 0.33% for
2000. The increase in the provision for loan loss in 2002 is primarily attributed to growth in the loan portfolio
and management’s concern about the increased potential for deterioration of real estate values in the Bank’s
principal market areas. The provision for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of inherent risks in
the loan portfolio and the corresponding analysis of the allowance for loan losses. Additional discussion on loan
quality and the allowance for loan losses is included in the Asser Quality section of this Report.

Non-interest Income

Non-interest income is a significant source of revenue for Humboldt, representing 28%, 31%, and 29% of
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively. Total non-interest income
for 2002 was $26.1 million, a decrease of $3.6 million, or 12%, from 2001. Non-interest income for 2001 was
$29.7 million, an increase of $6.9 million, or 30%, over 2000. Table 3 presents the components of non-interest
income for 2000, 2001, and 2002.
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Table 3 — Non-interest income

Years Ended December 31,
2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

Fees and Other Income:

Merchant credit card processing fees ...................... $12316 $16484 $16,916
Lease residuals and rentals .......... ... . ... ... ...... 927 832 405
Credit card program fees . ........... ... .. ... ... . ... ... 259 252 29
Fees for cuStomer SEIVICES . . oo v in e cee e eean e 449 992 684
Earnings on life insurance ... ... ... .. ... i 433 875 814
ATM Funding Income .. ......... ... i, 3,081 2,983 825
Loan and lease servicing fees ............ ... ............. 552 363 (413)
Other (none exceeding 1% of revenues) ................... 1,037 1,950 798
19,054 24,731 20,058

Service charges on deposit accounts ... .................... 3,236 3,521 3,030
Netgainonsaleofloans ....... ... ... ... ... ........... 691 1,269 2,172
Net investment securities (loss)/gain...................... (117) 206 887
Total Other INCOME . ...\ o vt e $22,864  $29,727  $26,147

Merchant bankcard revenue has been Humboldt’s largest source of non-interest income. Merchant
bankcard revenue for 2002 totaled $16.9 million, an increase of $432,000, or 3%, over 2001. Merchant
bankcard revenue for 2002 included $1 million related to a fee paid by iPayment Holdings, Inc. during the
fourth quarter related to iPayment’s decision to terminate a definitive agreement for the purchase of
Humboldt’s proprietary merchant bankcard business. Also during the fourth quarter of 2002, Humboldt
recognized a reduction in merchant bankcard revenue when approximately $773,000 was paid to certain
independent contractors in consideration for the elimination of any future residual commissions. Following a
modification of the terms of an agreement with a merchant processing 1SO, Humboldt recorded merchant
bankcard revenue of $3.6 million during 2001. The agreement, which was negotiated as part of Humboldt’s
ongoing merchant services risk management process, provided for payment of this non-recurring fee in
consideration for providing the ISO with the ability to transfer processing of its merchant accounts to another
financial institution. On March 13, 2003, Humboldt completed the sale of its proprietary merchant bankcard
business as described in Note 25 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

A significant source of non-interest income for Humboldt is service charges and fees on deposit accounts.
Total deposit service charges and fees for 2002 were $3.0 million, as compared with $3.5 million in 2001 and
$3.2 million 2000. Fees related to Humboldt’s ATM funding operation were $3.1 million, $2.9 million, and
$825,000 for 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively. During the first quarter of 2002, Humboldt conducted an
evaluation of the risk-return relationship of ATM funding in light of a $1.4 million pre-tax loss recorded
during the fourth quarter 2001 in connection with the theft of ATM cash. Management has decided that
alternative uses of the ATM funding cash, such as funding loans, would provide a more acceptable risk-
adjusted return. Accordingly, the ATM funding operation was terminated during the third quarter of 2002. In
2002, the amount of ATM funding income included in service charges was reclassified separately to ATM
funding income for consistency of presentation.

Net gains on the sale of loans, which include residential real estate and SBA loans, totaled $691,000,
$1.3 million, and $2.2 million for years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002 respectively. Loans sold
totaled $63 million, $130 million, and $273 million for years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002,
respectively. The increases during 2001 and 2002 are principally attributable to growth in the Bank’s SBA
lending division, which is currently ranked among the top originators in Northern California. The Bank also
generally sells the guaranteed portion of SBA loans and retains the servicing, with the capitalized value of the
servicing asset included as part of the gain on sale. A valuation allowance of approximately $600,000 was
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recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002 based on the fair value of the SBA servicing asset. No valuation
allowance was recorded at December 31, 2001.

During the third quarter of 2002, the Bank sold its residential mertgage loan servicing portfolio to a third
party for cash consideration of $2.4 million. The Bank recognized a loss, net of selling-related costs, of
approximately $259,000 in connection with this sale. Subsequent to the sale, the Bank adopted a program
whereby the residential mortgage loans are sold on a “servicing released” basis.

During 2002, the Bank’s branch facilities in Loleta and Willow Creek, California were sold and an
aggregate loss of $130,000 was recognized. The Loleta branch was permanently closed and customer accounts
transferred to the Fortuna branch. The sale of the Willow Creek facility included a leaseback of a portion of
the building, which continues to serve as a branch office. During 2001, a building that served as the
administrative office for Capitol Thrift & Loan was sold as the operation was being consolidated. A gain of
$615,000 was recognized in connection with the sale.

Non-Interest Expense

Total non-interest expense for 2002 was $52.6 million, a decrease of $1.3 million, or 2%, from 2001. The
primary reasons for this decrease were the recognition of approximately $3.5 million of expenses related to the
Tehama merger and a $1.4 million loss related to the theft of ATM cash recognized during 2001. Non-interest
expense for 2001 was $53.9 million, an increase of $12.3 million, or 30% over 2000. This increase is principally
attributed to the merger-related expenses and theft loss described above, recognition of a full-year of expenses
related to Capitol Thrift & Loan (which was acquired in April 2000), and staff and facilities additions to
facilitate growth of Humboldt’s Bank and Merchant Bankcard operatrons

Table 4 presents the components of non-interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2000, 200t
and 2002.

Table 4 — Non-interest expense
Years Ended December 31,

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands) o
Salaries and employee benefits ........... ... ... .. ... .. .... $21,662 $25,612  $25,247
Net occupancy and equipment €Xpense . ... ............c...... 5,039 5,875 6,492
Merchant credit card program..... ... .. ... ... .. ... 4,733 5,599 6,393
Professional and other outside services....................... 1,871 2,609 3,954
Stationery, supplies and postage ......... . ... . ... . 1,160 1,588 1,572
Telephone and travel ........ ... .. ... ... .. i i 1,260 1,534 1,756
Amortization of core deposit intangible ...................... 684 876 565
Data processing and ATM fees.......... ... ... ... ... .. ... 565 874 801
AQVETHSING . . . . oot ‘ 473 531 580
Other (none exceeding 1% of revenues) ...............c.on.. - 4,036 5,245 5,198
Merger related items . ... .. o — 3,531 —
TOtal EXPEISES . . o oottt e $41,483  $53,874  $52,558

Salaries and employee benefits were relatively unchanged from 2001 to 2002. Increased healthcare
insurance costs and merit increases were offset by staffing reductions realized through completion of the
Tehama merger integration and bank charter consolidation initiative. Salary and employee benefit expense
increased by $4.0 million, or 18%, during 2001. This increase is principally attributable to an increase in the
accrual for certain employment contracts that provide two executives with a phantom equity ownership in the
Bank’s proprietary merchant bankcard operation, staff additions to accommodate growth, increased healthcare
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insurance costs, and the acquisition of Capitol Thrift & Loan (9 months of expense recognized in 2000 versus
12 months in 2001).

Net occupancy and equipment expense increased by $617,000, or 11%, from 2001 to 2002. This increase
is principally attributable to premises and equipment related expenses associated with Humboldt’s operations
center facility in Eureka, California. This facility, and related equipment assets, was placed into service during
the first and second quarters of 2001 and, consequently, a full year of expense was recognized in 2002. This
increase in occupancy and equipment related expense of $836,000, or 17%, from 2000 to 2001 was principally
attributable to increased costs associated with the Eureka operations center and recognition of a full-year of
occupancy expense related to the Capitol Thrift & Loan facilities.

Merchant bankcard expense increased by $794,000, or 14% during 2002 and $866,000, or 18%, during
2001. The increase for 2002 is principally attributable to growth in transaction processing volumes and
increased amortization expense related to a merchant portfolio acquired during the third quarter of 2001. The
increase for 2001 is principally attributable to growth in transaction processing volumes.

Professional and other outside services expense for 2002 was $4.0 million, an increase of $1.3 million, or
52%, over 2001. The increase is due primarily to professional fees associated with the formation of
HB Investment Trust, professional fees related to the bank charter consolidation initiative, legal fees
associated with the planned sale of the merchant processing division, increased accounting fees associated with
the restatement of Humboldt’s financial results for 1999 through 2001, and legal expenses related to ATM-
related litigation that was settled during the fourth quarter of 2002. Management does not expect these
expenses to be of a recurring nature.

During the first quarter of 2001, Humboldt incurred $3.5 million of expenses in connection with the
completion and integration of the merger with Tehama Bancorp. Table 5 sets forth the major components of
the merger-related charge. 4

Table 5 — Merger-related items
Dollars in thousands

Severance & related .. ... .. ... $ 655
Professional fees .. ... ... . . 1,664
Fixed asset disposals .. ... ... i 443
SyYStem CONVETSIONS . .o .\ttt e ettt e e et e 262
Oher 509

Total .o e ' $3,531

Significant steps were taken during 2002 to improve Humboldt’s operating efficiency. The consolidation
of bank charters, which was completed during the second quarter of 2002, resulted in a reduction of board-
related expense of approximately $500,000. Further, significant steps were taken during 2002 to rationalize the
Bank’s franchise footprint, resulting in the closure of branches in Covina, Lodi, Loleta and San Diego and the
sale of branches in Lancaster and Riverside. Annual operating expense savings in excess of $500,000 is
expected in connection with these sales and closures. Humboldt’s efficiency ratio for 2002 was 71.56%, an
improvement of 155 basis points from 2001.

Income Taxes

Humboldt’s effective income tax rate as a percentage of pre-tax income for 2002 was 26.1%, as compared
to 35.2% in 2001 and 33.0% in 2000. The effective tax rates were below the expected statutory federal rate of
34.0% and the state franchise tax rate of 7.1% (net of the federal benefit), principally, because of exemptions
for Enterprise Zone loans for state tax purposes, exemptions for municipal obligations for. federal purposes,
exemptions for municipal obligations for federal purposes, low income housing tax credits, bank owned life
insurance and other permanent differences. The decrease in the effective tax rate during 2002 was due in part
to a reduction in the state franchise tax resulting from the formation of and contribution of assets to HB
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Investment Trust, a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) subsidiary of the Bank. The increase in the
effective tax rate for 2001 was due to the tax treatment of certain merger-related expenses, which were not
deductible.

Balance Sheet Overview

Total assets at December 31, 2002 were $1.03 billion, an increase of $73 million, or 8%, from year-end
2001. Total assets at December 31, 2001 were $959 million, an increase of $106 million, or 12%, from the prior
year-end. Most of the asset growth experienced during 2002 and 2001 was in loans, which grew by $96 million
and $81 million, respectively.

Investment Securities

The composition of Humboldt’s investment securities portfolio reflects management’s investment
strategy of maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity while providing a relatively stable source of interest
income. The investment securities portfolio also provides a means of balance with respect to interest rate and
credit risk inherent in the loan portfolio, while providing a vehicle for the investment of available funds, a
source of liquidity (by pledging as collateral or through repurchase agreements) and collateral for certain
public funds deposits.

Humboldt’s investment securities portfolio is managed based on a “total return” concept, that takes into
consideration the yield on individual securities and the market value appreciation under various interest rate
scenarios at specified future time horizons. The portfolio has, historically, been comprised principally of
mortgage-related securities (generally about two-thirds of the total) and bank-qualified municipal obligations.
The mortgage-related securities include both pooled mortgage-back issues and high-quality CMO structures,
with an average duration in the range of three to five years. These mortgage-related securities provide yield
spread to US Treasury or Agency securities; however, the cash flows arising from them can be volatile (even
in the best structures) due to refinancing of the underlying mortgage loans. The historically low mortgage
interest rates experienced during 2002 resulted in the acceleration of cash flows from the mortgage-related
securities, which were then reinvested in similar securities at current market rates. The structure of most of
the mortgage-related securities provides for minimal extension risk in the event of increased market rates.

During both 2002 and 2001, management actively reviewed the investment securities portfolio on a
regular basis in light of declining market interest rates, the shape of the yield curve, and Humboldt’s
comprehensive asset/liability management program. As a result of these reviews, certain securities were sold
during 2002 and 2001 that, in management’s opinion, were unlikely to perform well given expected market
rates. The proceeds received in connection with the sales were used to purchase additional securities of
approximately the same amount as those sold.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, a single $15 million short-term US Agency security was purchased to
provide as collateral for Humboldt’s ISO merchant processing through VISA. Management expects the
collateral obligation will expire during the second quarter of 2003 in connection with the termination of a
specific ISO processing agreement. Equity securities at December 31, 2002 consisted principally of stock in
the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco. Humboldt did not have any corporate debt obligations as of
December 31, 2002. Other securities at December 31, 2002 included a $3 million Class-C lease-backed
obligation issued by an affiliate of Bancorp Financial Services, Inc. in March 2000 for which there is no active
market. No cash flows of principal or interest have been received for this security since the second quarter of
2001, when certain technical defaults required the redirection of all cash flows to the senior tranche holders
until they are paid in full, and no interest has been accrued since that time. Management expects that the
underlying collateral will provide for the return of the principal balance of this security by December 31, 2005.

At December 31, 2002, the fair value of Humboldt’s investment securities totaled $181 million, an
increase of $9 million, or 5%, over the prior year-end. All investment securities were classified as “available for
sale” at December 31, 2002 and 2001. The difference between the fair value and amortized cost is recorded,
net of tax, in the Other Comprehensive Income section of stockholders’ equity. Table 6 provides information
as to the composition of Humboldt’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002.

28




Table 6 — Investment securities composition*

U.S. Treasury and agencies
Three months or less .. ..
Three to twelve months ..
One to three years.......
Three to five years. ... ...
Five to fifteen years......

CMO and MBS
Three months or less .. ..
Three to twelve months . .
One to three years.......
Three to five years.......
Five to fifteen years......
Qver fifteen years

Obligations of political

subdivisions

Three months or less . ...
Three to twelve months . .
One to three years.......
Three to five years.......
Five to fifteen years... ...
Over fifteen years

Corporate debt & other

securities

Three months or less .. ..
Three to twelve months ..
One to three years.......
Three to five years.......
Five to fifteen years. ... ..
Over fifteen years
Equity securities

Total securities

December 31, 2000

December 31, 2061

December 31, 2002

Approx

Amortized Market

Cost Value
$ L1512 § 1,512
10,506 10,418
342 341
12,136 12,133
32,116 33,216
16,918 17,451
15,008 13,860
430 430
264 270
1,627 1,683
6,057 6,258
21,674 22,407
3,327 3,530
1,304 1,304
5,552 5,693
4,116 4,167
3,876 3,981
731 731
$137,496 $139,385

Approx Approx

% Amortized Market % Amortized Market
Yield Cost Value Yield Cost Value

(Dollars in thousands)

— $ 1,000 § 1,008 6.17% — —
5.51% — — —  $16,714 §$ 16,734
6.58 1,525 1,560 4.27 1,044 1,072

— 247 244 427 544 562

546 558
7.49 656 658 578 — —
6.45 21,547 21,910  5.17 — —
6.62 37,682 38,155 551 — —
6.60 45,892 45,439 5.19 5,967 6,212
6.89 21,434 21,227  6.29 96,746 99,199

— 3,627 3,327  7.26 17,896 18,108
6.82 720 720 8.27 — —
8.65 1,047 1,068  8.96 593 604
7.90 2,289 2,409  9.02 3,064 3,180
7.79 3,220 3,281 7.35 1,320 1,416
7.62 18,692 19,362  8.29 21,936 23,573
7.99 3,304 3,342 8.09 1,482 1,594
5.25 — — — — —
7.77 — — — 3,031 2,911
9.02 6,931 6,611 10.34 —
7.49 569 577 6.36 — —

— 625 625 7.80 — —
6.83 950 950 5.00 5748 5748
6.97% $171,957 $172,473 6.16% $176,631 $181,471

%
Yield

1.54%
3.19
3.62
3.83

5.83
3.55
4.51

o
I 81

o
& |
vt

(s}
=
LA
R

I

* Weighted average yields are stated on a federal tax-equivalent basis of 34%, and have been annualized,

where appropriate.

Loans

Total loans at December 31, 2002 were $762 million, an increase of $98 million, or 15%, over the prior
year-end. On an average basis, total loans outstanding during 2002 were $712 million, an increase of
$96 million, or 16%, over 2001. The loan growth experienced during 2002 and 2001 is attributed to the
generally strong economic conditions in Humboldt’s principal market areas, some of which are among the
fastest-growing areas in the state of California.

Humboldt’'s loan portfolio consists of commercial real estate, residential real estate, commercial &
industrial and consumer loans. While no specific industry concentration is considered significant, Humboldt’s
lending operations are dependent on the local economy. Accordingly, a downturn in the regional economy
could adversely impact Humboldt’s borrowers. This could, in turn, reduce the demand for loans, adversely
impact the borrowers’ abilities to repay their loans and cause collateral values to decline.




Table 7 presents the composition of Humboldt’s loan portfolio at the dates indicated.

Table 7 — Loan pertfolio composition

As of December 31,
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
Type of Loan Amount Percentage Amount Percemtage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage

(Dollars in thousands)

Real estate secured loans:

Construction ............. $ 29,54] 9.68% $ 31,153 8.46% $ 43,597 7.58% §$ 63,021 9.97% $129,075 17.26%
Residential . .............. 73,899 24.23 80,596 21.89 108,411 18.85 109,559 16.80 105,647 14.13
Commercial & agricultural 91,979 30.15 125,702 34,14 273,047 47.47 316,571 48.54 343,957 46.00
Total real estate loans.... 195,419 64.06 237,451 64.50 425,055 73.90 491,151 75.31 578,679 77.39
Commercial . ............... 56,661 18.57 63,940 17.37 80,508 14.00 103,421 15.86 121,538 16.26
Lease financing ............. 18,612 6.10 23,414 6.36 15,818 2.75 4,633 0.71 2,387 0.32
Installment and Other ....... 41,833 13.71 49,822 13.53 63,601 11.06 64,394 9.87 59,144 7.91
Total loans . ............ 312,525 102.45 374,627 101.76 584,982  101.71 663,599  101.75 761,748 101.88
Less: '
- Deferred loan fees. ... (2341)  (07) 977)  (027)  (1473)  (0.26)  (1.621) (0:25) (2448} - (0.33)
" Allowance for loan losses . .. (5,136) (1.68) (5,502) (1.49) (8,367) (1.45) (9,765)  (1.50) (11,614) (1.55)

Loans receivable, net .... $305,048 100.00% $368,148 100.00% $575,142 100.00% $652.213 100.00% $747,686 100.00%

Humboldt’s real estate loans are generally secured by property in Humboldt’s primary market areas. At
December 31, 2002, the major components of the commercial real estate portfolio were owner-occupied
office/retail (48%), non-owner occupied office/retail (27%) and lodging (10%). As of December 31, 2002,
Humboldt’s 20 largest credit relationships consisted of loans and loan commitments ranging from $3.9 million
to $9.3 million, with an aggregate total credit exposure of $112 million. All of these credits have been
underwritten in a prudent manner and structured to minimize Humboldt’s potential exposure to loss.

Table 8 presents the maturity distribution of Humboldt’s commercial real estate, construction real estate,
residential real estate, and commercial portfolios and the sensitivity of such loans to changes in interest rates at
December 31, 2002,

Table 8 — Maturity of construction/commercial RE loans
Rate structure for
loans maturing

Maturity OVer one year
One year One through Over five Fixed Floating
or less five years years Total Rate Rate
(Dollars in thousands)
Commercial . ..................... $107,550 $12,962 $1,026  $121,538  $10,836  $3,152
Real Estate — Construction ........ 128,001 1,003 71 129,075 49 1,025
Total. ... ... . $235,551 $13,965 $1,097  $250,613  $10,885  $4,177

Loan Servicing

During 2002, Humboldt conducted a comprehensive review of its mortgage lending and servicing
operations. As a result of this review, which analyzed the revenue and expense associated with servicing, a
decision was made to discontinue the practice of selling residential mortgage loans with the servicing retained
and to originate and sell all conforming loans on a servicing-released basis. In connection with this evaluation,
the servicing rights associated with approximately $260 million of residential mortgage loans was sold during
the third quarter of 2002 for cash consideration. A pre-tax loss of $259,000 was recognized in connection with
this transaction. As of December 31, 2002, Humboldt had no servicing rights asset associated with residential
mortgage loans.

Humboldt sells the guaranteed portion of most Small Business Administration (“SBA”) loans it
originates to institutional investors. However, it retains the servicing on these loans in order to generate
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ongoing revenues and to retain local customer relationships. During the fourth quarter of 2002, Humboldt
recorded an impairment valuation reserve of approximately $600,000 in connection the SBA servicing rights
asset and the carrying value of the asset was $716,000 as of December 31, 2002,

Humboldt accounts for revenue from the sale of loans where servicing is retained in conformity with the
requirements of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguish-
ment of Liabilities. Humboldt records an asset representing the right to service loans for others when it sells a
loan and retains the servicing rights. The carrying value of loans is allocated between the loan and the servicing
rights, based on their relative fair values. Fair value is estimated by discounting estimated future cash flows
from the servicing assets using discount rates that approximate current market rates and using current
expected future prepayment rates. The servicing rights are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of,
estimated net servicing income, assuming prepayments.

Asset Quality and Non-Performing Assets

Humboldt manages asset quality and controls credit risk through diversification of the loan portfolio and
the application of policies designed to promote sound underwriting and loan monitoring practices. Humboldt’s
loan administration function is charged with monitoring asset quality, establishing credit policies and
procedures and enforcing the consistent application of these policies and procedures across the Bank. The
provision for loan losses charged to earnings is based upon management’s judgment of the amount necessary to
maintain the allowance at a level adequate to absorb probable losses. The amount of provision charge is
dependent upon many factors including loan growth, net charge-offs, changes in the composition of the loan
portfolio, delinquencies, management’s assessment of loan portfolio quality, general economic conditions that
can impact value of collateral, and other trends. The evaluation of these factors is performed by the Bank’s
Credit Administration Department through an analysis of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses.
Reviews of non-performing, past due loans and larger credits, designed to identify potential charges to the
allowance for loan losses, as well as determine the adequacy of the allowance, are conducted on a quarterly
basis. These reviews are performed by an independent third party and Bank staff, and consider such factors as
the financial strength of borrowers, the value of the applicable collateral, loan loss experience, anticipated loan
losses, growth in the loan portfolio, prevailing and anticipated economic conditions and other factors. There
were no significant changes in the estimation methods and assumptions used to determine the adequacy of the
allowance for loan losses during 2001 or 2002. Additional information regarding the methodology used in
determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses in contained in Part I of this Report in the section
titled “Lending and Credit Functions.”

Non-performing loans, which include nonaccrual loans and accruing loans past due over 90 days totaled
$3.6 million, or 0.48% of total loans, at December 31, 2002, as compared to $4.5 million, or 0.67% of total
loans, at December 31, 2001. Non-performing assets, which inciude non-performing loans and foreclosed real
estate, totaled $3.7 million, or 0.36% of total assets as of December 31, 2002, compared with $4.6 miilion, or
0.48% of total assets as of December 31, 2001.

Loans and leases, including impaired loans and leases, are classified as nonaccrual if collection of
principal or interest is considered doubtful, generally if they are past due as to maturity or payment of principal
or interest for a period of more than 90 days, unless such loans and leases are weli-secured and in the process
of collection. When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, interest previously accrued but not collected is
reversed against current interest income. Depending on management’s evaluation of the borrower and loan
collateral, interest on a nonaccrual loan may be recognized on a cash basis as payments are received. Loans
made to facilitate the sale of other real estate are made on terms comparable to loans of similar risk. There
were no commitments to lend additional funds to customers whose loans were on nonaccrual status at
December 31, 2002, Table 9 summarizes Humboldt non-performing assets for each of the last five years,




Table 9 — Non-Performing Assets
As of December 31,

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
{Dollars in thousands)
Loans on nonaccrual status ................. $ 365 $1,518  $1,434 $2,915 $ 3,054
Loans past due 90 days or more and accruing 918 899 2,373 1,560 561
Restructured loans .......... ... ... ....... — — — — —
Total nonperforming loans . ............. 1,483 2,417 3,807 4,475 3,615
Other real estate owned .................... 225 156 850 166 g8
Total nonperforming assets ............. $1,708  $2,573  $4,657 $4,641 $ 3,703
Allowance for loan losses . .................. $5,136  $5,502  $8,367 $9,765 $11,614
Asset quality ratios:
Non-performing assets to total assets......... 0.33% 040% 0.55%  0.43% 0.36%
Non-performing loans to total loans .. ........ 048% 0.65% 0.65% 0.67% 0.48%
Allowance for loan losses to total loans ....... 1.66% 1.47% 1.43% 1.47% 1.53%
Allowance for loan losses to total
non-performing assets . ................... 301% 214% 180% 210% 314%

At December 31, 2002, Humboldt had approximately $12 million of loans that were not classified as non-
performing but for which known information about the borrowers’ financial condition caused management to
have concern about the ability of the borrowers to comply with the repayment terms of the loans. These loans
were identified through the loan review process described above that provides for assignment of a risk rating
based on a nine-grade scale. Based on the evaluation of current market conditions, loan collateral, other
secondary sources of repayment and cash flow generation, management does not anticipate any significant
losses related to these loans. These loans are subject to continuing management attention and are considered
in the determination of the allowance for loan losses. A decline in the economic conditions in Humboldt’s
market areas or other factors could adversely impact individual borrowers or the loan portfolio in general.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that other loans will not become 90 days or more past due, be placed
on nonaccrual or transferred to other real estate owned in the future.

Allowance For Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses (“ALL”) totaled $8.4 million, $9.8 million, and $11.6 million as of
December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. The ALL as a percentage of total loans was 1.43%, 1.47%,
and 1.53% at December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 respectively. The ALL as a percentage of non-performing
assets as of December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002 was 180%, 210%, and 314%, respectively.
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Table 10 provides a summary of activity in the ALL by type of loan for the years indicated:

Table 10 — Summary of Loan Loss Experience

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
Bilance at beginning of year .. .......... $ 4076 $ 5136 $ 5502 § 8367 $ 9765
Loans and leases charged off: ‘
Real Estate ........... ... ... ..... (141) (67) (65) (33) (50)
Commercial .......... ... ... ..., (359)  (1,307) (287) (264) (941)
ConSUMer. ..ot ie e (25) (30) (28) (534) (641)
Lease financing . ....... ... ... ... .. (316) (148) (837) (905) (254)
Credit card and related accounts. ...... (1,750) (963) (697) (181) (243)
Other ... i (3) — (4) — (18)
Total loans and leases charged off ... (2,596)  (2,515)  (1,918)  (1,917)  (2,147)
Recoveries:
Real Estate ........................ — 98 19 11 31
Commercial ........................ 127 96 57 95 168
COnSUMEr. ..o e 8 S 6 105 267
Lease financing ....... ... ... . ..... 24 9 7 144 154
Credit card and related accounts. ... ... 257 302 159 57 42
Other ... ..o i, 3 — — — 13
-Total Recoveries .................. 419 510 248 412 675
Net charge-offs ........ .. ... ... ..... (2,177)  (2,005) (1,670}  (L,505) (1,472)
Changes incident to mergers ............ — — 2,000 — —
Provision charged to operations.......... " 3,237 2,371 2,535 2,903 3,321
Balance at end of year ................. $ 5,136 $ 53502 §$8,367 $9,765 §$11,614
Ratio of net charge-offs to average loans . . 0.73% 0.60% 0.33% 0.24% 0.21%
Ratio of provision to average loans....... 1.09% 0.72% 0.50% 0.47% 0.47%

Management believes that the ALL at December 31, 2002 is sufficient to absorb losses inherent in the
loan portfolio as of that date based on the best information available. This assessment involves uncertainty and
judgment; therefore, the adequacy of the ALL cannot be determined with precision and may be subject to
change in future periods. In addition, bank regulatory authorities, as part of their periodic examination of the
Bank, may require additional charges to the provision for loan losses in future periods if the results of their
review warrant.

Deposits

Total deposits were $840 million at December 31, 2002, an increase of $33 million, or 4%, over the prior
year-end. Total average deposits for 2002 were $806 million, an increase of $28 million, or 4%, over 2001.
Average demand deposit accounts were $222 million for 2002, an increase of $37 million, or 20%, over 2001.
This increase is principally attributed to an increase in deposits associated with Humboldt’s ISO merchant
processing business and new employee incentives designed to provide financial rewards for increasing deposit
levels for existing customers. Average time deposits for 2002 were $252 million, as compared with
$306 million for 2001, a decrease of $34 million, or 18%. This decrease was principally attributed to
management’s decision to discontinue the offering of premium rate retail certificates of deposit at the former
Capitol Thrift & Loan branches starting in the fourth quarter 2001. During 2002, the Bank experienced a
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reduction in such certificates of deposit of approximately $39 million. Table 11 sets forth the scheduled
maturities of time deposits of $100,000 and greater at December 31, 2002.

Table 11 — Maturities of Time Deposits of $100,000 and Greater

(Dollars in thousands)

Three months or 1€8S . .. ..o v e e e e $ 31,710
Three months to six monthS . ... ... . 16,247
Six months to One year . ......... it e 23,340
OVEr ONE VAT . o o ottt ee et e et e e e e e 31,446

Total oo $102,743

As of December 31, 2002, Humboldt had $76 million of brokered certificates of deposit outstanding, most
of which mature in less than one year. One brokered issuance, in the amount of $10 million, matures in June
2010. This deposit, which bears a fixed rate of 4.70%, was paired with an interest rate swap to convert the rate
to LIBOR plus 7 basis points on a variable basis. The certificate of deposit is callable at the Bank’s option and
the swap is callable by the counterparty after one year. Management expects that brokered certificates of
deposit will be used from time to time in the future as an alternative source of funding.

Table 12 sets forth the scheduled maturities of brokered certificates of deposit outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 2002.

Table 12 — Maturities of Brokered Certificates of Deposit

(Dollars in thousands)

Three months Or 1688 . .. oot e $
Three months to six months . ... ... ..o i, 55,558
Six months t0 ONe year . ... .. ..ot e 10,000
OVET ONE VAT . . . oottt e e 10,000
Total .o $75,558

Other Borrowings

At December 31, 2002, the Bank was a shareholder in the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco
(*“FHLB”). Through this affiliation, advances secured by investment securities and residential mortgage loans
totaling $63 million were outstanding as of year-end 2002 at rates comparable to time deposits or overnight
federal funds. Management expects continued use of FHLB advances as a source of short and long-term
funding. The FHLB advances outstanding at December 31, 2002 had fixed interest rates ranging from 1.52%
to 7.44%. Approximately $50 million, or 80%, of the FHLB advances mature prior to December 31, 2004.
Additional information regarding FHLB advances is provided in Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Humboldt had $20 million of Trust Preferred Securities outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2002.
The Trust Preferred Securities were issued by special-purpose subsidiaries of Humboldt as part of private
pooled offerings to institutional investors. Table 13 presents information about Humboldt’s Trust Preferred
Securities.
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Table 13 — Trust Preferred Securities

} Maturity Call
Issue Date Amount Rate Date Date
(Dollars in thousands)
March 2000 ...... ... .. ... $ 5,150 10.875% March 2030 March 2010
February 2001 ......... ... ... ... .. ..., $ 5,000 10.200%  February 2031 February 2011
December 2001 ...... ... ... ... ... $10,000 Floating® December 2031  December 2006

* Floating rate based on three-month LIBOR plus 360 basis points.

As of December 31, 2002, all of the Trust Preferred Securities outstanding qualified as Tier I capital for
regulatory purposes. Additional information regarding the terms of the Trust Preferred Securities is provided
in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 31, 2002, Humboldt Bancorp had an outstanding balance of $3.7 million on a revolving
credit facility that matures in October 2003. If not paid in full prior to maturity or refinanced through another
lender, any balance due at maturity will be ¢onverted into an amortizing term loan. Humboldt Bancorp had
outstanding at December 31, 2002 a balance of $1.3 million on an amortizing term loan. This loan has
monthly payments of principal and interest, and matures in October 2004. Humboldt Bancorp also had
outstanding as of December 31, 2002 a balance of approximately $202,000 on an amortizing term loan that
matures in April 2003.

BFS had, as of December 31, 2002, an obligation in the amount of approximately $1.2 million that is
structured so the sole source of repayment (of principal and interest) is cash flows arising out of retained
interest assets related to certain lease-backed securitizations. Since the retained interest assets were written-off
during the second quarter of 2001, this liability will eventually be recovered as a gain either as cash flows are
received in connection with the retained interests and passed to the lender, or when it is determined that the
cash flows from retained interests will not be sufficient to repay the debt.

Liquidity and Cash Flow

The objective of Humboldt’s liquidity management is to maintain the Bank’s ability to meet the day-to-
day cash flow requirements of its customers who either wish to withdraw funds or require funds to meet their
credit needs. Humboldt must manage its liquidity position to meet the needs of its customers while
maintaining an appropriate balance between assets and liabilities to meet the return on investment
expectations of its shareholders. Humboldt monitors the sources and uses of funds on a daily basis to maintain
an acceptable liquidity position. In addition to liguidity from core deposits and repayments and maturities of
loans and investments, the Bank can utilize established credit lines, sell securities under agreements to
repurchase, secure FHLB advances or purchase overnight Federal Funds.

Humboldt Bancorp is a company separate and apart from the Bank. It must provide for its own liquidity.
Substantially all of Humboldt Bancorp’s revenues are obtained from dividends declared and paid by the Bank.
There are statutory and regulatory provisions that could limit the ability of the Bank to pay dividends to
Humboldt Bancorp. Management believes that such restrictions will not have an impact on the ability of
Humboldt Bancorp to meet its ongoing cash obligations.

As disclosed in Humboldt’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, net cash provided by operating
activities was approximately $23 million during 2002. The major sources of cash provided by operating
activities are net income and the increase in interest payable and other liabilities. Net cash used in investing
activities of $97 million consisted primarily of a net increase in loans of $96 million and securities purchases of
$112 million funded largely by sales, maturities and pay downs of securities of $106 million. Net cash provided
by financing activities provided the remainder of funding sources for 2002. The $55 million of net cash
provided by financing activities consisted primarily of a $33 million net increase in deposits and a net increase
in borrowings of $24 million.
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As of December 31, 2002, the Bank had $23.5 million in available federal funds lines of credit and
approximately $88 million in secured borrowing availability from the FHLB. Humboldt Bancorp had
borrowing availability of $4.3 million under two lines of credit as of December 31, 2002. Commitments to
extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established
in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon
the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. Commitments to extend
credit, credit card arrangements, and standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2002 were approximately
$153 million, $14 million and $2 million respectively.

Management expects the Bank’s liquidity position to remain satisfactory during 2003. However, the
planned exit from the merchant processing business will have an adverse impact on liquidity, since
approximately $68 million of deposits held as merchant loss reserves will be transferred to other financial
institutions prior to March 2004. Management expects that wholesale funding sources, including brokered
certificates of deposit, will be used to replace these outflows on a short-term basis while initiatives to increase
core deposits are being implemented.

Capital Resources

Stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2002 was $78 million, an increase of $13 million, or 21%, from
December 31, 2001. The increase in stockholders’ equity during 2002 was principally due to the retention of
$11.3 million, or approximately 93% of net income for the year, and an increase in other comprehensive
income of approximately $3.0 million. Book value per share as of December 31, 2002 was $6.18.

The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System has issued guidelines for the implementation of
risk-based capital requirements by U.S. banks and bank holding companies. These risk-based capital
guidelines take into consideration risk factors, as defined by regulators, associated with various categories of
assets, both on and off balance sheet. Under the guidelines, capital strength is measured in two tiers, which are
used in conjunction with risk-adjusted assets to determine the risk based capital ratios. The guidelines require
an 8% total risk-based capital ratio, of which 4% must be Tier I capital. Humboldt’s Tier I capital, which
consists of stockholders’ equity and qualifying trust-preferred securities less other comprehensive income,
goodwill and deposit-based intangibles, totaled $88 million at December 31, 2002. Tier II capital components
include supplemental capital components such as a qualifying allowance for loan losses and qualifying
subordinated debt. Tier I capital plus Tier II capital components is referred to as Total Risk-based Capital,
and was $99 million at December 31, 2002. The percentage ratios, as calculated under the guidelines, were
10.18% and 11.43% for Tier I and Total Risk-based Capital, respectively, at December 31, 2002. A minimum
leverage ratio is required in addition to the risk-based capital standards and is defined as period end
stockholders’ equity and qualifying trust preferred securities, less other comprehensive income, goodwill and
deposit-based intangibles, divided by average assets as adjusted for goodwill and other intangible assets.

Although a minimum leverage ratio of 4% is required for the highest-rated bank holding companies
which are not undertaking significant expansion programs, the Federal Reserve Board requires a bank holding
company to maintain a leverage ratio greater than 4% if it is experiencing or anticipating significant growth or
is operating with less than well-diversified risks in the opinion of the Federal Reserve Board. The Federal
Reserve Board uses the leverage and risk-based capital ratios to assess capital adequacy of banks and bank
holding companies. Humboldt’s leverage ratios at December 31, 2001 and 2002 were 8.45%, and 8.73%,
respectively.

Humboldt initiated the payment of a quarterly cash dividend in June 2002 and paid total cash dividends
of $886,000 during 2002, Any decision to pay cash dividends in the future will be based on Humboldt’s results
of operations, growth expectations, financial condition, regulatory constraints and other factors considered
important by the Board of Directors.

All three of the capital ratios of the Bank currently exceed the minimum ratios required at December 31,
2002 as defined by federal regulation. Management monitors these ratios to ensure that the Bank remains
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within regulatory guidelines. Further information regarding the actual and required capital ratios of Humboldt
and the Bank is provided in Note 20 in the Notes to the Consoclidated Financial Statements

On February 6, 2002, Humboldt announced a common stock repurchase program that authorized the
repurchase of up to 600,000 shares of common stock in open market or private transactions. Table 14 below
presents the number of shares repurchased and average price paid for the first authorization during 2002:

Table 14 — Shares Repurchased
For the Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, Four
2002 2002 2002 2002 Quarters
Shares r¢purchased .................... 254,640 84,480 86,040 9,000 434,160
Average price paid .................... $ 831 $ 10095 $ 13.37 $10.91 $ 9.88

Additionally, on July 17, 2002, Humboldt announced a second common stock repurchase program that
authorized repurchase of up to 1.2 million shares of common stock in open market or private transacticns. No
shares were repurchased under the second authorization during 2002. Both of the repurchase programs may be
modified, suspended or terminated at any time without notice. The extent to which Humboldt repurchases its
shares and the timing of such purchases will depend upon market conditions and other corporate
considerations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The absolute level and volatility of interest rates can have a significant impact on Humboldt’s
profitability. The objective of interest rate risk management is to identify and manage the sensitivity of net
interest income to changing interest rates to achieve Humboldt’s overall financial objectives. Based on
economic conditions, asset quality and various other considerations, management establishes tolerance ranges
for interest rate sensitivity and manages within these ranges. Humboldt’s net interest income and the fair value
of its financial instruments are influenced by changes in the level of interest rates. Humboldt manages its
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates through policies established by Asset/Liability Management
Committee (“ALCO”). The ALCO meets periodically and has responsibility for developing asset/liability
management policy, formulating and implementing strategies to improve balance sheet positioning and/or
earnings and reviewing interest rate sensitivity. The Board of Directors reviews and approves the asset/liability
management policy on an annual basis and reviews the results of the interest rate risk analyses prepared for the
ALCO.

Management utilizes an interest rate simulation model to estimate the sensitivity of net interest income to
changes in market interest rates. Such estimates are based upon a number of assumptions for each scenario,
including the level of balance sheet growth, deposit repricing characteristics and the rate of prepayments.
Interest rate sensitivity is a function of the repricing characteristics of Humboldt’s interest earning assets and
interest bearing liabilities. These repricing characteristics are the time frames within which the interest
bearing assets and liabilities are subject to change in interest rates either at replacement, repricing or maturity
during the life of the instruments. Interest rate sensitivity management focuses on the maturity structure of
assets and liabilities and their repricing characteristics during periods of changes in market interest rates.
Effective interest rate sensitivity management seeks to ensure that both assets and liabilities respond to
changes in interest rates within an acceptable timeframe, thereby minimizing the impact of interest rate
changes on net interest income. Interest rate sensitivity is measured as the difference between the volumes of
assets and liabilities in Humboldt’s current portfolio that are subject to repricing at various time horizons:
immediate; one to three months; four to twelve months; one to five years; over five years, and on a cumulative
basis. The differences are known as interest sensitivity gaps. Table 15 sets forth interest sensitivity gaps for
these different intervals as of December 31, 2002.
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Table 15 — Interest Sensitivity Gap

Interest Sensitivity in Months
0to3 4 to 12 13 to 60 Qver 60 Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Earning Assets:

Netloans .............cooiiiiiiiiiai. $375,961  $132,664  $213,497 $ 26,912  $749,034
Investment securities ...t 16,566 45,433 97,511 21,961  $181,471
Interest-bearing deposits with banks......... 202 — — — 202
Total ... ... . e $392,729  $178,097 $311,008 $ 48,873  $930,707
Interest-Bearing Liabilities:
Interest-bearing deposits. .................. $239,274  $196,819 $ 77,174 $ 99,754  $613,021
Borrowings . ......... ... . i 3,822 36,786 26,722 2,527  $ 69,857
Trust Preferred Securities ................. — — — 20,150 20,150
Total ... . $243,096  $233,605 $103,896 $122,431  $703,028
Interest rate swap contracts . ............... $(50,000) $ — $ 40,000 $ 10,000 $ —
Interest rate sensitivity gap ................ $ 99,633 $(55,508) $247,112  $(63,558) $227,679
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap ...... $ 99,633 § 44,125 $291,237  $227,679
Cumulative Gap / total assets.............. 11% 5% 31% 24%

As shown in the preceding table, during the first year 68% of interest bearing liabilities will reprice
compared with 61% of all interest earning assets. Changes in the mix of earning assets or supporting liabilities
can either increase or decrease the net interest margin without affecting interest rate sensitivity. In addition,
the interest rate spread between an asset and its supporting liability can vary significantly while the timing of
repricing for both the asset and the liability remains the same, thus impacting net interest income. This
characteristic is referred to as basis risk and generally relates to the possibility that the repricing characteristics
of short-term assets tied to Humboldt’s prime lending rate are different from those of short-term funding
sources such as certificates of deposit. Varying interest rate environments can create unexpected changes in
prepayment levels of assets and liabilities that are not reflected in the interest rate sensitivity analysis. These
prepayments may have significant impact on Humboldt’s net interest margin. Because of these factors, an
interest sensitivity gap analysis may not provide an accurate assessment of Humboldt’s exposure to changes in
interest rates.

Humboldt utilizes an interest rate simulation model to monitor and evaluate the impact of changing
interest rates on net interest income. The estimated impact on Humboldt’s net interest income over a time
horizon of one year as of December 31, 2002 is indicated in Table 16. The interest rate simulation assumes a
parallel and sustained shift in market interest rates ratably over a twelve month period and no change in the
composition or size of Humboldt’s balance sheet. For example, the “up 200 basis points” scenario is based on
a theoretical increase in market rates of 16.7 basis points per month for twelve months. In addition, the
simulation includes the impact of $70 million in interest rate swap contracts that are described below,

Table 16

Increase (Decrease) in Net Interest Percentage
Scenario Income from Base Scenario Change
(Dollars in thousands)
Up 100 basis points .. ..ottt $ 472 1.0%
Up 200 basis points . .........ooviiieiiiiiiii $ 972 2.1%
Down 100 basis POints . . ... ovenereeee e $(631) (1.4)%

Based on the simulation model net income should increase slightly when rates increase and shrink
somewhat when rates fall. This is because of the concentration of variable rate and short-term loans in
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Humboldt’s portfolio. However, there can be no assurance that fluctuations in interest rates will not have a
material adverse impact on Humboldt.

_ To assist in achieving a desired level of interest rate sensitivity, Humboldt has entered into off-balance
sheet contracts that are considered derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments can be a
cost and capital effective means of modifying the repricing characteristics of on-balance sheet assets and
liabilities. The following table presents Humboldt’s derivative contracts as of December 31, 2002:

Issue Notional Rate Rate Maturity Hedge Hedged Fair

Date Amount Paid Received Date Type Instrument Value

January 2002 .. ..., ... $25,000 4.25%(1) 6.72%  January 2005 Cash Flow  Loans - 81,016
July 2002 ............ $25,000 4.25%(2) 6.30% July 2005 Cash Flow  Loans $ 829
December 2002 ... .... $10,000 1.45%(3) 4.50% June 2010 Fair Value  Callable CD $ 49
December 2001 ....... $10,000 8.42%(4) 4.98% December 2006 Cash Flow  Trust Preferred  $ (739)

(1) Variable rate based on prime

(2) Variable rate based on prime

(3) Variable rate based on LIBOR + 7 basis points
(4) Fixed rate

Additional information about the derivative instruments is provided in Note 11 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Humboldt records all derivative financial instruments at fair value on the balance sheet. Humboldt’s
derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value or cash flow hedges. Fair value hedges recognize
currently in earnings both the impact of change in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument and the
offsetting impact of the change in fair value of the hedged asset or liability. The change in fair value of cash
flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent that the derivative meets the value
correlation requirements for being considered “highly effective”. Management expects that all derivative
contracts will meet the requirements for classification as “highly effective” for the term of each contract.

Humboldt’s policy requires all derivative financial instruments be used only for asset/liability manage-
ment through the hedging of specific transactions or positions, and not for trading or speculative purposes.
Management believes that the risk associated with using derivative financial instruments to mitigate interest
rate risk sensitivity is minimal and should not have any material unintended impact on Humboldt’s financial
condition or results of operations.

Impact of Inflation, Deflation and Changing Prices

A financial institution’s asset and liability structure is substantially different from that of an industrial
firm in that primarily all assets and liabilities of a bank are monetary in nature, with relatively little
investments in fixed assets or inventories. Inflation has an important impact on the growth of total assets and
the resulting need to increase equity capital at higher than normal rates in order to maintain an appropriate
equity to assets ratio. Management believes the impact of inflation on financial results depends on Humboldt’s
ability to react to changes in interest rates and, by such reaction, reduce the inflationary impact on
performance. Humboldt has an asset/liability management program which attempts to manage interest rate
sensitivity. In addition, periodic reviews of banking services and products are conducted to adjust pricing in
view of current and expected costs.

With the continued economic weakness experienced by the US economy during 2002 and historically low
market interest rates, the potential for a deflationary economic environment has been publicized. Although the
Federal Reserve Bank has indicated that deflation is unlikely and that, if deflation were detected, swift action
would be taken to stimulate spending and the economy. During a period of deflation, prices fall and real short-
term interest rates are negative, and consumers and businesses generally tend to defer purchases of goods and
services waiting for prices to fall further, which can exacerbate recessionary conditions. A deflationary
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economic environment would adversely impact financial institutions, including Humboldt, through the decline
in demand for additional loans, contraction of the net interest margin and potentially higher loan losses.

Discontinued Operations

BFS was originally capitalized in 1996 with $2,000,000 contributions from both Humboldt Bancorp and
Tehama Bancorp. Upon the completion of the Tehama Bancorp merger in March 2001, Humboldt became
the sole shareholder of BFS. During the first quarter of 2001, Humboldt’s Board of Directors completed a
strategic review of BFS, which principally acquired and serviced small ticket leases on a nationwide basis. This
review was initiated in response to a number of factors, including the increased regulatory burden -associated
with BFS being a wholly owned subsidiary after completion of the Tehama Bancorp merger, future capital
needs of BFS to support its growth and reliance upon the lease-backed securities market for liquidity. As a
result of this review, Humboldt adopted a plan to discontinue the operations of BFS by sale of the company
and engaged an investment banking firm to facilitate the sale during the first quarter of 2001. A valuation
reserve of $700,000, net of tax, was recorded during the first quarter of 2001 based on an estimate of the value
of BFS as a going concern. The operating results of BFS are included, net of tax, in the income statement as
income (loss) from discontinued operations. During the second quarter of 2001 Humboldt was notified by the
investment banker that the prospects for the sale of BFS as a going concern were unlikely. In response,
Humboldt adopted a plan to wind-down the operations of BFS in an orderly manner. This plan included the
immediate termination of all lease and loan acquisition activities. In connection with the wind-down plan,
Humboldt recognized a loss on discontinued operations, net of tax, of $13.5 million during the second quarter
of 2001.

The following is a summary of the major components of the wind-down charge (dollars in thousands):

Write-off of retained interests/servicing assets . ... ..o vttt ittt $11,798
Provision for lease/loan 1oSSes .. ...ttt 4,679
Lease/loan market value adjustments .. ............ . . . it 1,580
Professional fees . . ... 470
Oher . . 1,315
Tax Effect . .. (5,848)
Total wind-down eXpense . ......... ittt $13,994

During the third quarter BFS sold approximately $5,800,000 of lease receivables to an unrelated third
party and paid down a like amount of bank debt. Since a valuation reserve was provided during the second
quarter, there was no gain or loss recorded on the sale. Humboldt Bancorp agreed to guarantee certain
representations and warranties with respect to the underlying leases subject to the sale. In addition, the
servicing responsibilities of BFS for approximately 5,400 leases under certain securitization servicing
agreements were transferred to a third party effective August 31, 2001.

As of December 31, 2001, BFS had total assets of $7,577,000, which included cash of $1,634,000, lease
receivables of $1,085,000, lease-backed notes of $4,143,000, deferred tax assets of $600,000 and other assets of
$115,000. Total liabilities as of December 31, 2001 were $8,992,000 and included, non-bank secured
borrowings of $5,960,000, security deposits of $1,242,000, lease and loan payment servicing liabilities of
$866,000, wind down accruals of $800,000 and other liabilities of $124,000. '

As of December 31, 2002, BFS had total assets of $993,000, which included cash of $568,000 and
deferred tax assets of $425,000. Total liabilities as of December 31, 2002 were $1,046,000, and included
security deposits of $1,025,000 and other liabilities of $21,000. These amounts are recorded net in other assets
as of December 31, 2002.

In addition to the assets of BFS, certain assets of Humboldt Bancorp which were acquired from or on
behalf of BFS were included as assets related to discontinued operations. During the fourth quarter of 2001,
Humboldt Bancorp agreed to assume certain debt of BFS, which was previously guaranteed, in exchange for
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ownership of approximately $7,000,000 of automobile loans that secured the borrowing. In addition,
Humboldt Bancorp agreed to repurchase approximately $2,000,000 of automobile loan contracts that were
originated by BFS and sold to an unaffiliated financial institution during the fourth quarter of 2001. As of
December 31, 2001, Humboldt Bancorp had net automobile loans acquired from BFS and repurchased from
third parties of approximately $9,000,000. During the second quarter of 2002, Humboldt Bancorp completed
the sale of the loans and certain balances previously charged-off to a third party.

As of December 31, 2001 BFS had borrowings from two unrelated non-bank lenders totaling $5,960,000.
Neither of these two borrowings was guaranteed by Humboldt Bancorp. One of the borrowings was originally
structured as a loan to an unconsolidated, bankruptcy-remote subsidiary of BFS as a commercial paper
conduit facility for funding the acquisition of lease contracts. This facility matured on March 31, 2001 and was
not extended by the lender. As of December 31, 2001, the balance outstanding on this loan was $884,000. This
loan was paid in full during the second quarter of 2002.

The second non-bank borrowing was obtained in February 2001 in connection with the issuance of term
leased-backed notes. The placement agent was able to place approximately $4,600,000 million of the Class C
leased-backed notes with a non-affiliated investor; however, due to certain restrictions contained in the
indenture, the transaction had to be structured as a secured borrowing. The result of the transaction on the
balance sheet of BFS was the establishment of an asset for the Class C leased-backed notes and a related
liability for $4,600,000. This secured borrowing agreement also contained a provision whereby BFS was
permitted, for a limited period of time, to retain the monthly principal and interest cash flows received on the
leased-backed notes. These retained cash flows were converted to a subordinated note secured by retained
interest assets of BFS. The principal portion of the cash flows was applied to reduce the $4,600,000 million
liability and along with the interest portion were added to the subordinated debt. As of December 31, 2001 the
Class C secured borrowing totaled $3,911,000 and the subordinated borrowing totaled $1,165,000.

During the first quarter of 2002, BFS and the non-affiliated investor executed an agreement whereby the
investor took certain actions that permitted the transfer of ownership of the Class C leased-backed notes to an
unrelated third party in satisfaction of the $3,911,000 of related debt. This agreement also provided for the
transfer of the $1,165,000 to a new subordinated loan in favor of the third party. This new subordinated loan
will bear interest at 12% compounded annually, with repayment of principal and interest tied solely to the
receipt, if any, of cash flows from retained interest cash flows received by BFS in the future. In the event no
cash flows are received from the retained interests, BFS has no further obligation under the terms of the loan
agreement and will recognize a pre-tax gain for the carrying amount of the loan. If cash flows from retained
interests are received, BFS will recognize a pre-tax gain for the amount received since the retained interest
assets are were written-off in June 2001,

During the second quarter of 2001, Humboldt guaranteed three BFS borrowings from two commercial
banks in consideration for modification of the loan terms and elimination of certain financial covenants.
During the fourth quarter of 2001, Humboldt directly assumed the three borrowings, two of which were
originally related to the financing of certain automobile loan contracts in the amounts of $6,422,000 and
$2,123,000, respectively, and a deficiency balance related to a loan that was previously secured by lease
contracts for $300,000. In connection with the assumption, the loan for $2,123,000 was modified in a manner
that the automobile loan contract collateral was released.

During the first quarter of 2002, Humboldt sold the automobile loan contracts to a third party and used
the proceeds to pay in full the loan that was secured by the contracts. (The unsecured deficiency balance loan
was paid in full during the fourth quarter of 2002. As of December 31, 2002, the remaining unsecured loan had
a balance of $1,356,000. This loan has scheduled monthly payments of principal and interest and matures in
October 2004. Additional information on these borrowings is included in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

During the second quarter of 2002, the remaining employees of BFS were terminated and operations
ceased. A loss on discontinued operations of $276,000, net of tax, was recorded during the second quarter. No
other gain or loss on discontinued operations was recorded during 2002.
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In conducting its business, BFS formed three subsidiaries that are considered “Special Purpose Entities”
or “SPEs.” These subsidiaries were formed in accordance with legal requirements and were, at formation, not
subject to consolidation on the financial statements of BFS.

Subsidiary Name Primary Purpose

BFS Funding Corporation Issuance of lease-backed notes funded by a commercial paper
conduit. The line of credit from the commercial paper conduit was
not renewed upon maturity in March 2001 and the subsidiary’s
assets and related debt were reconsolidated on to the balance sheet
of BFS.

BFS Funding Company, LLC Issuance of $75,000,000 of term lease-backed notes to institutional
investors in March 2000.

BFS Funding Company II, LLC Issuance of $60,058,000 of term lease-backed notes to institutional
investors in February 2001.

BFS Funding Company, LLC and BFS Funding Company I1, LLC are considered “qualifying” SPEs
under SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities.

All retained interest assets related to the lease-backed notes issued by BFS Funding Company LLC and
BFS Funding Company II, LLC were written off during the second quarter of 2001. At December 31, 2002,
Humboldt Bancorp owned the Class C notes issued in the 2000 securitization for which there is no active
market. The 2000 Class C lease-backed note were carried at a value of $3,031,000 as of December 31, 2002
and will not receive any payments of interest or principal until the holders of the Class A and Class B notes are
paid in full. Management expects that the principal and interest payments on the 2000 Class C lease-backed
notes will be received during 2004. As described above, during the first quarter of 2002, an agreement was
executed resulting in the transfer of the 2001 Class C lease-backed notes to an unaffiliated third party in
consideration for reduction of related debt owed to the purchaser. No gain or loss was recorded in connection
with the transfer.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information regarding this item is provided under the heading “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk” contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Item 7).
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries
(the Company) as of December 31, 2001, and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the two years then ended. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 2001 and 2002 consclidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and
2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the two years ended December 31, 2002 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also audited the combination of the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2000 and for the year then ended, after restatement for the 2001 poolinghf—interests transaction; in our
opinion, such consolidated financial statements have been properly combined on the basis described in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Sacramento, California
January 24, 2003, except
for Note 25, which is as of
March 13, 2003
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Humboldt Bancorp:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Humboldt Bancorp (Bancorp) and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. OQur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An aundit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 2000 financial statements (before restatement) referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/  RICHARDSON & COMPANY
Richardson & Company

Sacramento, California
January 12, 2001
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Tehama Bancorp and Subsidiary

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Tehama Bancorp and subsidiary as of December 31,
2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for
the year then ended, prior to the restatement (and, therefore, are not presented herein) for the merger with
Humboldt Bancorp on March 9, 2001, which was accounted for as a pooling of interests (see Note 2 to the
restated financial statements). These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. OQur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion. -

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Tehama Bancorp and subsidiary as of December 31, 2000, and
the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ PERRY-SMITH LLP

Sacramento, California
January 26, 2001




HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2001 and 2002

2001 2002
{Dollars in thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and due from banks .. .........o.oiiiniiiiiiiii $ 54,567 $ 35156
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks.......... ... ... .. i 920 202
Investment securities available-for-sale ...... ... ... ... ... . ... ... ... . ... ... 172,473 181,471
L0anS o e 664,332 760,648
Less: allowance for 10an 10SSES ... ..ottt e 9,765 11,614
Nt 10anS ..o e 654,567 749,034
Premises and equipment, N€t. ... ..ottt e 19,270 16,593
Net assets of discontinued operations. ....... ... i, 6,669 —
Accrued interest receivable and other assets ........... .. ... ... . ... 50,451 49,094
TOTAL ASSETS . ..ottt e, $958,917  $1,031,550
LIABILITIES
Deposits
Noninterest-bearing .. ... ..ottt e e e $213,092 § 227,406
Interest-bearing . .. ... e 593,994 613,021
Total deposits . ...t e 807,086 840,427
Accrued interest payable and other Itabilities ......... ... .. ..o oL 21,539 23,268
Borrowed funds . .. ... e 45,560 69,857
Guaranteed Preferred Beneficial Interests in Company’s Junior Subordinated
Debentures (Trust Preferred Securities) ......... ... ... 20,150 20,150
TOTAL LIABILITIES ... ... i 894,335 933,702

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock, no par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
and outstanding in 2001 and 2002 ......... .. . — —

Common stock, no par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 12,552,955 shares. -
in 2001 and 12,604,157 shares in 2002 issued and outstanding . ............ 67,459 66,345

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) ......... ... .. ... ... L (3,265) 8,103
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net ........................... 388 3,400
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY ................... EE 64,582 77,848
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY.............. $958,917  $1,031,550

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

INTEREST INCOME

Interest and feesonloans ......... .. ... . ... . .. e $48,562 $ 55,971  $56,010
Interest and dividends on investment securities
Taxable. ... o e 7,440 6,989 6,652
Exempt from Federal income tax ........ ..., 1,557 1,571 1,425
Dividends .. ... ... 224 136 219
Interest on federal funds sold ........ ... ... ... . ... .. .. ... . .... 1,684 1,468 —
Interest on deposits in other banks ........... ... ... .. . ..., 49 30 39
Total Interest Income. .. ... .. .. i 59,516 66,165 64,345
INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest On depoSitS . .. .\ttt t e e 23,154 25,203 13,632
Interest on borrowed funds ......... .. .. . .. . . 1,728 3,138 4,005
Total Interest Expense .. ............... e 24,882 28,341 17,637
NET INTEREST INCOME .......... ... ... ... ... 34,634 37,824 46,708
Provision for loan 10Sses . . ...t 2,535 2,903 3,321
NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR
LOAN LOSSES. ... .. e 32,099 34921 43,387
OTHER INCOME
Fees and otherincome ........... .. ... ... i 19,054 24,731 20,058
Service charges on deposit accounts ................ P 3,236 3,521 3,030
Netgainonsale of loans ......... .. i i 691 1,269 2,172
Net investment securities (loss) gain............ ... ... .., (117) 206 887
Total Other INCOME . ... ..t e 22,864 29,727 26,147
OTHER EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits ....... .. .. .. .. i 21,662 25,612 25,247
Net occupancy and equipment expense . ... ... e 5,039 5,875 6,492
Merger related expenses. .. ... e — 3,531 —
Other EXPENSES ..ottt et e e e 14,782 18,856 20,819
Total Other EXpenses . ... ... ot e e e 41,483 53,874 52,558
Income Before Income Taxes ........... ... .. i, 13,480 10,774 16,976
Provision for inCoOme taxes . ... .ov vt 4,453 3,789 4,437
NET INCOME CONTINUING OPERATIONS ........... 9,027 6,985 12,539
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Loss) from discontinued operations, netof tax . ................... (7) — —
Loss on wind down of discontinued operations, net of tax............ — (13,994) (276)
NET INCOME (LOSS) . ... .. e $ 9,020 ($ 7,009) $12,263
EARNING (LOSS) PER SHARE — BASIC:
Continuing Operations .. ... ..o\ttt e $§ 075 $§ 056 $§ 1.00
Discontinued Operations . ........uiiiinaere e $ 000 (§ 112) ($0.02)
Net 1ncome (10SS) .. ovv ottt $ 075 ($ 056) $ 098
EARNING (LOSS) PER SHARE — DILUTED:
Continuing Operations ... .......ieturr s $ 071 $ 054 $ 096
Discontinued Operations . ........ ... iinierrriineneeneinn. $ 000 (5 1.08) (8 0.02)
Net Income (1088) ..ottt e e e $ 071 (5 054) $ 094

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2000 (as restated), 2001 (as restated), and 2002»

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive Common Stock Retained  Comprehensive
Income Shares Amount Earnings Income Total .
. (Dollars in thousands) . . :
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31,1999 ..... ... 8,076,524  $43,818 $ 9,532 ($ 1,207) - $52,143
10% stock dividend . ...................... 472,879 6,018 (6,018) , —
Fractional shares purchased................ (7) (7N
Sale of stock, net of issuance costs.......... 640,000 7,309 7,309
Directors fee, stock options exercised and
related tax benefit . ....... ... .. .. ... 115,934 582 582
Stock issuance in connection with acquisition 46,974 5687 (59) 513
Comprehensive income:
NetIncome ........ ... ... ... ... .c.... $ 9,020 9,020 9,020
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax: :
Unrealized holding gains on securities
available-for-sale arising during the year,
net of taxes of $1,491 and reclassification o,
adjustments . ....... .. ... .. 2,279 2,279 2,279
Total Comprehensive Income .............. $11,299 ‘ o
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 2000 ........ 9,352,311 $58,295  $12,472 $ 1,072 $71,839
10% Stock D1V1dend ........................ 938,374 - $ 8,719  (88,719) o
Dissenters Payments.. . . .. e (18,133) (220) . (220)
Fractional shares purchased .-......... ... .. . (9) (9)
Restricted stock awards ................... 1,385 13 13
Directors fee, stock options exercised and ‘
related tax benefit . ...... ... ... ... ... 186,859 652 652
Comprehensive income: o ’
Net (108s) .. vvvii i ($7,009) (7,009) (7,009)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Unrealized holding (loss) on securities
available-for-sale arising during the year
net of taxes of $369 and reclassifications :
adjustments ........... ... ... (684) (684) (684)
Total Comprehensive (loss) ............... ($7,693)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2001 ........ 10,460,796  $67,459  ($3,265) § 388 $64,582
6 for 5Stock Split ......... .. ... ... 2,092,159
Fractional shares purchased................ . % €
Shares Repurchased ...................... (434,160)  (4,289) (4,289)
Shares issued in connection with various
employee and director plans including tax
benefits....... ... ... .. . 485,362 3,175 3,175
Cash Dividend Declared .................. (886) (886)
Comprehensive income:
Net Income . ...... ... . ... ... ... .. ... $12.263 12,263 12,263
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Unrealized holding gain on securities
available-for-sale arising during the year
net of taxes of $1108 and reclassifications
adjustments ........ ... o 3,012 . 3,012 3,012
Total Comprehensive Income .............. $15,275
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2002 ........ 12,604,157 66,345 8,103 3,400 77,848

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Netincome (1088) ..ot e e e $ 9,020 § (7,009) $ 12,263
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Discontinued OpPeTations ... .. .....euuinre i 7 13,994 276
Provision for 10an 10SS€S .. ... o o e 2,535 2,903 3,321
Depreciation and Amortization . ..........vuurr e, 2,642 4,087 5,456
Loss (gain) on sale of investments ....................coiirneriinann.. 117 (206) (887)
(Gain) on sale of foreclosed real estate ....... P (17) — —_
Decrease in loans held forsale....... ..ot e 1,822 373 —
Increase in interest receivable and other assets ............... ... ....... (10,810) (13,382) (210)
Increase in interest payable and other liabilities ......................... 2,368 5,785 2,762
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES............ 7,684 6,545 22,981
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ‘
Net (increase) decrease in interest-bearing deposits with banks ................ (151) (749) 718
Net decrease in federal funds sold. . ... ... ... i 14,875 13,000
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investment securities available-for-sale . ... 38,247 63,645 106,173
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities held-to-maturity ............. 1,617 14,707 —
Purchases of investment securities available-for-sale.......................... (18,771)  (111,318) (112,325}
Purchases of investment securities held-to-maturity .......................... (4,776) (465) —
Netincrease inloans............ ... .. ... iiiiieiinn.. e (105,287) (82,701) (95,616)
Purchases of premises and equipment. ............ i (8,367) (3,999) (1,804)
Investing activities related to discontinued operations......................... (2,000) (13,145) 3,795
Purchase of other real estate ........ ..ot ey ' (15) — —
Proceeds from the sale of foreclosed real estate and other assets ............... 1,051 995 2,071
Net cash paid in acquisition of subsidiary ........... ... .. ... . ... ... . ... .. (10,923) — —
NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES ................. (94,500)  (120,030) {(96,988)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net increase in deposits . ... .. ou ittt e e 47,730 94,279 33,341
Net increase (decrease) in borrowed funds ....... ... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... ... 37,115 (1,790) 24,297
Cash dividends on common stock ....... . .. i — — (886)
Repurchase of common stock. . ... — — (4,289)
Proceeds from issuance of Trust Preferred Securities .. ................. e 5,150 15,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock. .. ... ..o 8,459 665 —
Dissenters payments ... ... .. e e — (220)
Proceeds from.exercise of stock options ....... ... ... i — — 2,142
Fractional shares purchased ....................... R (7) {(9) {(9)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES................ 98,447 107,925 54,596
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND DUE FROM
BANKS e 11,631 (5,560) (19,411)
Cash and due from banks at beginning of year ....................... e 48,496 60,127 54,567
CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS AT END OF YEAR ............. $ 60,127 $§ 54,567 § 35,156

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:
IRETESt EXPEIMSE & o ot ottt et e e e $ 24470 $ 28,596 § 17,679
I COIMIE LaXES v vttt it e 7,586 4541 § 2,500

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2001 and 2002

Note 1 — Significant Accounting Policies

Business: Humboldt Bancorp (“Humboldt™) is a bank holding company whose principal activity is the
ownership and management of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Humboldt Bank (“Bank”). During 2002,
Humboldt merged its Tehama Bank, Capitol Valley Bank and Capitol Thrift & Loan subsidiaries into
Humboldt Bank. There were no purchase accounting adjustments made in connection with this charter
consolidation. Humboldt and the Bank are subject to regulation, supervision and regular examination by the
Federal Reserve Bank, the California Department of Financial Institutions and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation. The regulations of these agencies govern most aspects of the Bank’s business. The accounting
and reporting policies of Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries conform with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, certain 2000 and 2001 amounts have been reclassified
to conform to the 2002 presentation format.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Humboldt
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Nature of Operations: The Bank provides general commercial banking services at 19 locations located
throughout Northern California. These banking services include accepting deposit accounts (demand, time
and savings), and making secured and unsecured loans to businesses and individuals. Other significant
business operations of Humboldt include merchant credit card transaction processing for businesses through-
out the United States. ' !

Significant Management Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. For the Bank, the
significant accounting estimate is the allowance for loan losses. See “Allowance for Loan Losses” below.

Investment Securities: Securities are classified as held-to-maturity if Humboldt has both the intent and
ability to hold those debt securities to maturity regardless of changes in market conditions, liquidity needs or
changes in general economic conditions. These securities are carried at cost adjusted for amortization of
premium and accretion of discount, computed by the effective interest method over their contractual lives.
Humboldt did not have any securities classified as held to maturity at December 31, 2001 or 2002.

Securities are classified as available-for-sale if Humboldt intends to hold those debt securities for an
indefinite period of time, but not necessarily to maturity. Any decision to sell a security classified as available-
for-sale would be based on various factors, including significant movements in interest rates, changes in the
maturity mix of assets and liabilities, liquidity needs, regulatory capital considerations and other similar
factors. Securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value. Unrealized holding gains or losses are included in
other comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax. Realized gains or
losses, determined on the basis of the cost of specific securities sold, are included in earnings. Unrealized

losses due to fluctuations in fair value of securities held to maturity or available for sale, are recognized - =

through earnings when it is determined that a permanent decline in value has occurred. Humboldt did not
have any securities classified as trading securities during 2001, or 2002. Premiums and discounts are amortized
or accreted over the life of the related investment security as an adjustment to yield using the effective interest
method. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned.

Loans Held for Sale: Humboldt sells or transfers loans, including the guaranteed portion of Small
Business Administration (“SBA™)- loans (with servicing retained) for cash proceeds equal to the principal
amount of loans, with yield rates to the investor based upon the current market rates. Humboldt records an
asset representing the right to service loans for others when it sells a loan and retains the servicing rights. The
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

carrying value of loans is allocated between the loan and the servicing rights, based on their relative fair values.
Fair value of servicing rights is estimated by discounting estimated future cash flows from servicing using
discount rates that approximate current market rates and using estimated prepayment rates. The servicing
rights are carried at the lower of cost or market and are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of, the
estimated net servicing income, assuming prepayments.

For purposes of evaluating and measuring impairment, servicing rights are based on a discounted cash
flow methodology, current prepayment speeds and market discount rate. Any impairment is measured as the
amount by which the carrying value of servicing rights for a stratum exceeds its fair value. At December 31,
2002, an impairment adjustment was recorded for $600,000 and was included with fees and other inconie on
the income statement. Included in total loans was approximately $28.0 million and $34.4 million of SBA loans
at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

A premium over the adjusted carrying value is received upon the sale of the guaranteed portion of an
SBA loan. Humboldt’s investment in an SBA loan is allocated among the sold and retained portions of the
loan based on the relative fair value of each portion at the time of loan origination, adjusted for payments and
other activities. Because the portion retained does not carry an SBA guarantee, part of the gain recognized on
the sold portion of the loan may be deferred and amortized as a yield enhancement on the retained portion in
order to obtain a market equivalent yield.

During the third quarter of 2002, Humboldt sold its residential servicing rights portfolio to a third party
for cash consideration of approximately $2.4 million. A loss of approximately $259,000, was recorded:in
connection with this sale.

Loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of cost or market determined on an aggregate basis.
Humboldt had no loans held for sale as of December 31, 2001 and 2002 respectively.

Loans: Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, less the allowance for losses, net deferred
loan fees and costs and unearned income. Interest on loans is accrued and credited to income based on the
principal amount outstanding. Unearned income on installment loans is recognized as income over the term of
the loans using a method that approximates the interest method.

Loan origination fees and certain direct origination and acquisition costs are capitalized and recognized as
an adjustment of the yield on the related loan. Amortization is discontinued when the loan is placed on
nonaccrual status.

Allowance for Loan Losses: The allowance is maintained at a level, which, in the opinion of
management, is adequate to absorb probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio. Management determines the
adequacy of the allowance based upon reviews of individual loans, recent loss experience, current economic
conditions, the risk characteristics of the various categories of loans and other relevant factors. The allowance
is based on estimates, and ultimate losses may vary from the current estimates. These estimates are evaluated
on a regular basis and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the periods in which
they become known. Loans and leases deemed uncollectible are charged to the allowance. Provisions for losses
and recoveries on loans and leases previously charged off are added to the allowance.

Loans are considered impaired, based on current information and events, if it is probable that the Bank
will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual
terms of the loan agreement. Allowances on impaired loans are established based on the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the loans effective interest rate, or for collateral-dependent loans, on
the fair value of the collateral. Cash receipts on impaired loans are used to reduce principal.

Income Recognition on Impaired and Nonaccrual Loans: Loans, including impaired loans, are classified
as nonaccrual if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful, generally if they are past due as to
maturity or payment of principal or interest for a period of more than 90 days, unless such loans are well-
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

secured and in the process of collection. If a loan or a portion of a loan is classified as doubtful or is partially
charged off, the loan is classified as nonaccrual. Loans that are on a current payment status or past due less
than 90 days may also be classified as nonaccrual if repayment in full of principal and/or interest is in doubt.

Loans may be returned to accrual status when all principal and interest amounts contractually due
{inchuding arrearages) are brought fully current, and there is a sustained period of repayment performance by
the borrower, in accordance with the contractual terms of interest and principal.

While a loan is classified as nonaccrual and the future collectibility of the recorded balance is doubtful,
collections of interest and principal are generally applied as a reduction to principal outstanding. Uncollected
accrued interest on nonaccrual loans is reversed against interest income. When the future collectibility of the
recorded balance is expected, interest income may be recognized on a cash basis.

Merchant Bankcard Processing: Merchant Bankcard revenue is based on the volume of transactions
processed and is recorded on a cash basis.

Premises and Equipment: Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.
The provision for depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets. The useful lives of buildings and improvements are estimated to be fifteen to thirty years. The
useful lives of furniture, fixtures and equipment are estimated to be three to ten years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the life of the related lease, or the life of the asset, whichever is shorter.
When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization
are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in income for the period. The cost
of maintenance and repairs is charged to expense as incurred.

Other Real Estate Owned: Other real estate owned represents real estate which Humboldt has taken
control of in partial or full satisfaction of loans. At the time of foreclosure, other real estate owned is recorded
at the lower of the carrying amount of the loan or fair value less costs to sell, which becomes the property’s
new basis. Any write-downs based on the asset’s fair value at date of acquisition are charged to the allowance
for loan losses. After foreclosure, management periodically performs valuations and the real estate is carried at
the lower of their new cost basis or fair value net of estimated costs to sell. Revenue and expenses from
operations and subsequent adjustments to the carrying amount of the property are included in income
(loss) on other real estate owned.

In some instances, Humboldt makes loans to facilitate the sales of other real estate owned. Management
reviews-all sales for which it is the lending institution for compliance with sales treatment under provisions
established by SFAS No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.

Intangible Assets: Intangible assets, which are included in other assets, are comprised of goodwill and
core deposit intangibles acquired in business combinations. In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Accounting for
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Statement 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used
for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 and specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired
in a purchase method business combination must meet to be recognized and reported apart from goodwill.
SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortlzcd
after 2001, but instead be periodically evaluated for impairment: e e -
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HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

'For comparison purposes, the following table reconciles Humboldt’s reported carnings to earnings
adjusted for goodwill amortization:

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Net Income —

‘As reported . ... ... e $9,020 $(7,009) $12,263

Goodwill Amortization . ................ L _ 15 263 —
CAdjusted. .. & $(6,746) © $12,263

'- Basic earnings (loss) per share

Asreported ...... ... $ 0.75 $ (0.56) $ 098

Goodwill amortization ..................... e 0.02 —

Adjusted . ..o 5 0.75 $ (0.54) $ 098
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Asteported . ... $ 0.71 $ (0.54) $ 094

Goodwill amortization ..................... - 0.02 —

Adjusted. ... ... $ 0.71 $ (0.52) - $ 094

|

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are required to be amortized over their respective estimated
useful lives to their estimated residual values, and also reviewed for impairment. Humboldt was required to
adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 141 immediately upon issuance and SFAS No. 142 effective January 1,
2002. Accordingly, any goodwill and any intangible asset determined to have an indefinite useful life acquired
in a purchase business combination is no longer amortized, but is evaluated at least annually for impairment in
accordance with the appropriate accounting literature. Humboldt was also required to reassess the useful lives
and residual values of all such intangible assets and make any necessary amortization period adjustments by
the end of the first interim period and recognize any impairment loss measured as of the date of adoption as
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the period. Humboldt did not have any transitional
impairment losses. Humboldt’s goodwill and core deposit intangible is recorded with accrued interest
receivables and other assets on the balance sheet.. x

The following table summarizes Humboldt’s goodwill and core deposit intangible assets as of J anuary 1
and December 31, 2002:

Goodwill & Core Deposit Intangibles

January 1, December 31,
2002 Additions Reductions 2002
’ (Dollars in thousands)
Goodwill......... ... i $ 525 $3,432 $ — $ 3,957 ‘
Accumulated amortization. ... ............... (263) — — (263) .
Net . o $ 262 $3,432 — $ 3,694
Core deposit intangibles .. ................... $ 6,069 — — $ 6,069
Accumulated amortization. . ................. (3,764) — (503) . (4,267)
Net $ 2,305 — (503) $ 1,802
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At December 31, 2002, the estimated amortization of core deposit intangibles, in thousands of dollars,
annually through 2007 is $393,000, $297,000, $297,000, $225,000, and $169,000 respectively. The weighted
average amortization period for core deposit intangibles is 6.5 years.

. Derivative Financial Instruments:  All derivative instruments (including certain derivative instrument’s
embedded in other contracts) are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. Humboldt’s
policy dictates that the accounting treatment for gains or losses from changes in the derivative instrument’s
fair value is contingent on whether the derivative instrument qualifies as a hedge. On the date Humboldt
enters into a derivative contract, Humboldt designates the derivative instruments as (1) a hedge of the fair
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedge), (2) a hedge
of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset
or liability (cash flow hedge) or (3), a hedge for trading, customer accommodation or not qualifying for hedge
accounting (free-standing derivative instruments). For a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value of the
derivative instrument and changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm
commitment attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in current period net income. For a cash flow hedge,
changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument to the extent that it is effective are recorded in other
comprehensive income, net of tax, within shareholders’ equity and subsequently reclassified to net income in
the same period(s) that the hedged transaction impacts net income. For free-standing derivative instruments,
changes in the fair values are reported in current period net income. Humboldt formally documents the
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking any hedge transaction. This process includes linking all derivative instruments that are
designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific
forecasted transactions. Humboldt also formally assesses both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, whether the derivative instruments used are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash
flows of hedged items. If it is determined that the derivative instrument is not highly effective as a hedge,
hedge accounting is discontinued.

Investments in Limited Partnerships: Humboldt owns approximately 99% interests in two limited
partnerships that own and operate affordable housing projects. Investment in these projects serves as an
elément of the Bank’s compliance with the Community Reinvestment Act and provides tax benefits in the
form of deductions for operating losses and tax credits. The tax credits may be used to reduce taxes currently
payable or may be carried back one year or forward twenty years to recapture or reduce taxes. Humboldt uses
the equity method of accounting for the partnerships’ operating results and tax credits are recorded in the
years they became available to reduce income taxes. Under FASB Interpretation No. 46, the Company
believes that these two limited partnerships could be defined as variable interest entities and therefore be
required to- conselidate- for all reporting periods beginning -after June 13, 2003. The total assets of these two
partnerships consist primarily of multi-family housing and amounted to $3.9 million as of December 31, 2002.
The Company’s total amount of exposure to loss is limited to our investment of $947,000 as of December 31,
2002.

Income Taxes: Provisions for income taxes are based on amounts reported in the statement of income
(after exclusion of non-taxable income such as interest on state and municipal loans and securities) and
include deferred taxes on temporary differences in the recognition of income and expense for tax and financial
statement purposes.

Deferred taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates
is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax assets are recognized for
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deductible temporary differences and tax credit carryforwards, and then a valuation allowance is established to
reduce that deferred tax asset if it is “more likely than not” that the related tax benefits will not be realized.

Earnings Per Sharve: Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, after giving retroactive effect to stock
dividends and splits. Diluted earnings per share is computed similar to basic earnings per share except that the
denominator is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Included in the denominator is the
dilutive effect of stock options and warrants computed under the treasury stock method.

Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments: 1n the ordinary course of business, the Bank issues commit-
ments to extend credit, commitments under credit card arrangements and standby letters of credit.

Cash and Equivalents: For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows,
cash and cash equivalents include cash, balances due from banks and certificates of deposit with maturity
dates of 90 days or less. Cash and due from banks include amounts the Bank is required to maintain to meet
certain average reserve and compensating balance requirements of the Federal Reserve Bank. The total
requirements at December 31, 2001, and 2002, were $13,128,000, and $3,222,000, respectively. This decrease
is attributed to a change in the method of classification of certain deposit accounts adopted during 2002.

Stock-Based Compensation: Humboldt has various stock-based compensation plans that authorize the
granting of stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based awards to eligible employees and directors.
For all periods shown in this report, these plans are accounted for under the intrinsic value method as
prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method,
compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the current market price of the underlying stock
exceeded the exercise price. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized for the issuance of stock
options granted under any of the various plans for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001. A total of
$47,000 was recognized as compensation expense for the issuance of stock options for the year ended
December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, encourages a “fair value”
based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans. Had compensation cost for Humboldt’s
stock option plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under this plan
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consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, net income and net income per share would have been adjusted
to the pro forma amounts indicated below (dollars in thousands):

Stock-Based Compensation Disclosure

Year ended December 31,

2000 2001 2002
(In thousands, except per share data)
Net income (loss), asreported .. .................... $9,020 $(7,009) $12,263
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income, net of tax effects. ... — — 47
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation determined
under fair value-based method for all awards, net of
tax effects. ... o (352) (494) (675)
Pro forma net income (loss) .......... i $8,668 $(7,503) $11,635
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic —asreported ......... ... ...l $ 0.75 $ (0.56) $ 098
Basic—oproforma ............. .. ... ... ... ..., $ 072 $ (0.60) $ 093
Diluted — as reported. . ... .....vvite $ 071 $ (0.54) $ 094
Diluted —proforma.....................oi... $ 0.68 $ (0.58) $ 0.90

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2000 2001 2002
Dividend yield ... ... .. .. 2.1% — 1.4%
Expected life (years) .......... it 7.6 9.0 6.0
Expected volatility. ... ... 29% 53% 45%
Risk-free rate. . ... i e 6.59% 5.20% 4.80%
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted
during the year ....... ... . . i i $2.30 $4.80 $4.76

In December 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, an
amendment of SFAS No. 123, SFAS No. 148 encourages the adoption of SFAS No. 123 by providing three
alternative methods of adoption and requires new periodic disclosures in financial statements for companies
that elect to continue to account for stock options using APB No. 25. Humboldt has elected to adopt SFAS
No. 148 effective January 1, 2003 under the prospective application method. Management does not expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 123 will have a material impact on Humboldt’s results of operations in 2003.

Note 2 — Mergers & Acquisitions

Effective March 9, 2001, Humboldt acquired, for 4.48 million shares of its common stock and
approximately $220,000 in cash, all of the outstanding common stock of Tehama Bancorp (“Tehama”), a
one-bank holding company, based in Red Bluff, California. Each share of Tehama common stock was
converted into and exchanged for 1.775 shares of Humboldt common stock. The cash consideration paid was
to Tehama shareholders that exercised their dissenters’ rights. This merger was accounted for as a pooling of
interests and, accordingly, all financial information contained in this Report is has been restated to reflect the
combination of Humboldt and Tehama for all periods presented.
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The following is a reconciliation of the amounts of net interest income and net earnings previously
reported with the restated amounts (in thousands):

2000

Net Interest Income

Asreported ... . O $24,970
Tehama .. ... e P 9,664
As restated . . .. e $34,634
Net Income .

AS TEPOITEd L L. $ 6,280
Tehama ... ... 2,740
Asrestated. . ....... .. .. ... .. .. .. ... ... T $ 9,020

In 2001, Humboldt recorded operating expenses related to the merger and integration of Tehama in the
amount of $3,531,000 on a pre-tax basis, The following table presents the major components of merger-related
expenses (dollars in thousands):

Severance & related ... ... ... $ 655
Professional fES . ... ...ttt 1,664
Fixed asset depreciation . ... .. ... e 441
SYSIEM COMVETSIONS . &« o vt vttt ettt et ettt et e e e e e e et e e e e 262
Other . . e _ 309

Total . $3,531

The accrued liability for remaining expected merger related expenses at December 31, 2001 and 2002 was
$219,000 and $0, respectively.

On April 7, 2000, Humboldt acquired Capitol Thrift & Loan for approximately $11.9 million in cash and
a contingent obligation agreement totaling $4.6 million due January 30, 2002. Under the terms of the
agreement, the repayment of principal was contingent upon performance of the Capitol Thrift & Loan loan
portfolio. The contingent liability holders were paid $4.6 million in cash in full satisfaction of the contingency
liability on January 30, 2002. This final payment resulted in the elimination of negative goodwill in the amount
of approximately $1.2 million and the creation of a goodwill asset in the amount of $3.4 million.

Note 3 — Discontinued Operations

Bancorp Financial Services, Inc. (“BFS”) was originally capitalized in 1996 with $2,000,000 in
contributions from both Humboldt Bancorp and Tehama Bancorp. Upon the completion of the Tehama
Bancorp merger in March 2001, Humboldt became the sole shareholder of BFS. During the first quarter of
2001, Humboldt's Board of Directors completed a strategic review of BFS, which principally acquired and
serviced small ticket leases on a nationwide basis. This review was initiated in response to a number of factors,
including the increased regulatory burden associated with BFS being a wholly owned subsidiary after
completion of the Tehama Bancorp merger, future capital needs of BFS to support its growth and reliance
upon the lease-backed securities market for liquidity. As a result of this review, Humboldt adopted a plan to
discontinue-the operations of BFS by sale of the company and engaged an investment banking firm to facilitate
the sale during the first quarter of 2001. A valuation reserve of $700,000, net of tax, was recorded during the
first quarter-of 2001 based on an estimate of the value of BFS as a going concern. The operating results of BFS
are included, net of tax, in the income statement as loss from discontinued operations.
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During the second quarter of 2001 Humboldt'was notified by the investment banker that the prospects for
the sale of BFS as a going concern were unlikely. In response, Humboldt adopted a plan to wind-down the
operations of BFS in an orderly manner. This plan included the immediate termination of all lease and loan
acquisition activities. In connection with the wind-down plan, Humboldt recognized a loss on discontinued
operations, net of tax, of $13.5 million during the second quarter of 2001.

The following is 2 summary of the major components of the wind-down charge (dollars in thousands):

Write-off of retained interests/servicing assets .. .. ......oiuun i erirrnannnnn $11,798
Provision for lease/loan 10SSes . . .o ot 4,679
Lease/loan market value adjustments ........... ... i 1,580
Professional fees .. ... . . 470
OtREr L e e e 1,315
Tax Effect .. e (5,848}

Total Wind-down eXpense .. ... . ..t e $13,994

During the third quarter of 2001, BFS sold approximately $5,800,000 of lease receivables to an unrelated
third party and paid down a like amount of bank debt. Since a valuation reserve was provided during the
second quarter, there was no gain or loss recorded on the sale. Humboldt Bancorp agreed to guarantee certain
representations and warranties with respect to the underlying leases subject to the sale. In addition, the
servicing responsibilities of BFS for approximately 5,400 leases under certain securitization servicing
agreements were transferred to a third party effective August 31, 2001.

As of December 31, 2001, BFS had total assets of $7,577,000, which included cash of $1,634,000, lease
receivables of $1,085,000, lease-backed notes of $4,143,000, deferred tax assets of $600,000 and other assets of
$115,000. Total liabilities as of December 31, 2001 were $8,992,000 and included, non-bank secured
borrowings of $5,960,000, security deposits of $1,242,000, lease and loan payment servicing liabilities of
$866,000, wind down accruals of $800,000 and other liabilities of $124,000.

As of December 31, 2002, BFS had fotal assets of $993,000, which included cash of $568,000 and
deferred tax assets of $425,000. Total liabilities as of December 31, 2002 were $1,046,000, and included
security deposits of $1,025,000 and other liabilities of $21,000. These amounts are recorded net in other assets
as of December 31, 2002.

In addition to the assets of BFS, certain assets of Humboldt Bancorp which were acquired from or on
behalf of BFS were included as assets related to discontinued operations. During the fourth quarter of 2001,
Humboldt Bancorp agreed to assume certain debt of BFS, which was previously guaranteed, in exchange for
ownership of approximately $7,000,000 of automobile loans that secured the borrowing. In addition,
Humboldt Bancorp agreed to repurchase approximately $2,000,000 of automobile loan contracts that were
originated by BFS and sold to an unafliliated financial institution during the fourth quarter of 2001. As of
December 31, 2001, Humboldt Bancorp had net automobile loans acquired from BFS and repurchased from
third parties of approximately $9,000,000. During the second quarter of 2002, Humboldt Bancorp completed
the sale of the loans and certain balances previously charged off to a third party.

As of December 31, 2001 BFS had borrowings from two unrelated non-bank lenders totaling $5,960,000.
Neither of these two borrowings is guaranteed by Humboldt Bancorp. One of the borrowings was originally
structured as a loan to an unconsolidated, bankruptcy-remote subsidiary of BFS as a commercial paper
conduit facility for funding the acquisition of lease contracts. This facility matured on March 31, 2001 and was
extended by the lender. As of December 31, 2001, the balance outstanding on this loan was $884,000. This
loan was paid in full during the second quarter of 2002.
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The second non-bank borrowing was obtained in February 2001 in connection with the issuance of term
leased-backed notes. The placement agent was able to place approximately $4,600,000 million of the Class C
leased-backed notes with a non-affiliated investor; however, due to certain restrictions contained in the
indenture, the transaction had to be structured as a secured borrowing. The result of the transaction on the
balance sheet of BFS was the establishment of an asset for the Class C leased-backed notes and a related
liability for $4,600,000. This secured borrowing agreement also contained a provision whereby BFS was
permitted, for a certain period of time, to retain the monthly principal and interest cash flows received on the
leased-backed notes. These retained cash flows were converted to a subordinated note secured by retained
interest assets of BFS. The principal portion of the cash flows was applied to reduce the $4,600,000 million
liability and along with the interest portion were added to the subordinated debt. As of December 31, 2001 the
Class C secured borrowing totaied $3,911,000 and the subordinated borrowing totaled $1,165,000.

During the first quarter of 2002, BFS and the non-affiliated investor executed an agreement whereby the
investor took certain actions that permitted the transfer of ownership of the Class C leased-backed notes to an
unrelated third party in satisfaction of the $3,911,000 of related debt. This agreement also provided for the
transfer of the $1,165,000 to a new subordinated loan in favor of the third party. This new subordinated loan
will bear interest at 12% compounded annually, with repayment of principal and interest tied solely to the
receipt, if any, of cash flows from retained interest cash flows received by BES in the future. In the event no
cash flows are received from the retained interests, BFS has no further obligation under the terms of the loan
agreement and will recognize a pre-tax gain for the carrying amount of the loan. If cash flows from retained
interests are received, BFS will recognize a pre-tax gain for the amount received since the retained assets were
written off in June 2001.

During the second quarter of 2001, Humboldt guaranteed three BFS borrowings from two commercial
banks in consideration for modification of the loan terms and elimination of certain financial covenants.
During the fourth quarter of 2001, Humboldt directly assumed the three borrowings, two of which were
originally related to the financing of certain automobile loan contracts in the amounts of $6,422,000 and
$2.123,000, respectively, and a deficiency balance related to a loan that was previously secured by lease
contracts for $300,000. In connection with the assumption, the loan for $2,123,000 was modified in a manner
that the automobile loan contract collateral was released.

During the first quarter of 2002, Humboldt sold the automobile loan contracts to a third party and used
the proceeds to pay in full the loan that was secured by the contracts. The unsecured deficiency balance loan
was paid in full during the fourth quarter of 2002. As of December 31, 2002, the remaining unsecured loan had
a balance of $1,297,000. This loan has scheduled monthly payments of principal and interest and matures in
October 2004. Additional information on these borrowings is included in Note 9.

During the second quarter of 2002, the remaining employees of BFS were terminated and operations
ceased. A loss on discontinued operations of $276,000, net of tax, was recorded during the second guarter of
2002. No other gain or loss on discontinued operations was recorded during 2002.
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In conducting its business, BF'S formed three subsidiaries that are considered “Special Purpose Entities”
or “SPEs.” These subsidiaries were formed in accordance with legal requirements and were, at formation, not
subject to consolidation on the financial statements of BFS.

Subsidiary Name Primary Purpose

BFS Funding Corporation Issuance of lease-backed notes funded by a
commercial paper conduit. The line of credit
from the commercial paper conduit was not
renewed upon maturity in March 2001 and the
subsidiary’s assets and related debt were
reconsolidated on to the balance sheet of BES.

BFS Funding Company, LLC Issuance of $75,000,000 of term lease-backed
notes to institutional investors in March 2000.
BFS Funding Company II, LLC Issuance of $60,058,000 of term lease-backed

notes to institutional investors in
February 2001.

BFS Funding Company, LLC and BFS Funding Company I, LLC are considered “qualifying” SPEs
under SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities.

All retained interest assets related to the lease-backed notes issued by BFS Funding Company LLC and
BFS Funding Company II, LL.C were written off during the second quarter of 2001. At December 31, 2002,
Humboldt Bancorp owned the Class C notes issued in the 2000 securitization for which there is no active
market. The 2000 Class C lease-backed notes were carried at a value of $3,031,000 as of December 31, 2002
and will not receive any payments of interest or principal until the holders of the Class A and Class B notes are
paid in full. At December 31, 2002 the fair value of the Class C notes were determined based on the projected
cash flows using market assumptions for discount rate and credit losses. Management expects that the
principal and interest payments on the 2000 Class C lease-backed notes will be received during 2004. As
described above, during the first quarter of 2002, an agreement was executed resulting in the transfer of the
2001 Class C lease-backed notes to an unaffiliated third: party in consideration for reduction of related debt
owed- to the purchaser. No gain or loss was recorded in connection with the transfer.
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Note 4 — Investment Securities

The amortized cost of investment securities and their approximate fair values at December 31 were as
follows:

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2001:

Available-for-sale . v
U.S. Government and agency securities ...... $ 2,772 $ 40 $ — $ 2,812

Obligations of political subdivisions ....... L 29,272 910 — 30,182
Collateralized mortgage obligations .......... 116,553 — (308) 116,245
Mortgage-backed securities ... .............. 14,285 186 — 14,471
Other asset-backed securities ............... 7,500 — (312) 7,188
Equity securities . ..., 1,575 — — 1,575
Total available-for-sale .............. $171,957 $1,136 $(620)  $172,473
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

December 31, 2002:

Available-for-sale

U.S. Government and agency securities ...... § 18,848 $ 78 $ — 8 18,926
Obligations of political subdivisions ....... - 28,395 2,005 (33) 30,367
Collateralized mortgage obligations .......... 108,767 2,445 (56) 111,156
Mortgage-backed securities................. 8,725 240 — 8,965
Other asset-backed securities . .............. 6,148 281 (120) - 6,309
Equity securities . ............. . 5,748 — — 5,748
Total available-for-sale .............. $176,631 $5,049 $(209)  $181,471

The maturities of investment securities at December 31, 2002 were as follows:

Available-for-Sale

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

(Dollars in thousands)

Amounts maturing in:
Three Mmonths Or 1888 . ..ottt e e e — —

Over three months through twelve months .. .......... ... ... .. ... .. 17,306 17,337
After one year through three years....... FS 7,139 7,163
After three years through five years . ... ... ... .. . i, 7,832 8,190
After five years through fifteen years ........... ... ... .. oL 119,814 123,950
After fifteen years . .. .. .. e 18,792 19,083
Equity SECUTITIES .. oottt et e e e e 5,748 5,748

176,631 181,471
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The amortized cost and fair value of collateralized mortgage obligations and mortgage-backed securities
are presented by average life in the preceding table. Expected maturities differ from contractual maturities
because borrowers may have the right to prepay underlying loans without prepayment penalties.

Proceeds from sales of investment securities available-for-sale during 2000, 2001, and 2002 were
$17,835,000, $52,707,000, and $81,550,000 respectively. Gross gains and losses on those sales were $64,000
and $181,000 in 2000, $501,000 and $295,000 in 2001, and $1,082,000, and $195,000 in 2002.

Investment securities with an amortized cost of approximately $2,025,000 and $2,113,000, and an
approximate market value of $2,062,000 and $2,141,000, at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were
pledged to meet the requirements of the Federal Reserve and the U.S. Department of the Treasury to secure
customer tax payments. In addijtion, investment securities with an amortized cost.of approximately
$19,474,000 and $9,544,000, and an approximate market value of $19,786,000 and $10,012,000, at Decem-
ber 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were pledged to secure public deposits. Furthermore, investment
securities with an amortized cost of approximately $50,099,000 and $104,613,000, and an approximate market
value of $50,818,000 and $107,359,000, at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were pledged as
collateral for advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank. In addition, investment securities with an
amortized cost of approximately $16,321,000 and $5,099,000, an approximate market value of $16,753,000
and $5,257,000, at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were pledged to Visa and MasterCard to secure
the full performance of all of Humboldt’s payment obligations to Visa and MasterCard in connéction with
Humboldt’s Visa and MasterCard membership.

Note 5 — Loans and Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

The components of loans and leases in the balance sheets were as follows at December 31:

2001 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Real estate — construction and land development . .................... § 65,021  $129,075
Real estate — commercial and agricultural. ..., ... .. ... ... .. ... ... 316,571 343,957
Real estate — family and multifamily residential...................... 109,559 105,647
Commercial, industrial and agricultural ................ ... ... ... ... 103,421 121,538
Installment and Other .. ... .. i e e e 69,027 61,531

663,599 761,748
Unearned Premiums (Discounts) ................... R 2,354 1,348
Deferred loan fees .............. ... ... ... .. e R (1,621) (2,448)

$664,332  $760,648

At December 31, 2001, the recorded investment in loans for which impairment had been recognized in
accordance with SFAS No. 114 totaled $1,374,000, with a corresponding valuation allowance of $344,000. At
December 31, 2002, the recorded investment in loans for which impairment had been recognized totaled
$1,373,000, with a corresponding valuation allowance of $342,000. For the years ended December 31, 2000,
2001, and 2002, the average recorded investment in impaired loans was approximately $1,103,000, $1,014,000,
and $1,448,000, respectively. In 2000, 2001, and 2002, Humboldt recognized $44,000, $56,000, and $75,000,
respectively, of interest on impaired loans (during the portion of the year that they were impaired), all of
which was recognized on the cash basis. Nonaccrual loans totaled $2,915,000 and $3,054,000 at December 31,
2001, and 2002 respectively. Foregone interest on nonaccrual loans was approximately $96,000, $175,000 and
$143,000 for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001,. and 2002. :
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The following table summarizes activity related to the allowance for loan losses for the years ended
December 31: ‘ ‘

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

Beginning balance .. ......... ... $ 5502 $ 8367 $ 9,765
Provision for 1oan 10SSes . . ... oo vt 2,535 2,903 3,321
Allowance of entities acquired through mergers accounted for

. under the purchase accounting method .................... 2,000 — —
Charge offs . +..oo.... U e Lo (1918)  (1917)  (2,147)
Recoveries ... ... e e e 248 412 675
Ending balance ............ e $ 8367 $ 9,765 $11,614

Note 6 — Premises and Equipment

' Components of premises and equipment included the following at December 31

2001 2002
, » , (Dollars in thousands)
Land. . .v. oo P P $ 2466 $ 2,228
Buildings and improvements . .. .. ... ..t 13,110 12,182
Furniture, fixtures and equipment .. .......... . ... 12,080 13,187
Leasehold improvements . ................. e e 932 1,050

| 28,588 28,647
.................... (9,318)  (12,054)

$19,270  $ 16,593

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Depreciation expense totaled $1,969,000, $2,861,000 and $2,597,000 in 2000, 2001 and 2002.

Note 7 — Mortgage Servicing Rights

In August 2002, the Bank sold its residential mortgage loan servicing portfolio to a third party for cash
consideration of $2,420,000. The Bank recognized a loss, net of selling-related costs, of approximately
$259,000-included in Fees and Other income on the Income Statement. In connection with this sale, the Bank
adopted a program whereby the residential mortgage loans are sold on a “servicing released” basis.

The Bank recorded servicing assets related to the sale of SBA loans in 2001 and 2002 of $162,000 and
$821,000 respectively. The carrying value of the SBA servicing asset was $766,000 and $716,000 as of
December 31, 2001 and 2002 respectively. An impairment charge of $600,000 was recorded at December 31,
2002 based on the fair value of the servicing asset. No impairment was recorded at December 31, 2001. The
valuation analysis was provided by a third party using estimated discount rates of 13-14%.
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Note 8 — Interest-Bearing Deposits

[nterest-bearing deposits consisted of the following at December 31:
2001 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) ......... ... ..... ... ......... $ 46,724 § 52,052
Savings and money mMarket . ... ... e 234,740 224,908
Time, $100,000 and OVET . .. ...\ttt et 109,476 102,743
Other time less than $100,000 ... .. .. 198,060 157,760
Brokered time deposits ... .. 4,994 75,558

$593.994  $613,021

Interest expense on these deposits for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
NOW L e $ 375 § 247 § 111
Savings and money market ....... ... .. .. 4,704 6,268 3,249
Time, $100,000 and OVET . .. .ot ot 6,249 6,513 - 4,095
Other time less than $100,000.............. ... ... .......... 11,826 12,020 . 5,479
" Brokered time deposits . . . .. A — 155 698

$23,154  $25203  $13,632

The maturities of time deposits at December 31, 2002 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three months Or 1888 . ..o\ttt et e e . $ 71,232
Over three months through twelve months ...................... e [UUPERS v X TR
Over one year through three Years ............ o it 72,933
OVET thTEE YEAIS . .ottt ittt et e e e et e et e e 4,365
$336,061

As of December 31, 2002, Humboldt had $76 million of brokered certificates of deposit outstanding, most
of which mature in less than one year. One brokered issuance, in the amount of $10 million, matures in June
2010. This deposit, which bears a fixed rate of 4.70%, was paired with an interest rate swap to convert the rate
to LIBOR plus 7 basis points on a variable basis. The certificate of deposit is callable at the Bank’s option and
the swap is callable by the counterparty after one year. Management expects that brokered certificates of
deposit will be used from time to time in the future as an alternative source of funding.

Note 9 — Lines of Credit and Borrowed Funds

The Bank has uncommitted federal funds lines of credit agreements with four financial institutions in the
amounts of $23,500,000 and $23,000,000 as of December 31, 2001 and 2002 respectively. Availability of the
lines is subject to federal funds balances available for loan and continued borrower eligibility. These lines are
intended to support short-term liquidity, and cannot be used for more than ten consecutive business days or
m.orevthan twelve times during a given thirty day period. At December 31, 2001 and 2002 there were no’
borrowings outstanding under the agreements. '

. The Bank had advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) as of December 31, 2002 totaling
$63,000,000: These advances are due at various maturity dates ranging from January 1, 2003 to May 2, 2013,
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and interest rates ranging from 1.01% to 7.44%. The advances have various repayment schedules for both

principal and interest. The FHLB advances are collateralized by first mortgage loans, mortgage-backed
securities and FHLB stock. Advances from the FHLB outstanding at December 31, 2002 mature as follows:

Year : Amount
(Dollars in
thousands)

2003, . P e $36,385

2004 . e 13,677

200 . e 10,000

2000 . . L e —

2007 . o 1,000

Thereafter . . . e 1,872

TOtal oot $62.934

The total maturities noted in 2003 above include $3,385,000 in FHLB overnight borrowings.

Humboldt has a line of credit with an unaffiliated financial institution with a borrowing limit of
$7,000,000. This line is secured with stock of the Bank and bears interest at a variable rate of Prime plus 75
basis points, with interest payments due monthly. Principal is due at maturity, in October 2003. Humboldt
Bancorp paid an origination fee of $52,500 in connection with this facility; this fee is being amortized over the
life of the loan. This facility had an effective rate of 5.00% and an outstanding balance of $3,700,000, at
December 31, 2002.

Humboldt has an amortizing term loan with an unaffiliated financial institution bearing a fixed rate of
6.625% that matures in October 2004. The balance of this note was 1,297,000 at December 31, 2002.
Humboldt also has another amortizing term loan with an unaffiliated financial institution bearing a variable
rate of interest that matures in March of 2003. The interest rate and balance at December 31, 2002 was 7.5%
and $202,000 respectively.

Bancorp has an unsecured line of credit with an unaffiliated financial institution with a borrowing limit of
$1,000,000. This line bears interest at a variable rate of Prime plus 125 basis points, with interest payments
due monthly. Principal is due at maturity, in April 2003. There was no balance on this line as of December 31,
2001 and a balance of $1,165,000 as of December 31, 2002.

Note 10 — Trust Preferred Securities

In March 2000, Humboldt formed a wholly owned Delaware statutory business trust, HB Capital Trust I
(*“Capital Trust I"”), which issued $5,150,0000 of guaranteed preferred beneficial interests in Humboldt’s
junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures (the “Trust Preferred Securities”). These debentures
qualify as Tier 1 capital under Federal Reserve Board guidelines. All of the common securities of Capital
Trust I are owned by Humboldt. The proceeds from the issuance of the common securities and the Trust
Preferred Securities were used by Capital Trust I to purchase $5,310,000 of junior subordinated debentures of
Humboldt, which carry a fixed interest rate of 10.875%. The debentures represent the sole asset of Capital
Trust I. The debentures and related earnings statement effects are eliminated in Humboldt’s financial
statements. The Trust Preferred Securities accrue and pay distributions semiannually at a fixed rate of
10.875% per annum of the stated liquidation value of $1,000 per capital security. Humboldt has entered into
contractual arrangements which, taken collectively, fully and unconditionally, guarantee payment of:
(i) accrued and unpaid distributions required to be paid on the Trust Preferred Securities; (ii) the redemption
price with respect to any Trust Preferred Securities called for redemption by Capital Trust I, and

65




HUMBOLDT BANCORP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(iii) payments due upon a voluntary or involuntary dissolution, winding up or liquidation of Capital Trust 1.
The Trust Preferred Securities are mandatorily redeemable upon maturity of the debentures on March 8,
2030, or upon earlier redemption as provided in the indenture. Humboldt has the right to redeem the
debentures purchased by Capital Trust I in whole or in part, on or after March 8, 2010. As specified in the
indenture, if the debentures are redeemed prior to maturity, the redemption price will be the principal amount,
any accrued but unpaid interest, plus a premium ranging from 5.438% in 2010 to 0.544% in 2019.

. In February 2001, Humboldt formed a wholly owned Connecticut statutory business trust, Humboldt
Bancorp Statutory Trust I (“Statutory Trust I"’), which issued $5,000,000 of guaranteed preferred beneficial
interests in Humboldt’s junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures (the “Trust Preferred Securities’”).
These debentures qualify as Tier 1 capital under Federal Reserve Board guidelines. All of the common
securities of Statutory Trust I are owned by Humboldt. The proceeds from the issuance of the common
securities and the Trust Preferred Securities were used by Humboldt Statutory Trust to purchase $5,150,000 -
of junior subordinated debentures of Humboldt, which carry a fixed interest rate of 10.20%. The debentures
represent the sole asset of Statutory Trust I. The debentures and related earnings statement effects are
eliminated in Humboldt’s financial statements. The Trust Preferred Securities accrue and pay distributions
semiannually at a fixed rate of 10.20% per annum of the stated liquidation value of $1,000 per capital security.
Humboldt has entered into contractual arrangements which, taken collectively, fully and unconditionally
guarantee payment of: (i) accrued and unpaid distributions required to be paid on the Trust Preferred
Securities; (ii) the redemption price with respect to any Trust Preferred Securities called for redemption by
Statutory Trust I, and (iii) payments due upon a voluntary or involuntary dissolution, winding up or
liquidation of Statutory Trust I. The Trust Preferred Securities are mandatorily redeemable upon maturity of
the debentures in February 2031, or upon earlier redemption as provided in the indenture. Humboldt has the
right to redeem the debentures purchased by Statutory Trust I in whole or in part, on or after February 22,
2011. As specified in the indenture, if the debentures are redeemed prior to maturity, the redemption price will
be the principal amount, any accrued but unpaid interest, plus a premium ranging from 5.10% in 2011 to
0.51% in 2020. After February 22, 2020, there is no premium for redemption.

In December 2001, Humboldt formed a wholly owned Connecticut statutory business trust, Humboldt
Bancorp Statutory Trust II (“Statutory Trust II”), which issued $10,000,000 of guaranteed preferred
beneficial interests in Humboldt’s junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures (the “Trust Preferred
Securities”). These debentures qualify as Tier 1 capital under Federal Reserve Board guidelines. All of the
common securities of Statutory Trust II are owned by Humboldt. The proceeds from the issuance of the
common securities and the Trust Preferred Securities were used by Humboldt Statutory Trust to purchase
$10,300,000 million of junior subordinated debentures of Humboldt, which carry a floating rate based on
three-month LIBOR plus 360 basis points. The debentures represent the sole asset of Statutory Trust II. The
debentures and related earnings statement effects are eliminated in Humboldt’s financial statements. The
Trust Preferred Securities accrue and pay distributions at a floating rate of three-month LIBOR plus 360 basis
points per annum of the stated liquidation value of $1,000 per capital security. Humboldt has entered into
contractual arrangements which, taken collectively, fully and unconditionally guarantee payment of:
(1) accrued and unpaid distributions required to be paid on the Trust Preferred Securities; (ii) the redemption
price with respect to any Trust Preferred Securities called for redemption by Statutory Trust II, and
(iii) payments due upon a voluntary or involuntary dissolution, winding up or liquidation of Statutory Trust II.
The Trust Preferred Securities are mandatorily redeemable upon maturity of the debentures in December
2031, or upon earlier redemption as provided in the indenture. Humboldt has the right to redeem the
debentures purchased by Statutory Trust IT in whole or in part, on or after December 18, 2006. As specified in
the indenture, if the debentures are redeemed prior to maturity, the redemption price will be the principal
amount, any accrued but unpaid interest. In order to manage the interest rate risk associated with this Trust
Preferred Securities issuance, Humboldt entered into an interest rate swap agreement with an unrelated third
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party that converted the floating rate to a fixed rate of 8.42% for five years. Additional information about this
agreement is provided in Note [1.

Note 11 — Derivative Financial Instruments

Humboldt maintains an overall interest rate risk-management strategy that incorporates the use of
derivative instruments to minimize significant unplanned fluctuations in earnings that are caused by interest
rate volatility. The objective is to reduce Humboldt’s exposure to changes in market interest rates by
modifying the repricing characteristics of certain balance sheet assets and liabilities through the use of a
derivative hedging instrument. Humboldt views this strategy as a component of a comprehensive and prudent
asset liability management program. '

‘Derivative instruments that are used as part of Humboldt’s interest rate risk-management strategy consist
entirely of interest rate swap contracts. As a matter of policy, Humboldt does not use highly leveraged
derivative instruments for interest rate risk management. Interest rate swaps generally involve the exchange of
fixed and variable rate interest payments between two parties, based on a common notional principal amount
and maturity date.

Humboldt accounts for all derivative financial instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Account-
ing for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, and SFAS No. 138, an amendment to
SFAS No. 133. Further information regarding the accounting treatment is provided in Note [. At
December 31, 2002, Humboldt had the following interest rate swap contracts (dollars in thousands):

Issue Notional Rate Fair
Date Amonnt Rate Paid Received Maturity Date Hedge Type Hedged Instrument Value
January 2002 . ... $25,000 4.25%(1) 6.72% January 2005 Cash Flow Loans $1,016
July 2002 ....... $25,000 4.25%(2) 6.30% July 2005 Cash Flow Loans $ 829
December 2002 ..  $10,000 1.45%(3) 4.70% June 2010 Fair Value Callable CD $ 49

December 2001 .. $10,000 8.42%(4) 4.98% ' December 2006 Cash Flow Trust Preferred  $ (739)

(i) Variable rate based on prime

(2) Variable rate based on prime

(3) Variable rate based on LIBOR + 7 basis points
(4) Fixed rate

As of December 2001 the Company had no amount recorded in other assets for interest rate swaps as the
$10 million notional swap noted above was purchased in late December of that same year. As of
December 2002, the Company had $1,155,000 recorded as the carrying value of interest rate swaps included in
other assets.
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Note 12 — Fees and Other Income

Fees and other income consisted of the following for the years ended December 31:

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
Merchant bankcard processing fees .......... ... .ot $12,316  $16,484  $16,916
Lease residuals and rentals ........... ... ... .0 ciiieiii... 927 832 405
Credit card program fees ...t i 259 252 29
Fees for customer Services . ......ovivn i 449 992 684
ATM Funding Income . ....... ... . oot 3,081 2,983 825
Earnings on bank-owned life insurance ...................... 433 875 814
Loan and lease servicing fees ............ ... .o ciiienaii... 552 363 (413)
Other ... e 1,037 1,950 798

$19,054  $24,731  $20,058

Note 13 — Other Expenses

Other expenses consisted of the following for the years ended December 31:

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
Merchant bankcard program ........ ... . .. i, $ 4733 $ 5599 §$ 6,393
Professional and other outside services...... R, 1,871 2,709 3,954
Stationery, supplies and postage ................oiii.. 1,160 1,588 1,562
Telephone and travel ..... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... .. ... .. ... 1,260 1,534 1,756
Amortization of core deposit intangible ...................... 684 876 503
Data processing and ATM fees.......... ..., 565 874 801
AVEITISING . . . . e 473 430 580
Other ................... e 4,036 3,709 5,270
ATM funding loSS. . ... oo — 1,537 —

$14,782 §$18,856  $20,819
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Note 14 — Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense included in the statements of income were as follows for the years
ended December 31:

2000 2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

Currently payable ,
Federal ... ... .. . U § 4947 $ 4561 § 7,345
AL . oo 1,736 1,338 374

6,683 5,899 -~ . 7,719

Federal . . oo ot (1,784)  (1,626) (2,223)
N T - (446) - (484)  (1,059)
(2,230)  (2,110)  (3,282)

Net provision for income taxes . ......coovvvvviirinnnereen $ 4453 $ 3,789 § 4,437

A reconciliation of income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate of 34% and, the provision for
income taxes for the vears ended December 31 are as follows:

2000 2001 2002
. , 3 v (Dollars in thousands)
Income tax at Federal statutory rate ............... T PO $4,583  $3,663  $5,772
State franchise tax, less federal income tax benefit ..................... 1,021 563 (453)
Merger related EXpenses ... ... — 386 —
Interest on municipal obligétions exempt from Federal tax............... (530) ‘ (501) (442)
Interest on enterprise zone loans exempt from State tax ................. (72) k — —_
Life insurance earnings and eXPemses .. ... ..vvvriettrnnennneeennen.. (291) (101) (223)
Low income housing credits . ... ... .ot in i (141) (173) (136)
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance change ............... ... ...... ' (127) (23) —
Other differences. ... ... i e e 10 (23) (81)
Provision for inCOME tAXES . . .. oottt e e $4,453  $3,789  $4,437
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the components of the net deferred tax asset
recorded as an other asset as of December 31 were as follows:

2001 2002
(Dollars in
thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan and lease losses . ....... ... $ 3,334 $ 4,408
Deferred loan fees . ... i e 122 238
State franchise 1axes . ...t e 393 243
Depreciation ... ii it ‘ 749 1,222
Merchant Bankcard program . ....... ... ... 1,141 1,106
Core deposit intangible amortization ........ ... ... 604 666
Organmization COStS .. ...ttt e 81 41
Deferred Compensation .. ...ttt 3,747 4,931
Other . ... 394 406
Total deferred tax aSSEtS . . oo ittt et i e s 10,565 13,261
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets........................... (241) (241)
Deferred tax assets recognized . .........ccv i 10,324 13,020
Deferred tax liabilities:
Loan premilm ... ..ottt e e (971) (555)
Unrealized securities holding gains .......... ... . ... . it (386) (2,468)
Federal Home Loan Bank stock dividends ........................... (85) (131)
Other .. e {397) {381)
Total deferred tax liabilities .......... ... ... ... i .. (2,039) (3,535)
Net deferred tax asset . .. ... . it $ 8,285 § 9,485

Amounts presented for the tax effects of temporary differences are based upon estimates and assumptions
and could vary from amounts ultimately reflected on Humboldt’s tax returns. Accordingly, the variances from
amounts reported for prior years are primarily the result of adjustments to conform to the tax returns as filed.
A valuation allowance has been established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than
not to be realized.

Income taxes receivable were $1,038,000 and $278,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively and
were included in other assets.
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Note 15 — Earnings per Share

The following is a computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31,
which has been retroactively adjusted for stock dividends and splits:

2000 2001 2002

(Dollars in thousands except
per share amounts}

Basic éarnings per share:

Weighted average shares outstanding ... .... e 12,037 12,464 12,503
Net income (108S) ...ttt $ 9,020 $(7.009) $12,263
Net income from continuing operations . ................... $ 9,027 $ 6985 $12,539
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ................ ..o iu.... $ 075 $ (056) $ 098
Basic earnings per share — continuing operations............ $ 075 $ 0356 § 1.00

Diluted earnings per share:
Weighted average shares outstanding . ................... 12,037 12,464 12,503

Net effect of the assumed exercise of stock options based
on the treasury stock method using average market

price for the period ... ... ... ... . o 652 532 546

Total weighted average shares and common stock _
equivalents outstanding. .. ...... . ..o i 12,689 12,996 13,049
Net income (l0S8) ...t $ 9,020 $(7,009) $12,263
Net income from continuing operations . ................... $ 9,027 $ 6985 $12,539
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare ......................... $ 071 $ (0.54) $§ 094
Diluted earnings per share — continuing operations . ......... $ 071 $ 054 $ 096

The following table presents options that were outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001,
and 2002, but were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price was
greater than the average market price of Humboldt common shares:

2000 2001 2002
Range of Number of Range of Number of Range of Number of
Exercise Prices Shares Exercise Prices Shares Exercise Prices Shares
$9.47 to $10.85 126,108 $ 7.38 to $8.78 155,063 $ 9.96 to $11.56 216,345
$8.79 to $10.85 210,610 $11.57 to $14.94 55,000

Humboldt had outstanding at December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, warrants for 130,680 shares issued in
connection with the acquisition of Silverado Merger Corporation in 1999. The current exercise price of these
warrants is $9.47. The warrants were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for 2000 and
2001 because the exercise price exceeded the average market price of Humboldt common stock.

Note 16 — Benefit Plans

Retirement and Profit Sharing Plan. Humboldt has a defined contribution/401(k) retirement plan
covering substantially all of the employees. During 2001, this plan was amended in order to combine the
Humboldt Employee Stock Bonus Plan into the 401 (k) plan in order to reduce the administrative burden of
managing the plans. Contributions to the plan are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors in an
amount not to exceed the maximum amount deductible under the profit sharing plan rules of the Internal
Revenue Service. Employees may elect to have a portion of their compensation contributed to the plan in
conformity with the requirements of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Salaries and employee
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benefits expense includes company contributions to the retirement plan (inclusive of amounts contributed. to
the former Employee Stock Bonus Plan) of $443,000 during 2000, $642,000 during 2001, and $403,000 during
2002.

Postemployment Benefit Plans and Life Insurance Policies: Humboldt has purchased single premium
life insurance policies in connection with the implementation of salary continuation and deferred compensa-
tion plans for certain key employees. The policies provide protection against the adverse financial effects from
the death of a key employee and provide income to offset expenses associated with the plans. The specified
employees are insured under the policies, but Humboldt is the owner and beneficiary. At December 31, 2001
and 2002, the cash surrender value of these policies totaled approx1mately $15,091,000 and $13 613, 000
respectively.

The plans are unfunded and provide for Humboldt to pay the employees specified amounts for specified
periods after retirement and allow the employees to defer a portion of cufrent compensation in exchange for
the Humboldt’s commitment to pay a deferred benefit at retirement. If death occurs prior to or during
retirement, Humboldt wiil pay the employee’s beneficiary or estate the benefits set forth in the plans.

At December 31, 2001 and 2002, Labilities recorded for the estimated present value of future salary
continuation and deferred compensation benefits totaled approximately $5,948,000 and $6,384,000 respec-
tively. Deferred compensation is vested as to the amounts deferred. Humboldt maintains a non-qualified salary
continuation plan for certain senior executive officers. Under these plans, Humboldt has agreed to pay benefits
for a ten to fifteen year period after retirement so long as certain length of service vesting requirements are
met. The plan is informally linked to several single premium universal life insurance policies that provide life
insurance on certain senior executive officers with Humboldt named as the owner and beneficiaty of these
policies. Salary continuation expense totaled $446,000, $765,000, and $432,000 as of December 31, 2000,
2001, and 2002 respectively. .

Director Fee Plan: Humboldt has adopted the Humboldt Bancorp & Subsidiaries Director Fee Plan
(“Fee Plan”), as amended and restated effective December 17, 2002. The Fee Plan permits each director of
Humboldt Bancorp or the Banks to elect to receive director’s fees in the form of Humboldt common stock,
cash, or a combination of Humboldt common stock and éash, and to elect to defer the receipt of any of the
foregoing until the end of his term as a director. If deferral is elected, the amount of the director’s fees shall be
credited to an account on behalf of the director, however, such crediting shall constitute a mere promise on the
part of the Humboldt to pay/distribute on this account. The account is otherwise unsecured, unfunded and
subject to the general claims of creditors of Humboldt. The Fee Plan provides for the issuance of up to
193,261 shares of Humboldt common stock. The amount of such fees deferred in 2000, 2001, and 2002 totaled
$65,000, $120,000, and $154,000, respectively. At December 31, 2001 and 2002, the liability for amounts due
under this plan totaled $335,000 and $304,000 respectively, or approximately 39,904 and 32,293 shares of
stock, respectively, based upon the fair market value of the stock at the time the fee was earned.

Note 17 — Stock Option Plans

Humboldt had stock options outstanding under various plans at December 31, 2001, including two plans
assumed in the merger with Tehama Bancorp. The stock option plans provide for option grants to directors
and key employees to purchase shares of Humboldt common stock at a price based on the fair market value on
the date of grant. The 2001 Humboldt Bancorp & Subsidiaries Equity Incentive Plan (“2001 Plan”) provides
for grants of options, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights. As of December 31, 2002, a total of 16,837
options were available for grant from the 2001 Plan and- 12,880 options were available from the 1992 plan. No
options were available for grant from any other plan. Generally, the options are granted for a term of ten years.
Options granted to directors typically are vested immediately and options granted to employees vest ratably
over three years. Options granted under the Tehama Bancorp plans did not fully vest as a result of the merger.
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The following is a summary of stock options outstanding and exercised under Humboldt’s various stock option
plans:

2000 2001 2002
Number of Weighted-Avg Number of Weighted-Avg Number of Weighted-Avg
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at
beginning of year.... 1,717,448 $4.13 1,868,806 $4.75 1,717,111 $ 520
Granted ............. 329,377 7.07 129,089 6.95 258,000 10.82
Exercised ............ (144,702) 2.48 (230,602) 2.49 (469,752) 4.56
Forfeited............. (33,317) 5.71 (50,182) 6.38 (36,091) 5.67
Outstanding at end of
Year. . ... 1,868,806 $4.75 1,717,111 $5.20 1,469,268 $ 6.38
Options exercisable at
year-end ........... 1,488,406 $4.52 1,481,100 $5.13 1,208,157 $ 5.89

The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002
under Humboldt’s various stock option plans:

Options Outstanding Obtions Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Range of Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Exercise Prices Number Contractual Life Exercise Price Number Exercise Price
$1.494 108 4.18 ......... 399,574 2.1 $ 272 396,760 $ 271
$419t08 688 ......... 358,024 5.3 4.82 272,464 4.90
$689t0% 958 ......... 440,325 6.8 8.15 424,255 8.13
$9.59t0 81228 ......... 216,345 8.8 10.16 96,345 10.42
$12.29 to $14.94 ........ . 55,000 9.5 14.04 18,333 14.04

Total ............... 1,469,268 5.6 $ 6.38 1,208,157 $ 5.89

Note 18 — Related Party Transactions

The Bank has entered into lending transactions with related parties, which are defined as directors,
executive officers and related interests. The following is a summary of the aggregate activity involving related
party borrowers for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002:

2001 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
Loans outstanding at beginning of year................... ... .. ... . ... $ 8,031 $ 7,264
Loan disbursements . . ... ..ottt 1,771 964
Loan repayments .. ... ...ttt e e (2,538) (3,779)
Loans outstanding atend of year . .. ........ . ... . $ 7,264 $ 4,449

Note 19 — Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Lease Commitments: Humboldt leases 19 sites under noncancellable operating leases. Four of the
leases are renewable for an additional five-year period, five of the leases are renewable for two consecutive
five-year periods, two of the leases are renewable for three consecutive five-year periods, and one of the leases
is renewable for four consecutive five-year periods. The leases contain varying requirements for increases
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including adjustments based on the Consumer Price Index with minimum increases of 2% and maximum
increases of 10%. Other leases have scheduled adjustments to the base rent.

As of December 31, 2002, future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases are as
follows (dollars in thousands): :

2003 L e $ 650
2004 . e 595
2005 e e 558
2000 . 523
2007 e 434
Thereafter ... ... .. i 43T
Total minimum lease COMMILMENTS . ..ottt it e e e eeeen M

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002 totaled $9‘25 000, $1,021,000, and
$948,000 respectively. Rental income was $403,000 in 2002. Future rental income is $414,000 annually
through November 2008.

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk: Humboldt's financial statements do not reflect
various commitments and contingent liabilities which arise in the normal course of business.and which involve
elements of credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. These commitments and contingent liabilities are
commitments to extend credit, credit card arrangements and standby letters of credit. A summary of
Humboldt’s commitments and contingent liabilities at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Contractual Amounts

2001 - 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
Commitments to extend credit. ... ... .. $69,735 $1_53:,178
Credit card arrangements .. ... .uuut i ettt e 7,680 . 13,68‘5
Standby letters of credit .......... . . e 2,727 2,144

Commitments to extend credit, credit card arrangements and standby letters of credit all include
exposure to some credit loss in the event of nonperformance of the customer. Humboldt’s credit policies and
procedures for credit commitments and financial guarantees are the same as those for extension of credit that
are recorded on the balance sheet. Because these instruments have fixed maturity dates, and because many of
them expire without being drawn upon, they do not generally present any significant liquidity risk to
Humboldt.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any
condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termmatlon
clauses and may require payment of a fee. Humboldt evaluates each customer’s credit worthmess on a case-
by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by Humboldt upon extension of credit,
is based on management’s credit evaluation of the customer. Collateral held varies but may include accounts
receivable, inventory, property, plant, and equipment, certificates of deposits and income- producmg commer-
cial properties.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Banks to guarantee-the performance
of a customer to a third party. Those guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing
arrangements. All letters of credit are short-term guarantees with no guarantees extending more than two
years. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending
facilities to customers. Humboldt holds assigned deposit accounts as collateral supporting those commitments
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for which collateral is deemed necessary. None of these letters of credit were utilized during 2001 or 2002.
Humboldt did not incur any losses on its commitments in 2000, 2001, or 2002.

Merchant Credit and Debit Card Sales Processing: Humboldt processes the settlement of credit and
debit card sales for merchants located throughout the United States and Puerto Rico. The process involves
collecting funds from the card issuing bank and crediting the merchant accounts in exchange for a merchant
discount and other processing fees. The more significant areas of risk associated with this process includes the
risk that funds due from the card issuing bank will be uncollectible, that significant fees may be assessed for
violations of VISA or MasterCard rules or that the merchant may be unable to absorb charge-backs, deliver
products due to insolvency or commit fraud. To protect Humboldt from losses, merchant deposits of
$76,100,000 at December 31, 2001, and $68,736,000 at December 31, 2002 and have been established by
withholding a percentage of merchant processing volume. Humboldt incurred approximately $151,000 and
$196,000, in net charge-offs related to merchant credit card processing, during 2001 and 2002, respectively.

Humboldt processed approximately $4.8 and $5.1 billion of credit and debit card transactions for
merchants during 2001 and 2002, respectively. Humboldt also has contractual agreements under which it
processes merchant bankcard services through independent service organizations (“1SO’s”). ISO’s represent
$4.4 billion of Humboldt’s credit and debit card sales during 2002. Under the terms of the ISO agreements,
Humboldt is indemnified against loss by the ISO.

Legal Proceedings: Various legal claims have arisen during the normal course of business that, in the
opinion of management, will not result in material liability to Humboldt.

Note 20 — Regulatory Matters

The primary source of cash for Humboldt is dividends received from the Bank. Banking regulations limit
the amount of cash dividends that may be paid without prior approval of the Bank’s primary regulatory agency.
Cash dividends are limited by the California Financial Code to the lesser of retained earnings, if any, or net
income for the last three years, net of the amount of any other capital distributions made during such periods.
As of December 31, 2002, $10,450,000 was available for cash dividend distributions from the Bank without
prior regulatory approval.

Humboldt and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements as defined for banks and
bank holding companies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and
possible additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect
on Humboldt’s financial statements.

As of December 31, 2002, the Bank was categorized as well capitalized under the regulatory framework
for prompt corrective action. The regulatory definition of “prompt corrective action” is not applicable to
Humboldt as a Bank Holding Company. However, the Federal Reserve has established Regulation Y, which
requires a Holding Company to be well capitalized in order to qualify for expedited approval of regulatory
applications. For such purposes, “well capitalized” is defined as a Tier 1 risk-based ratio of 6% or more and a
total risk-based ratio capital ratio greater than or equal to 4%. There are no conditions or events since that
notification that management believes have changed the capital category of Humboldt or the Bank. The
following table provides a summary of the capital amounts and ratios for Humboldt and the Bank as of
December 31, 2001 and 2002. Since Humboldt merged its Capitol Valley Bank, Capitol Thrift & Loan, and
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Tehama Bank subsidiaries into Humboldt Bank during 2002, the capital and related ratios for December 31,
2001 have been adjusted to show the four banks subsidiaries as one:

To Be Well
For Capital Capitalized Under
Adequacy Prompt Corrective
Actual Purposes Action Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
(dollars in thousands)
As of December 31, 2001:
Total Capital
(to Risk Weighted Assets) :
Consoldated ....................... $90,671 11.70% $61,916 3.0% N/A
Humboldt Bank..................... $81,792  10.55% $60,234 8.0% $75,291 10.0%
Tier 1 Capital
(to Risk Weighted Assets)
Consolidated ....................... $80,996  10.45% $30,958 4.0% N/A
Humboldt Bank. .................... $73,060 9.43% $30,117 4.0% $45,175 - 6.0%
Tier 1 Capital
(to Average Assets)
Consolidated ....................... $80,996 8.45% $38,348 4.0% N/A
Humboldt Bank..................... $73,060 7.62% $39,240 4.0% $49,050 5.0%
As of December 31, 2002:
Total Capital
(to Risk Weighted Assets) ,
Consolidated .. ..................... $98,918 11.43% $69,247 8.0% N/A
Humboldt Bank..................... $95,019 11.10% 368,462 8.0% $85,578  10.0%
Tier I Capital
(to Risk Weighted Assets)
Consolidated ....................... $88,089 10.18% $34,623 4.0% N/A
Humboldt Bank............. e $84,310 9.85%  $34,231  4.0% $51,347 6.0%
Tier I Capital ' J
(to Average Assets) :
Consolidated ....................... £88,089 8.73% $40,360 4.0% N/A
Humboldt Bank..................... $84,310 8.47% $39,805 4.0% $49,757 5.0%
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Note 21 — Condensed Financial Information of the Humboldt Bancorp (Parent Company Only)

Condensed Balance Sheets
December 31, 2001 and 2002

) 2001 2002
Assets
AN o $ 69 § 1,245
Investment in SubSIdiaries . . .. ... . i 76,743 94,017
Net assets of discontinued operations ...ttt 6,669 —
INVEStMENt SECUTIHES . . . . o\ttt e e e e e e e e 7,679 4,707
O ET BSSES .ttt e e 8,632 9,310
TOtal @SSELS . o . v v ottt $99,792  $109,279
Liabilities
Borrowed fUNAS .. ..ottt $10,317 § 6,989
Trust preferred seCUMties. . . ...t i e 20,150 20,150
Other liabilities. .. ........o.oeinieiiii.., JR 4,743 4,292
Total Habilities .. ..ot e e 35,210 31,431
Stockholders’ equity................... R e 64,582 77,848
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ......... ... .o .. $99,792  $109,279
Condensed Statements of Income
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002
2000 2001 2002
Dividends from SubSidiaries . .. ..o vt $ 7660 $ 5070 $ 14,837
Reimbursement from subsidiaries for allocated expenses.............. 3,489 6,715 4,937
Other inCome. . ... .o e e et 561 499 6
g 41 (6,736) (17,009)  (11,008)
Income (loss) before taxes .......... ... i 4,974 (4,725) 8,772
Tax (expense) benefit .. ... . ... . .vuueiiiiia i 1,143 3,203 1,715
Income (loss) before equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries . ... 6,117 (1,522) 10,487
Equity in undistributed income (loss) of subsidiaries................. 2,903 (5,487) 1,776

Net income (l0SS) .. ovi it i $ 9,020 §$ (7,009) $ 12,263
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002

2000 2001 2002

Operating activities:
NEUINCOMIE & vttt et e e ettt et ettt e $ 9,020 $ (7,009) § 12,263

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:

Return of (equity in) undistributed income of subsidiaries ..... .. (2,902) 5,487 (1,776)
(Increase) decrease in other assets. ............ ... cocveen ... (2,734) = (8,462) 6,817
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities . ........... ... ......... ' 301 4,072 (505)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities........... 3,685 (5,912) 16,799
Investing activities: \
Acquisition of Capitol Thrift and Loan (net of dividends) ......... (9,675) — —
Investment in subsidiaries ........... . ... i (3,000) (3,500) (6,844)
Wind down of discontinued operations...............cooiian... (2,000)  (13,145) (6,447)
Purchase of available-for-sale securities ......................... (160) (50) (800)
Purchase of held-to-maturity securities .............. e (4,776) (712) —
Proceeds from maturity of held-to-maturity securities ............. 1,092 — —
Proceeds from maturity of available for sale securities............. — — 3,772
Net cash used in investing activities . ...........c.ccvueunn .. (18,519)  (17,407) (10,319)
Financing activities: '

Net increase (decrease) in borrowed funds...................... - 497 7,820 (3,328)
Proceeds from issuance of trust preferred securities .. ....... R 5,150 15,000 —
Repurchase of common stock . ...... . ... . i — — (4,289)
Cash dividends on common stock............ e — — (886)
Cash paid for fractional shares ........ ... ... i it (7) (%) (9)
Cash paid for dissenters shares ............ ... .. ... ... — (220) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ........... .. ... ... .... 8,403 666 3,208
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ........... 14,043 23,257 (5,304)

Net (increase) decrease in cash ...... e e (791) (62) 1,176

Cash at beginning of year ....... ... ... . i 922 131 69
Cashatendofyear ... ... ... ... . i ... 8 131§ 69 $ 1,245

Note 22 — Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments, requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not
recognized in the balance sheet. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on
estimates using present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the
assumptions used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. In that regard, the derived
fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could
not be realized in immediate setilement of the instruments. Statement No. 107 excludes certain financial
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instruments and all nonfinancial instruments from its disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair
value amounts presented do not represent the underlying value of the Humboldt as a whole.

The estimated fair values of the Humboldt’s financial instruments are as follows at December 31:

2001 2002
Estimated Estimated
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

(Dollars in thousands)

Financial assets:

Cash and. due from banks ........ e 54,567 54,567 35,156 35,156
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks ... .. R 920 920 202 202
. Investment securities ........................... 172,473 172,473 181,471 181,471
Loans and leases, net......... ... .. ... ivn... 654,567 680,156 749,034 767,877
Interest rate swap contracts...................... — — 1,155 1,155

Financial liabilities:

Deposits ... ....... e 807,086 810,700 840,427 846,880
Borrowed funds........... ... ... ... L 45,560 44,746 69,857 64,324
Trust p;efcrred Securities . . ... o 20,150 21,112 20,150 22,567

The carrying amounts in the preceding table are included in the balance sheet under the applicable
captions.

The following methods and assumptions were used by Humboldt in estimating its fair value disclosures
for financial instruments:

Cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in other banks and federal funds sold: The
carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Investment securities: Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted market prices,
where available. If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted market prices
of comparable instruments. The carrying amount of accrued interest receivable approximates its fair
value,

Loans and leases held for sale: Fair values for loans and leases held for sale are based on quoted
market prices or dealer quotes. If a quoted prlce is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted
market prices for sxmllar loans or leases.

Loans and leases, net: For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and fixed rate loans that
mature in the near future, with no significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on carrying
amounts. The fair values for other fixed rate loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis,
based on interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit
quality. Loan and lease fair value estimates include judgments regarding future expected loss experience
and risk characteristics and are adjusted for the allowance for loan and lease losses. The carrying amount
of accrued interest receivable approximates its fair value.

Deposits:  The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (for example, interest-bearing checking
accounts and passbook accounts) are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the
reporting date' (that is, their carrying amounts). The fair values for certificates of deposit are estimated
using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates
to a schedule of aggregated contractual maturities on such time deposits. The carrying amount of accrued
intérest payable approximates fair value.
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Borrowed funds and trust preferred securities: The fair value of borrowed funds and trust preferred
securities is estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being
offered on similar debt instruments.

Off-balance sheet instruments: Off-balance sheet instruments consist of commitments to extend
credit, credit card arrangements, standby letters of credit and derivative contracts. The contract or
notional amounts of Humboldt’s financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk are disclosed in
Note 19. Estimating the fair value of commitments to extend credit is not considered practicable due to

- the immateriality of the amounts of fees collected, which are used as a basis for calculating the fair value,
on such instruments. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is based on the discounted net present
value of the swap using third party dealer quotes.

Note 23 — Operating Segments

Reportable operating segments are generally defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete
financial information is available, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the organization’s decision
makers and whose revenue from external customers is 10 percent or more of total revenue. Humboldt has two
reportable segments under this definition, commercial banking and merchant bankcard services. The
commercial banking segment provides traditional banking services such as checking, savings, time certificates
of deposit, loans, and lease financings. The merchant bankcard segment processes the settlement of credit and
debit card sales for merchants and issues and maintains credit card accounts for its customers. The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
Humboldt evaluates performance based on profit or loss from operations before income taxes. Humboldt’s
reportable segments are strategic business units that provide different services that are carried out by separate
departments. Included in the commercial banking segment are all other operations of Humboldt, excluding
discontinued operations. ‘

The following table includes segment profit, including certain revenues and expenses, and segment assets
as of and for the year ended:

Merchant
Commercial Bankcard
Banking Services Total

(dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2000:

Interest INCOME . . .. .. .ttt e e e e 59,069 447 - 59,516
Interest EXpensSe . ..ottt e 24,508 374 24,882
Interest income/ (expense) allocation .......................... (1,543) 1,543 —
Provision for loan and lease losses . ....... .. ..., 2,378 157 2,535
NOR-IRTErEst INCOME . .« o v vt ettt e 6,682 16,182 22,864
NON-INLErest EXPEIMSE . . ot v ettt e ii e e 29,245 12,238 41,483
Segment profit, before taxes ....... ... ... ... i i 8,902 4,578 13,480
SEEMENT @SSEIS . ..\ttt et et e $791,300 $ 61,600 $ 852,900
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Merchant
Commercial Bankcard
Banking Services Total

(doliars in thousands)

Deqember 31, 2001:

Interest income . ................ e e A 65,780 385 66,165
" Interest €Xpense . ... e 28,124 217 28,341
Interest income/ (expense) allocation .......................... (1,611) 1,611 —
Provision for loan and léase losses . ............... [P 2,836 67 2,903
NOD-INtETest INCOME . .« . v vttt et e e et e 9,166 20,561 29,727
NON-INterest EXPENSE . . .\ttt e et et 35,625 18,249 53,874
Segment profit, before taxes ......... .. ... i 6,750 4,024 10,774
Segment aSSetS . ...\ttt $856,466  $102,451 $ 958,917
December 31, 2002:
Interest income . ...... ... ... oo e 63,942 403 64,345
INEETESt EXPENSE . vt e vt et et et e e 17,413 224 17,637
Interest income/ (expense) allocation .......................... (1,155) 1,155 —
Provision for loan and lease losses . ...... ... ... .. . .. 3,169 152 3,321
Non-interest iMCOME . .. .. v vttt ettt ee e SR 9,098 17,049 26,147
NODN-INIETEST EXPEMSE © o vt e vt ettt ettt 40,406 12,152 52,558
Segment profit, before taxes ................... e 10,897 6,079 16,976

Segment aSSets .. ... R $948.331  § 83,219  $1,031,550
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Note 24 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following table presents the summary results for the stated eight quarters:

For the quarter ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2001 2001 2001 2001 Four Qtrs
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest income . ......... ... $16,763  § 16,577 $16,492 $16,333 $ 66,165
Interest eXPense . .............c........ 7,758 7,560 7,059 5,964 28,341
Net interest income . .................. 9,005 9,017 9,43‘3 10,369 37,824
Provision for loan losses ............... 794 583 509 1,017 2,903
Otherincome .. ...................... 7,039 7,287 7,431 7,970 29,727
Other expenses. . .........cooevevia.. 14,945 12,355 12,117 14,457 53,874
Income before taxes .................. 305 3,366 4,238 2,865 10,774
Income taxes ......... oo, 217 . 1,047 1,454 1,071 3,789
Net income from continuing operations . . 88 2,319 2,784 1,794 6,985
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of tax................ (1,062) (13,532) — 600 (13,994)
Net INCOME oo et $ (974) $(11,213) § 2,784 $ 2,394 $ (7.009)
Earnings (loss) per share — basic:

Continuing Operations .............. $ 00t $ 0.19 $ 022 $ 0.14

Discontinued Operations............. {0.09) (1.09) 0.00 0.05

Net income (loss) .................. $ (0.08) $ (0.90) $ 022 $ 0.19
Earnings (loss) per share — diluted:

Continuing Operations .............. $ 001 § 0.8 § 021 $ 0.14

Discontinued Operations.. .. .......... (0.09) (1.08) 0.00 0.04

Net income (10sS) ..., $ (0.08) $ (0.90) $§ 0.21 $ 018
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Interest income . .......................
Interest expense........................

Net interest income ....................
Provision for loan losses .................
Otherincome..............covvvenrn. ..
Other expenses ...,

Income before taxes . ...................
Income taxes ............. ... ... ......

Net income from continuing operations . . ..

Income (loss) from discontinued operations,

netof tax ..... ... ..

Net income (loss)

Earnings (loss) per share — basic:
Continuing Operations ................
Discontinued Operations ..............

Net income (loss)

Earnings (loss) per share — diluted:
Continuing Operations ................
Discontinued Operations

Net income (loss)

Note 25 — Subsequent Events

For the quarter ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2002 2002 2002 2002 Four Qtrs
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
$15,407 $15,802 $16,404 $16,732 $64,345
4,625 4,428 4,456 4,128 17,637
10,782 11,374 11,948 12,604 46,708
446 642 1,103 1,130 3,321
6,698 7,365 6,872 5,212 26,147
13,400 13,679 13,032 12,447 52,558
3,634 4,418 4,685 4,239 16,976
1,096 1,281 1,108 952 4,437
2,538 3,137 3,577 3,287 12,539
— (276) — — (276)
$ 2,538 $ 2,861 $ 3,577 $ 3,287 $12,263
$ 020 § 0.25 $ 029 $ 0.26
— (0.02) — —
§ 020 § 023 $ 0.29 $ 026
$ 020 § 0.24 $ 0.27 $ 0.25
— (0.02) — —
$ 020 § 022 $ 027 $ 0.25

On March 13, 2003, the Bank completed the sale of its proprietary merchant bankcard operations to an
affiliate of First National Bank Holding Company (“FNB”) for $32 million in cash. Humboldt expects to
recognize an after-tax gain of approximately $18 million in connection with this sale during the first quarter of
2003. Under the terms of the agreement, FNB has entered into a five-year lease for approximately 18,000
square feet of office space in a building owned by the Bank. In addition, the Bank will continue to provide
FNB with sponsorship to VISA and Mastercard for a period of up to six months after closing, with FINB
providing full indemnification for any losses incurred. At the point FNB no longer requires sponsorship by the

Bank, approximately $12 million of deposits associated with merchant loss reserves will be transferred to a

financial institution selected by FNB.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Effective September 4, 2001, Richardson & Company’s appointment as }principayl accountant was
terminated and KPMG LLP was engaged as principal accountants. The decision to change accountants was
approved by the audit committee and the full board of directors of Humboldt. ‘

During Humboldt’s fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the subsequent interim period
preceding the dismissal through September 4, 2001, there were no disagreements with Richardson & Co. on
any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or
procedures, which disagreements if not resolved to Richardson & Company’s satisfaction would have caused it
to make a reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in connection with its reports. Further, none of
the “reportable events” described under Item 304(a) (1) (v} of Regulation S-K occurred within Humboldt’s
two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim period through September 4, 2001. "

The audit report of Richardson & Company on the consolidated financial statements of Humboldt and
subsidiaries as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, did not contain any adverse
opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or
accounting principles.

During Humboldt’s the fiscal years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000, and the subsequent interim
period through September 4, 2001, Humboldt did not consult with KPMG LLP regarding any of the matter or
events set forth in Item 304(a) (2) (i) and (ii)} or Regulation S-K.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

Humboldt intends to file a definitive proxy statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the
“Proxy Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of December 31, 2002.
Information regarding directors of Humboldt Bancorp will appear under the caption “Election of Directors” in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding compliance with
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and executive officers will appear under
the captions “Executive Compensation” — Section 16(a) Principal Shareholders and Share Ownership of
Management and Directors in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11 Executive Compensation.
Information regarding executive compensation will appear under the captions “Compensation of
Directors™, “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and Humboldt’s
various equity compensation plans will appear under the caption “Principal Shareholders and Share
Ownership of Management and Directors” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions will appear under the caption
“Certain Transactions” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures.

Within the 90 days prior to the date of this Form 10-K, Humboldt carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of Humboldt’s management, including Humboldt’s President and Chief
Executive Officer along with Humboldt’s Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of Humboldt’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14. Based
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upon that evaluation, Humboldt’s President and Chief Executive Officer along with Humboldt’s Chief
Financial Officer concluded that Humboldt’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting
them to material information relating to Humboldt (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be
included in this Form 10-K.

~ There have been no significant changes in Humboldt’s internal controls or other factors, which could
significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date that Humboldt carried out its evaluation.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a)l. Financial Statements
The following documents are located in Part 8 of this report:

Report of Independent Auditors

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for years ended December 31, 2000, 2001,
and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedules

. All financial statement schedules are omitted, as the required information is not applicable or included in
the notes to the financial statements.

3. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(b) A Report on Form 8-K was filed on October 8, 2002, disclosing the termination of a definitive
agreement between Humboldt and iPayment Holding and receipt by Humbeldt of a non-refundable $1 million
termination fee. A copy of the press release announcing the termination was included as an exhibit to the
Form 8-K.

(c) Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Humboldt Bancorp (Incorporated by reference
to the Company’s Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, previously filed with
the Commission)

"3..2 Bylaws of Humboldt Bancorp {Incorporated: by reference to the Company’s Form 10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, previously filed with the Commission)

"33 "Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation for Humboldt Bancorp filed June 10, 2002,
3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws dated May 16, 2002.

10.1  Amended Employment Agreement with Theodore S. Mason (Incorporated by reference to the
' Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, and previously filed with the

Commission)

10.2  Director Fee Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1998, and previously filed with the Commission)

10.2A Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries Director Fee Plan (Second Amendment and Restatement)

10.3 Amended Humboldt Bancorp Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, and previously filed with the
Commission)
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10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

Salary Continuation Agreement with Theodore S. Mason (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, and previously filed with the
Commission)

Director-Shareholder’s Agreement in Global Bancorp and Humboldt Bank Merger (Previously
filed on November 12, 1999, with the Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File No. 333-90925))

Affiliate’s Agreement with Global Bancorp (Previously filed on November 12, 1999, with the
Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File No. 333-90925)) ~

Trust Indenture in connection with certificates of interest in a promissory note for the Global
Bancorp merger (Previously filed on November 12, 1999, with the Company s filing on Form S-4
(File No. 333-90925))

Deferred Compensation Agreement with Theodore S. Mason (Previously filed on November 12,
1999, with the Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File No. 333-90925))

Plan of Reorganization with Silverado Merger Co. (Previously filed on November 12, 1999 with
the Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File No. 333-90925))

Global Bancorp Loan Purchase Agreement (Previously filed on Feb'ruary'7, 2000, with the
Company’s pre-cffective amendment no. 1 to Form S-4 (File No. 333-90923))

Affiliate’s Agreement signed by Tehama Bancorp affiliates in connection with the Tehama Bancorp
Merger (Previously filed on November 14, 2000, with the Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-49866))

Humboldt Bancorp Stock Option Agreement to purchase Tehama Bancorp common stock
{Previously filed on November 14, 2000, with the Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-49866))

Tehama Bancorp Stock Option Agreement to purchase Humboldt Bancorp common stock
(Previously filed on November 14, 2000, with the Company’s filing on Form S-4 (File
No. 333-49866) )

Humboldt Bancorp Indenture — Junior subordinated debt securities (Filed on November 14, 2000,
with the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000)

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust for junior subordinated debt securities (Filed on
November 14, 2000, with the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000)

2001 Humboldt Bancorp and Subsidiaries Equity Incentive Plan {Previously filed with the
Company’s proxy statement dated April 13, 2001 filed with the Commission on April 14, 2001)

Change in control severance agreement dated April 12, 2002 by and between Humboldt Bancorp
and Patrick J. Rusnak. (Incorporated by reference to the Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2002 filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002)

Employment agreement dated April 14, 2002 by and between Humboldt Bancorp and Robert M.
Daugherty (Incorporated by reference to the Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2002 filed with the SEC on May 135, 2002)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Humboldt Bancorp and Robert M.
Daugherty (Incorporated by reference to the Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2002 filed with the SEC on May 135, 2002).

Employment Agreement dated June 24, 2002 between Humboldt Bancorp and Patrick J. Rusnak
{Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002 filed with- the SEC on August 19, 2002).

Employment Agreement dated June 24, 2002 between Humboldt Bancorp and Mark P. Wardlow -
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002 filed with the SEC on August 19. 2002).

Employment Agreement dated June 24, 2002 between Humboldt Bancorp and Mark A. Francis
{(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002 filed with the SEC on August 19, 2002).

Employment Agreement dated June 24, 2002 between Humboldt Bancorp and Gene F. M. Bell
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Humboldt’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002 filed with the SEC on August 19, 2002).
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10.29 Executive Salary Continuation Agreement for Mark A. Francis
21.1  Subsidiaries of Humboldt Bancorp are:

Subsidiary Name State of Incorporation
Humboldt Bank California

HB Capital Trust 1 Delaware
Humboldt Bancorp Statutory Trust 1 Connecticut
Humboldt Bancorp Statutory Trust 11 Connecticut
Bancorp Financial Services, Inc. California

Humboldt Bancorp owns either directly or indirectly 100% of the voting stock of each subsidiary listed
above.

23.1  Consent of KPMG LLP
23.2  Consent of Richardson and Company
23.3  Consent of Perry-Smith LLP
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,
on the 28th day of March, 2003.

HUMBOLDT BANCORP

/s/ ROBERT M. DAUGHERTY

Robert M. Daugherty
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  ROBERT M. DAUGHERTY President, Chief Executive Officer and  March 28, 2003
Robert M. Daugherty Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  PaTRrICK J. RUsNAK Executive Vice President, Chief March 28, 2003
Patrick J. Rusnak Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

/s/ RoNaLD F. ANGELL Director March 28, 2003
Ronald F. Angell '

/s/  RicHARD CLAUSSEN Director March 28, 2003

Richard Claussen

/s/  Gary L. Evans Director March 28, 2003
Gary L. Evans

/s/ Garry D. FisH Director March 28 2003
Garry D. Fish

/s/  GAry C. KaTz Director March 28, 2003
Gary C. Katz

/s/  JoHN W. KOEBERER | Director March 28, 2003

John W. Koeberer .

Director March 28, 2003

Theodore S. Mason

/s/ STEVEN R. MiLLs Director March 28, 2003
Steven R. Mills
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Signature

/s/ KEeELvIN H. Moss

Kelvin H. Moss

/s/  GARY L. NAPIER

Gary L. Napier

Tom Weborg

/s/  JoHN R. WINZLER

John R. Winzler
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March 28, 2003
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CERTIFICATION

I, Robert M Daugherty, certify that:

1.
2.

Date:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Humboldt Bancorp;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this

annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there

were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

March 28, 2003

/s/  ROBERT M. DAUGHERTY

Robert M. Daugherty ‘
President and Chief Executive Officer

90




CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick J. Rusnak, certify that:

L.

2.
~ omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances

Date:

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Humboldt Bancorp;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or

under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this

annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s -other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have: "

a) designed such disclosure. controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to"
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
. entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢). presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation.as of the Evaluation Date;

. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
.the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
. affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
 identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there

were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls-subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

March 28, 2003

/s/  PATRICK J. RUSNAK

Patrick J. Rusnak
Chief Financial Officer
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CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Humboldt Bancorp

2998 Douglas Blvd., Suite 330
Roseville, CA 95661

www. humboldtbancorp.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

All of Humboldt Bancorp’s periodic filings with the SEC
are available at www.humboldtbancorp.com. Click on
“Investor Information” and then “Documents.” You can
also register for automatic email notification of future
periodic filings, which are posted to the website within
24 hours of filing.

Investors and analysts seeking information about
Humboldt Bancorp should contact:

Patrick J. Rusnak
Chief Financial Officer

Humboldt Bancorp

2998 Douglas Blvd., Suite 330
Roseville, CA 95661

phone: 916 783 2812
prusnak@humboldtbancorp.com

STOCK LISTING

Humboldt Bancorp common stock is listed on
the NASDAQ National Market System under the
symbol “"HBEK".

MARKET MAKERS

The following investment brokerage companies
make a market in HBEK:

D.A. Davidson & Co.

FTN Financial Securities Corp.
Goldman, Sachs & Co.

Hill, Thompson, Magid Co.
Hoefer & Arnett, Inc.

Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc.
Knight Securities, LP

Morgan Stanley & Co.

RBC Capital Markets

Sandler O'Neill & Partners, LP

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Illinois Stock Transfer Company

209 West Jackson Boulevard, Suite 903
Chicago, IL 62606

phone: 312 427 2953

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

KPMG LLP
400 Capitol Mall
Sacramento, CA 95814







